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About Report

The above statements containing projections regarding future events are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results ultimately 
inconsistent with the stated. Most of the above factors are beyond the Company's control or forecast. Therefore, in view of the above, the Company is not to place undue 
reliance on any statements regarding future events that are listed in the Report. The Company assumes no obligation to publicly revise these projections - neither to reflect 
events or circumstances that have occurred after the Report publication, nor for the purpose of unanticipated events - except where it is required by applicable law.

The Report is presented by Rostelecom PJSC (Rostelecom,
the Company) and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as
the "Group", in accordance with section 9 “Subsidiaries” of
the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (hereinafter – the IFRS) for the year ended on
31 December 2015.

COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS
This annual report (hereinafter - the Report) is prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Federal Law 
№ 208-FZ of 26 December 1995 "On Joint Stock Companies", 
the Regulation on Disclosures by Issuers of Securities approved 
by the Bank of Russia on 30 December 2014, № 454-P, 
the Resolution of the Government of the Russian Federation 
№ 1214 of 31 December 2010, and the recommendations 
of the Corporate Governance Code, approved on 21 March 2014 
by the Board of Directors of the Bank of Russia.

The Report provides consolidated financial (accounting)
information in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (hereinafter - the IFRS), except where
expressly stated that the financial (accounting) information is
presented in accordance with other accounting standards. The
consolidated financial information is presented by Rostelecom
and its subsidiaries in accordance with the principles of
consolidation of financial statements, as described in section 
4 "Fundamentals of Accounting Policy" of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
the IFRS for the year ended on 31 December 2015. 
To ensure comparability and consistency of disclosures here
in the operational and other non-financial indicators are also
presented for Rostelecom and its subsidiaries for which the
Company’s consolidated financial statements are made, unless
otherwise specified.

Certain statements contained in the Report are "the statements
containing projections regarding future events" in the meaning of the
US federal securities laws, and, consequently, these statements are
subject to the provisions of these laws, which provide for exemption
from liability for good faith action. Such statements containing
projections regarding future events include the following information
(but not limited to it):
 • estimates of future operating and financial performance of the Company, as 

well as forecasts of factors affecting the current value of future cashflows;
 • the Company’s plans to participate in the authorized capitals of other 

organizations;
 • the Company's plans for the network construction and modernization, as well as 

planned investments;
 • growth in demand for the Company’s services and the Company's plans for the 

development of existing and new services and pricing;
 • plans to improve the corporate governance practices of the Company;
 • future Company's position in the telecommunications market and forecasts for 

the market segments in which the Company operates;
 • economic outlook and industry trends;
 • possible regulatory changes and assessment of impact of certain regulations on 

the Company's activities;
 • other Company's plans and forecasts regarding the events that have not
 • taken place yet. 

These risks, uncertainties and other factors include the following:
 • risks related to changes in political, economic and social conditions in Russia as 

well as global economic conditions; 
 • risks relating to the Russian legislation, legal regulation and taxation, 

including laws, regulations, decrees and resolutions governing the Russian 
telecommunications industry, activities related to the issuance and circulation 
of securities, and foreign exchange controls relating to Russian companies, not 
excluding the official interpretation of such regulations by the regulatory bodies;

 • risks related to the Company’ activities, including achievement of the projected 
results, levels of profitability and growth; ability to create and meet demand 
for the Company's services, including their promotion; the Company's ability to 
remain competitive in the Russian liberalized telecommunications market; 

 • technological risks related to the operation and development of the 
communications infrastructure, technological innovations as well as the 
convergence of technologies; 

 • other risks and uncertainties.

A more detailed review of these factors is contained in the Company's publicly 
available documents.
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Key Figures 2015 Key Events

It adopted a strategy for the development of new 
segments:

• launch of Interactive TV 2.0;
• launch on the market of its own product to

provide integrated geoinformational services -
"Geodata Information System" solutions.

It was resolved to establish a dedicated SPV to manage 
the Company’s real estate. The SPV will carry out the
released property monetization strategy development 
and implementation, managing, developing and selling
the property along with the interested investors. 
Rostelecom will transfer to the SPV the real estate 
for sale and rent, as well as redevelopment and 
repositioning.
 

RUB297.4 bln

8.6mln

RUB100.8 bln

11.6mln

RUB22.0 bln

30.7mln

Revenues

Pay TV
subscribers

FCF

Households 
connected by fibre 

OIBDA

Broadband
subscribers

1 3

2

Resolutions of the Board of Directors

• Rostelecom has acquired control over IQMen IBS - 
the Russian Big Data developer.

• Rostelecom has acquired control over SafeData group 
- the largest player in the provision of data centres, 
traffic exchange and content services.

• In 2015, Rostelecom increased its stake in the joint 
venture with VGTRK (Digital Television), created for 
the media business development, up to 41 %.

The Company continued to strengthen its market
positions in the major markets:

• B2C broadband market share grew by 1.1 p. p. up to 
37.3 %, B2B broadband market share grew by 4.0 p. 
p. to 34.8 %, Pay TV market share grew by 4.4 p. p. 
to 27.6 %. 

• The joint venture with Tele2 Russia entered the market 
in the Moscow region. Tele2 Russia has built a network 
in Moscow region in an unprecedented short period 
of time - in just one year, commissioning over 100 
base stations per week. Tele2 Russia will continue 
to develop the network - to increase coverage and 
capacity.

Market Development

Transactions

In December 2015, the Board of Directors
approved a new, progressive dividend policy
that allows the shareholders to receive no less
than 75 % of the free cash flow, but not less than
RUB 45 bln for three years cumulatively. 
The company has passed through the capital
expenditure peak due to major works on the
capital-intensive projects of the network
infrastructure modernization, related to the
transfer to the optics of the "last mile" and
increased transport network capacity.

From 2016 onwards, it is expected to decrease
the size of investments, which will create the
conditions for the release of funds and an
increase in free cash flow for dividends.

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT
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Market share in terms of revenue in the Integrated Communications 1

Leadership in Integrated 
Communications

Leader in the majority of digital and 
telecom segments

The largest fixed network in Russia 
with a unique coverage in terms of 
the scale

broadband subscribers, more than
50 % of which are connected by fibre

Access to markets with high growth potential, 
such as cloud services, TV, data centres, geo-
data and industrial Internet of Things

Presence in the Russian mobile communica-
tions market through a joint venture with 
Tele2 Russia (mobile operator № 4 in Russia)

№1

11.6 
mln

B2C broadband B2B broadband

Pay TV IPTV

Data centres

Mobile services

Rostelecom

Rostelecom

Rostelecom

Rostelecom

RostelecomClosest 
competitor2

Closest 
competitor5

Closest 
competitor6

Closest 
competitor3

Player №13

Closest 
competitor4

Tele2 Russia

37.3 %

+1.1 p.p.

+4.4 p.p.

+4.0 p.p.

+6.2 p.p.

27.6 %

34.8 %

67.5 %

14.3 %

31.0 %

9.3 %

17.9 %

10.0 %

18.6 %

13.7 %

15.0 %

№ 1

№ 1

№ 2

№ 2

№ 2

№ 2

№ 2

№ 4

№ 1

№ 1

№ 1

№ 1

1 Source: TMT-Consulting for the full 2015
2 Er-Telecom, 3 MTS, 4 DataLine, 5 Tricolor, 6 VimpelCom

Investment Highlights

Exposure to attractive markets:
№ 1 in the key markets, CAGR1

of new markets - 26 %.

Fundamentals to capture market 
opportunities:
31 mln households connected by 
fibre.

Effect on operating expenses cumulative:
-RUB 19 bln by 2019.

Incentivised management:
200 managers participate in the 
option program.

Progressive dividend policy:
≥75 % of free cash flow (FCF), but not
less than RUB 45 bln in 2016-2018.
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RUSSIA

MONGOLIA

UK

GERMANY
POLAND

CZECH 
REPUBLIC

BELARUS

LATVIA

ESTONIA

SWEDEN

FINLAND

LITHUANIA

UKRAINE

HUNGARYAUSTRIA

ARMENIA

KAZAKHSTAN

UZBEKISTAN
KYRGYZSTAN

IRAN
AFGHANISTAN

INDIA

CHINA
JAPAN

OMAN

TAJIKISTAN
TURKMENISTAN

IRAQ

GEORGIA

}
}

~70
168

~70

Largest Fixed Network
Infrastructure in Russia Bridging the Digital Divide

5-level SLA
Power ≈12 Tb/s

≈1,5 Tb/s of international
uplinks

IP/MPLS31mln
households

connected to fibre

33mln
households will be
connected to fibre 
by the end of 2016

SOCIAL MISSION - AVAILABILITY OF INFRASTRUCTURE - MEETING THE 
USERS’ GROWING NEEDS IN COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES AND FACILITATING 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NATIONAL PROJECTS.

NATIONWIDE PROJECT TO PROVIDE
HIGH SPEED INTERNET ACCESS FOR
RURAL POPULATION...

...SPONSORED BY THE STATE...
(RUB bln, total for 2014-2024).

... WITH SIGNIFICANT UPSIDE POTENTIAL 
FOR ROSTELECOM

The contract includes the construction of fibre-optic communication 
lines, organization of collective internet access points and their 
technical maintenance. The company is able to provide personalized 
access to the Internet and additional services on a commercial basis.

• Upselling households for 
personal BB access and 
other services   
(on a commercial basis)

• Opportunity to accelerate the 
upgrade of existing networks 
from copper to fibre and expand 
its footprint through covering 
nearby towns

• Accelerated modernization of 
the copper network with fibre, 
reducing the operating costs for 
the rural network service

Construction of 200 thou. km of optical 
networks coverage of 13,800 settlements

Cable station

Point of Presence

Access node

Europe – Asia - 1 

Europe – Asia - 2

Europe – Asia - 3

Europe – Asia - 4

Russia - Europe

Europe - Iran 

Backbone network

Estimated
effect

Revenues

Revenues

Coverage

Operational
efficiency

Note: Operating income under the contract is recognized in
the statements under the line "Other operating income".

CAPEX + OPEX Operating income

CAPEX

OPEX

Financed by the state

Nation Wide Scale

Rostelecom receives ownership of the
infrastructure and is the only network

operator

Upside potential
for Rostelecom

Positive NPV,
IRR > WACC

Broadband
50 Mb/s

FOL

98
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MOSCOW – NOVOROSSIYSK

MOSCOW – ST. PETERSBURG

MOSCOW – KHABAROVSK

TRANSPORT COMMUNICATION 
NETWORK
The main components of the backbone network 
are powerful fiber-optic communication lines 
connecting Moscow and Novorossiysk, Moscow 
and St. Petersburg, and Moscow and Khabarovsk.

Communication links connecting large settlements 
of a region with access to the backbone network 
make the basis of a transport regional network. 

In order to lease out Nx64 Kbps digital circuits 
to customers and clients, the Company deployed 
networks of flexible access multiplexers.

With deployment of new digital communication links 
during the period from 2001 to the end of 2015 the 
Company put out of operation 207,037 kilometers 
of used-up and obsolete transmission lines, 
subscriber -and distribution networks.

SATELLITE COMMUNICATIONS
The united satellite communications network 
of Rostelecom is based on two technologies: SCPC 
and VSAT. Own and leased circuits are used. The leased 
circuits are purchased on a turnkey basis from OJSC 
‘RTComm.RU’. 

Company owned VSAT-networks are provisioned on 
the basis of leased capacity with the use of central 
VSAT-stations located in Siberia, Ural, Far East 
macroregional branches. Leased VSAT-networks 
(or individual channels) are purchased as a general 
redistributed pool resource from providers such as OJSC 
‘RTComm.RU’ and OJSC CB ‘Iskra’.

In order to ensure operation of satellite communications 
network Rostelecom engages FSUE Satellite 
Communications and Gazprom Space Systems JSC 
for provision of services to the Company aimed at 
leasing capacities for ‘Express’ and ‘Yamal’ satellites, 
respectively.

 LINES AND CIRCUITS OF OTHER OPERATORS 
USED BY THE COMPANY

Rostelecom attracts other telecom operators for delivering lines 
and circuits for use thereof, mainly for the purposes of providing 
protection and back-up for the Company’s existing technological 
network infrastructure and provision of services to end users 
in the event of shortage of Rostelecom’s own resources.

716
MOBILE NETWORKS 
IN 201 COUNTRIES

67 %
ROSTELECOM 

SHARE

50 %
ROSTELECOM 

SHARE500
THOUSAND KILOMETERS 

IN LENGTH 
SUBMARINE CABLES
As part of its program to expand and upgrade 
its international telecommunications capacity 
Rostelecom uses modern submarine cables 
to establish communication circuits between 
Russia and other countries. 

To provide access to these systems and lay 
direct high-quality international communication 
links to remote areas of the world, Rostelecom 
participates in construction of a number of 
international cable systems and acquires 
capacity in them. 

As of the end of 2015 Rostelecom held interest 
or indefeasible right of use in 11 cable systems, 
including numerous global cable systems 
projects, such as  "Fiber Line Around the Globe" 
(a fiber-optic communication link around the 
globe; Great Britain – Middle East – Japan; 
Trans-Pacific Cable System (China-USA), 
the system South-East Asia – Middle East – 
Western Europe and Trans-Atlantic system.

INTERNATIONAL FOCL

100% 
BACK-UP OF EQUIPMENT 
AND COMMUNICATIONS 
LINKS

OTN –
OPTICAL 
TRANSPORT 
NETWORK

5SATELLITE COMMUNICA-
TIONS GROUND STATIONS

 COOPERATION WITH MOBILE  
NETWORK OPERATORS 

Cooperation of Rostelecom with Russian operators 
of ground-based mobile networks aims to extend 
the range of high-quality network services, including 
national and international roaming. The Company 
ensures international roaming routing for 716 mobile 
networks in 201 countries of the world.

INTERNATIONAL COMMUNICATION LINKS

The Company has laid international fiber-optic 
communication links providing access to Finland, 
Sweden, Mongolia, Japan, China, Estonia, Latvia, 
Lithuania, Kazakhstan, Ukraine, Georgia, and Belarus. 
International points of presence in Stockholm, Frankfurt, 
Amsterdam, and London have been made. The Company 
also offers high-speed transit services from Europe 
to Asia via the territory of the Russian Federation.

STOCKHOLM
FRANKFURT 

AMSTERDAM
LONDON

SCPC 

VSAT

COMMUNICATION 
NETWORKS
ROSTELECOM PROVIDES INTERNATIONAL AND LONG-DISTANCE COMMUNICATION 
SERVICES USING CABLE RADIORELAY TRANSMISSION LINES AND SATELLITE LINKS. 
THE BACKBONE TRANSPORT NETWORK RESOURCES ENSURE TRANSMISISON OF ANY 
TYPE OF INFORMATION. THE DIGITAL NETWORK BASED ON DENSE WAVELENGTH 
DIVISION MULTIPLEXING COVER VIRTUALLY THE ENTIRE TERRITORY  
OF THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION.

С-               

Federal State Unitary 
Enterprise (FSUE) 
"Russian Satellite 
Communications 
Company" –  
'Express'  
Satellite 

Gazprom Space 
Systems JSC –  
'Yamal' Satellite"

Ku- 

BACKBONE NETWORK OF

BACK TO CONTENT
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RELIABILITY SUPPORT
geographic diversity of pathways
Interconnection with networks of several foreign 
operators on every international route

100% protected equipment and communication links

application of OTN technologies

INTERNATIONAL 
SEGMENT

Including communication 
nodes located in 
Stockholm, Frankfurt 
and Hong Kong.

BACKBONE DATA 
NETWORK

Has a transmission capacity 
of over 12.3 Tbps.

REGIONAL DATA 
NETWORKS

THE INTERNATIONAL 
TELEPHONE NETWORK
Is based on 10 international Transit Nodes 
(ITN). The total installed capacity of the network 
amounts to 212.1 thousand circuits where 
the digitalization level is 100%..

THE LONG-DISTANCE  
TELEPHONE NETWORK 
Is based on 16 Transit Long-Distance Nodes 
(TLDN) and 6 combined communication nodes 
TRANSIT AREA NODES (TAN) /TLDN. The total 
installed capacity of the long-distance telephone 
network is 639.3 thousand circuits, and the 
digitalization level amounts to 100%.

DATA NETWORK

The IP/MPLS data 
network ensures provision 
of broadband Internet 
services, digital IPTV and 
TV content management, 
connection and Internet 
traffic transmission, virtual 
private network (VPN) 
including L2 VPN, L3 VPN, 
VPLS, inter-carrier VPN 
and Data-Center Services, 
and includes the following 
components.

VOICE INFOCOMMUNICATION 
NETWORK
A voice infocommunication network ensures 
provision of telephone and traffic transmission 
services at the local, intra-zone, national, and 
international levels; signaling traffic transmission; 
audio and video conferencing; Integrated 
Services Digital Network (ISDN) and intelligent 
communication network (ICN) services, virtual PBX 
services, and includes the following segments.

THE INTRA-ZONE TELEPHONE NETWORK 
functions on the basis of 138 transit area 
nodes (TAN). The total installed capacity of that 
network includes 1,396.9 thousand circuits. 
The digitalization level is 100%.

THE LOCAL TELEPHONE NETWORK
functions on the basis of 39,392 automatic 
telephone exchanges. The total installed capacity 
of the local network includes 33,952.4 thousand 
subscriber lines. The digitalization level is 84%.
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Dear Shareholders,

2015 was a year that saw Rostelecom continue to transform its business model by developing its digital 
services, increase its investment attractiveness and enhance its corporate governance system.

Decisions made by the Board of Directors, enabled Management to pursue new investments in the fast 
growing data services market, in cloud-computing platforms and in other innovative products to gradually 
transform what has traditionally been a telecommunications operator into a complete digital services 
provider. This approach not only reflects the Company’s ethos, and indeed its 134-year position as a 
technological leader in the domestic communications sphere, it also simultaneously opens up further 
growth opportunities and potential for increased capitalization.

It is also worth noting that Rostelecom delivered on its main operating goals in 2015. The Company’s 
digital segment continues to generate more revenue, reflecting the team’s achievements in terms of 
growing its internet and Pay TV offering, and connecting almost 31 million Russian households with our 
fibre optic network by the end of 2015.

The Company plans to further increase its share of digital services, and our objective for the segment is 
that it accounts for 60 % of the Company’s total revenue by 2020, and is in a position to provide average 
annual revenue growth of between 1-2 % and growth OIBDA growth of 3 %.

The Board of Directors' key priorities now center on laying down the foundations that will secure the 
Company’s sustainable development in the future, particularly with regards to increasing the effectiveness 
of investments we make in the business, optimising financial and operational activities, improving results 
and increasing transparency when it comes to the Company’s internal mechanisms and control systems. 
Furthermore, as part of our drive to improve Rostelecom’s equity story, the Board of Directors has 
approved a new dividend policy, which is intended to provide a greater level of visibility and transparency 
to shareholders. The Board has also agreed to implement a program that will enable the corporate real 
estate portfolio to deliver greater returns.

Rostelecom benefits significantly from having a Board of Directors that possesses significant expertise and 
experience. The Board takes its responsibilities very seriously, and remains dedicated to protecting the
best interests of shareholders and corporate stakeholders. We are currently guiding Management through 
a critical phase whereby the Company is establishing best practice corporate governance policies, which 
in addition to delivering on our sustainability and governance objectives, will also contribute substantially 
to Rostelecom’s business development plans and result in tangible growth in asset values. 

Yours Sincerely,
Sergei Ivanov,
Chairman of the Board

1716

Letter from the Chairman



Company's Profile Strategic Report Result Overview
Financial 

Performance Overview Corporate Governance
For Shareholders 

and InvestorsAnnual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT
1918

Letter from the President 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS,

2015 was a year of momentous transformation for Rostelecom. By implementing its principle strategies, 
the Company is realizing its ambitious new goal of transforming itself into a digital services and platforms 
provider.

CONSOLIDATING MARKET POSITIONS

The Company continued to steadily grow its traditional digital segments in 2015, with its broadband revenue 
increasing by 6 %, and the PayTV revenue surging by 27 %. We are also close to completing the transition of 
our "last-mile" infrastructure to fibre optic access networks, which currently passes more than 30 mln
households.

Rostelecom achieved significant growth in all major market segments over the past 12 months, with 
our PayTV market share expanding by 4.4 percentage points. Our enhanced content offerings, extended 
subscriber base and increased demand for VoD services contributed to these achievements. Rostelecom also 
secured a leading position in the data centre service market through its acquisition of SafeData.

Rostelecom continues to assist the Russian government as a strong and dependable partner involved 
in the implementation of large-scale nationwide projects, such as efforts to bridge the digital divide, the 
development of a single common portal of public and municipal services (the e-government), as well as 
providing video surveillance during the Unified State Exam and at municipal elections.

27.6%37.3% 34.8%7.5mln
Pay TV 

market share 
(+4.4 p.p.)

BB (B2C) 
market share 

(+1.1 p.p.)

BB (B2B) 
market share

(+4.0 p.p.)

unique users 
of the single 

common portal
 of public services

31mln
HH passed 
by fibre out 
of 33 mln 
under the 
program
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EMBRACING THE DIGITAL FUTURE

Looking into the future, it is clear that Internet-based technologies have significantly enhanced the access 
people have to information and communication tools, and the internet is set to continue to shape our lives 
from influencing the way families live, to the way business models are constructed and the way industrial 
processes are followed. To enable our customers to make use of emerging technologies faster and more 
efficiently, the Company’s Board of Directors passed a decision to embark on the development of a new 
generation of digital services and platforms, which include: the nationwide DC grid, cloud services, OTT-
services, industrial internet of things and geodata services. Initial steps were already taken in 2015, 
which includes the launch of a large scale project to build an energy efficient DC in association with 
Rosenergoatom, and the introduction of the Interactive TV 2.0 OTT product, which provides access to a 
wide variety of Rostelecom content offerings anywhere and from any device, and the development of our 
own geo-information service platform.
Rostelecom features prominently among the leaders of Russia’s national Industrial Internet Consortium to 
coordinate R&D activities within the emerging new technological mode.

FOSTERING A MOTIVATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

The Company has a clear vision that its current and future prosperity relies on the motivation, inclusion 
and realization of the creative potential of its employees. We are now implementing a comprehensive 
organizational transformation programme aimed at making Rostelecom one of the most desirable 
Russian employers.

In 2015, we implemented the Rostelecom Production Framework to empower our employees in different 
roles and on various management levels to be involved in improving operation performance and 
accelerating the Company growth. 
Furthermore, a long-term key employee motivation programme using the Company’s shares was 
launched 2 years ago and serves as an essential means of achieving cohesion between the management 
team’s interests and our ultimate objective of maximizing shareholder returns.

CREATING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Last year Rostelecom significantly improved its dividend policy, while providing greater transparency 
and appeal to investors. We hope our competitive strengths in our traditional markets, our new product 
development plans and programmes for improving operational and investment efficiency will enable us to 
achieve sustainable revenue growth, OIBDA and free cash flow. 

REALIZING OUR PLANS FOR 2016 

There remains much to be accomplished in 2016. We need to strengthen the businesses that operate 
in new digital segments and we need to propel the business into a new level. We also need to launch 
new transformational network infrastructure technology. We remain confident that based on the 
support of our customers, partners and shareholders we will deliver on all of our targets.

Yours Sincerely, 
Sergey Kalugin 
Chief Executive Officer

of FCF for 
dividends1

75% 

200
employees 

became 
Company 

shareholders

RUB 8.5 bln
of cost savings 

over 2014-
2015 under 

the efficiency 
improvement 
programme

≥

1 But no less than RUB 45 bln in 2016-2018

3.9
thou. racks are 

deployed in data 
centres
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THE AIM OF THE LONG-TERM STRATEGY1 
IS TO IDENTIFY GROWTH PROSPECTS IN 
THE COMPANY’S TWO KEY BUSINESS
SEGMENTS: FIXED AND MOBILE 
COMMUNICATIONS.

2322

Strategy

TRANSITION 
FROM A  

TRADITIONAL 
TELECOM  
OPERATOR

through 
consolidation 

and new 
business 

development

FIXED  
COMMUNI
CATIONS  
SEGMENT MOBILE  

COMMUNICA
TIONS  

SEGMENT

TO AN  
INTEGRATED  

DIGITAL  
SERVICES  
PROVIDER

44

126

16
33

OTT video

TV services Telephony

Geodata

60

121

200

Expected market size (RUB bln) and share in revenue by 2020.

80 %

70 %

60 %

50 %

40 %

30 %

20 %

10 %

0 %
1 %

-10 %

-20 %

CAGR 
2015-2020, %

Share in Rostelecom’s 
Revenue in 2020, %

4 % 9 % 14 % 19 % 24 % 29 % 34 %

Industrial Internet 
of Things

Data Centres
Cloud

Services

Broadband

91

1 The Strategy for 2014-2018, approved by the Board of Directors in December 2013, is in place at Rostelecom (Minutes №23 of 16 December 2013). No changes in 
the Strategy for 2014-2018 were introduced over 2015. In December 2015, the Board reviewed the strategic opportunities available to the Company in new market 
segments. The key growth areas in the new services segment include data centres, cloud services, overthe-top (OTT) video, the Industrial Internet of Things and geodata.
available to the Company in new market segments.

MOBILE SEGMENT

As part of its Strategy, the Company decided to 
develop its mobile business through a Joint Venture 
with Tele2 Russia with a with an intention to create
a leading federal mobile operator.
The establishment of the JV with Tele2 Russia was 
approved by Rostelecom’s Board of Directors on
12 December 2013. Under the deal’s terms and 
conditions, Rostelecom contributed its mobile 
business to the JV, including SkyLink and LTE licenses, 
while Tele2 Russia contributed all its mobile assets. 
The JV’s strategic goal is to become the number three 
player in the Russian mobile communications market.

The Tele2 Russia growth drivers: entering the 
lucrative Moscow market in October 2015.

• 1.3 mln subscribers by the end of 2015
• 7,770 base stations by the end of 2015, 

of which 5,500 base stations are 3G and 
2,200 are LTE

• about 100 new base stations to be deployed 
weekly after the network is launched in 
Moscow and the Moscow region

• over 10,000 partner sales points to sell the 
operator’s SIMs

• over 450 Tele2 Russia single brand sales 
offices.

The demerger of the mobile business is expected 
to deliver the following results:

• The use of Tele2 Russia’s success and 
know-how is expected to speed up the 
launch of the mobile operator nationwide 
with significant cost saving achieved based on 
unified IT systems and operational standards, 
centralised management. The single brand was 
adopted in 2015.

Elimination of function duplication and 
organisational structure streamlining: 
• in 2015 the 33 operating companies were 

reorganised and ceased to exist as separate 
entities. The integration of Rostelecom’s 
mobile assets was completed ahead of 
schedule.

• Significant CAPEX savings in the mobile 
segment, in particular, owing to a reduction 
in capitalintensive investments required for 
the 3G/4G network roll-out: by the end of 
2015, 3G/4G services were offered in 61 of 
Russia’s regions, with the number of Tele2 
Russia’s base stations approaching that of 
competitors.

• More efficient deployment of Tele2 Russia’s 
mobile data networks in the regions owing to 
wider frequency bands: by the end of 2015, 
active Internet users accounted for 19.5 % 
of the Tele2 Russia subscriber base.

• A more robust financial position. The mobile 
segment’s debt was transferred to the JV: as 
of the end of 2015, Rostelecom enjoys a 
comfortable net debt/OIBDA ratio of 1.7х

• The platform’s distribution network was 
optimised by exploiting Rostelecom’s retail 
offices and Tele2 Russia’s single brand sales 
points: by the end of 2015, the number of 
Tele2 Russia sales points exceeded 100,000 
throughout the country, including sales 
points in Rostelecom sales offices.



Company's Profile Strategic Report Result Overview
Financial 

Performance Overview Corporate Governance
For Shareholders 

and InvestorsAnnual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT

PROMISING GROWTH AREAS

Data Centres: key services include data 
protection against unauthorised access, 
customer equipment colocation on DC sites, 

provision of servers for rent, 24/7 helpdesk and 
monitoring.
Market dynamic forecasts suggest that the market 
is still far from saturation, while growing demand 
for outsourcing and DC services opens excellent 
opportunities in this sector. Additionally, government 
funded programmes can facilitate growth in this 
area.

Cloud Services 
Infrastructure-as-a-Service (IaaS) meaning 
provision of virtual servers, data storage,

remote work positions. Software-as-a-Service (SaaS):
provision of access to applications residing in the 
cloud. Platform-as-a-Service (PaaS): provision of 
a platform offering to developers a software code 
execution environment and services to clients.
Growth in this area will enable customers to reduce 
software and infrastructure investment, and labour 
costs by outsourcing. Moreover, the use of cloud 
technology will significantly reduce service delivery 
time, supporting demand for the service.

OTT video 
Delivering video signal to various devices, 
such as PCs, Smart TVs, tablets, mobile 

phones/smartphones via the Internet without direct 
contact with the telecommunications operator.
Growth in this area would potentially more than 
double the Pay TV and Video-on-Demand customer 
base owing to outreach beyond the existing 
subscriber base.

Industrial Internet of Things3

Smart system implementation radically 
changes the business practices at 

industrial companies and is capable of achieving
significant efficiency improvements across the 
economy.
We are on the verge of a new industrial 
development boom, Russia needs to integrate 
new global economic models into industry 
practices embracing all the strategic interests, 
including import substitution requirements and 
industrial security assurance.

Geodata4

Geoformation resources can be used  to 
solve a wide range of applied problems 

using geodata in economics, construction industry, 
environment protection, area planning and the public 
sector.
There is also a significant potential for market share 
increase due to the growth in top priority industries, 
primarily in agriculture and forestry as well as 
natural resources industry.
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OUR VISION 2020

TECHNOLOGICAL 
LEADERSHIP 

IN IP NETWORKS

DIFFERENTIATED 
OFFERINGS

BEST-IN-CLASS 
CUSTOMER SERVICE 

ORGANIZATIONAL 
TRANSFORMATION

EFFICIENCY 
IMPROVEMENT

LONG-TERM DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME
The long-term programme covers all areas of the Company’ operations, including strengthening market 

position and innovative development as well as improving operational efficiency.

STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES
Key criteria for new market selection: market size of over 15 billion in 2020, average annual growth 
rate between 2015-2020 of at least 10%, market fragmentation: no clear leader and the existence 

of many small players and new markets. 

NEW 
BUSINESSES

INCREASE 
IN MARKET 

SHARE & ARPU (VAS)

SUSTAINABILITY 
OF EXISTING 

BUSINESS & EFFICIENCY 
IMPROVEMENT

PRODUCTION 
SYSTEM TRANSFORMATION

(management system, business processes, corporate culture)

RESOURCES
(people, network, technologies)

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

LONG-TERM 
DRIVERS

∙  New business opportunities: digital content,  
services & platforms
∙ Development of proprietary  
   expertise & acquisition of existing players

MEDIUM-TERM 
DRIVERS

∙  MVNO with Tele2 (convergence & bundling)
∙ “Smart home” & “Safe home”

∙ Data-centres & cloud solutions
∙ Geodata services

THE SOURCE OF FCF FOR 
TRANSFORMATION & 
GROWTH

∙  Operational Efficiency 
Improvement Program
∙  Optimisation of network 

maintenance in rural 
areas and small towns
∙  Accelerated 

monetisation of real 
estate

DATA 
CENTERS

CLOUD 
SERVICES

ОТТ  
VIDEO

INDUSTRIAL  
INTERNET 

GEO- 
DATA

PROMISING GROWTH AREAS

FIXED-LINE SEGMENT

1 In January 2015 the Board of Directors approved the Company’s Long-Term Development Programme for 2015-2019 (minutes of an absentee meeting of the Board 
of Directors No28 of 29 January 2015). There were no changes in the Company’s Long-Term Development Programme during 2015.
2 In October 2015 the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Blueprint for the Company’s strategic growth opportunities in new segments and key development 
lines of the Company.

3 On 1 September 2015 Rostelecom was the first large Russian company to become a member of Industrial Intrenet of Things Consortium (IIC), see http://www.
iiconsortium.org/. AT&T, Cisco, General Electric, IBM and Intel are the IIC founding members.
4 On 18 February 2016 Rostelecom started commercial service of a comprehensive infrastructure solution, the “Geodata Information System” (GIS) solutions, a set of 
tools supporting management decision making in various subject areas, on various scales and levels, ranging from municipal and regional authorities to federal level 
executive authorities.

Back to p. 37
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IMPROVING OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY

- OPEX reduction

Cost cutting remains an ambitious 
goal for the next few years to come. 
Cost savings will be enabled by 
network upgrades and relinquishing 
overlay networks, management 
centralisation, the elimination of 
excessive management levels, and
the reduction of real estate 
maintenance costs. The operational 
efficiency improvement programme 
should bring the Company’s 
performance closer to best practices 
in terms of cost gap indicator, to reach
20-25 % in 2018.
One of the key facets of the operational
efficiency programme is to increase 
staff productivity, and its particular 
aims is to optimize the performance 
of technical and administrative 
personnel. The target headcount by 
2020 should not exceed 110-130
thou. employees. This target is 
expected to be achieved by eliminating
excessive management layers, network
infrastructure transformation on 
to SDN/NFV, transition to digitised 
business processes, implementation 
of a balanced outsourcing framework
and enhancing personnel engagement.

2726

Strategic Priorities for the Development 
of Fixed Communications

TECHNOLOGICAL LEADERSHIP

- Creation of an up-to-date high-
speed network infrastructure 
based on fibre-optic technologies.

One of the Company’s key competitive 
advantages is its powerful, extensive
telecommunication network covering 
all regions in the Russian Federation. 
Today, the most up-to-date innovative
solutions are available on the 
telecommunications market, and 
there is constant transition to the 
next technological cycle, that is why 
it is crucial amid growing demand 
for high-quality and modern 
communication services, to maintain 
and increase the Company’s
technological advantage, which 
provides services to mlns of Russian 
households. As the trend for growing 
consumer traffic persists, primary 
due to higher video traffic and 
better picture quality, the availability 
of a state-of-the-art high-speed 
network is a recipe for success 
in the further development of a 
telecommunications operator.

BEST-IN-CLASS CUSTOMER 
CARE

– implementation of advanced 
customer services standards (SLA)

The enhancement of Customer 
services is a key target for the 
Company. The ability of easy to use 
and customerfriendly services, to 
solve customer problems and the 
availability of advice and information 
at any time and through various 
service channels (service offices, call 
centres, multimedia channels, self-
service functionality) are the top 
priorities in this area.
The Company continues to examine 
carefully the best available customer 
service practices, concerning service
delivery time, the response time of a 
helpdesk to customers’ phone calls, 
etc.

1 A cost gap between a company and its best-in-class peers 

Find more on the page 59

Find more on the page 79

Find more on the page 63

Find more on the page 81

Find more on the page 73

DIFFERENTIATED OFFERINGS

– The Creation and delivery of new 
digital services to the market

The Company possesses unique 
opportunities in the Russian market 
both in terms of infrastructure and 
expertise to develop and offer a 
range of communications services 
ensuring unrivalled customer value. 
Rostelecom can offer optimal balance 
between the cost and composition 
of a packaged offer consisting of 
telecommunications, Internet and 
digital TV services. This is not just 
about the technical performance 
of services like data speeds, but 
also about quality and relevance of 
the content offered and customer 
service. The scale of the Company’s 
operations enables it to design and 
offer to consumers unique and cost-
saving products in association with 
content rights owners.

ORGANIZATIONAL 
TRANSFORMATION

- streamlining the organizational 
chart and developing our customer 
oriented approach

Rostelecom is constantly in pursuit
of radical improvement in its business
processes, the streamlining of its 
management structure and the 
initiation of broader engagement 
of staff when it comes to achieving 
goals set by the Company. Particular
attention will be devoted to personnel
development and recruiting new highly
skilled employees. 
The main focus of personnel 
management is adopting an efficient 
internal corporate culture centreed 
on external and internal customers. 
Social policy issues remain essential 
for Rostelecom, and there are plans
to expand social guarantee packages
for Company employees: which include
improved intra-corporate rates 
and tariffs, housing programmes 
(about a thou. employees joined the 
programme in 2015). The Company 
also plans to introduce a new pension
programme in the near future.

THE COMPANY’S FIXED-LINE SEGMENT GROWTH CONTINUES ALONG 5 KEY 
STRATEGIC PILLARS
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Rostelecom has been appointed as the sole 
contractor under the nationwide project for 
Bridging the Digital Divide, aimed at providing 
Russia’s rural population with high-speed Internet 
access. Under this project, Rostelecom will install 
some 14 thou. access points across the country 
linked to the network with fibre-optic cable 
backhaul stretching to some 200 thou. km in total. 

High-speed Internet access is provided to those 
in small localities with a population of 250-500
people (appx. 4 mln people). People living in 
remote localities have access to an Internet 
connection (with 10 Mbps bandwidth) at the 
minimal rates: RUB 45 per month or RUB 1.5 
daily with free access to over 2 thou. Government 
websites. 

Rostelecom entered a 10-year contractual 
agreement with Federal Communications Agency 
of Russia (Rossvyaz). In line with the agreement 
signed, Rostelecom is expected to receive 
RUB 168 bln from Universal Service Fund 
managed by Rossvyaz.

The implementation of this project will make it 
possible for Rostelecom to have the following 
additional benefits:
• Upselling households for personal BB access 

and other services (on a commercial basis);
• Upselling households for personal BB access 

and other services (on a commercial basis);
• Opportunity to accelerate the upgrade of 

existing networks from copper to fibre, 
reducing the maintenance costs.

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAMME

The Company uses fibre-optic cable and materials 
to install access points manufactured solely by 
Russian companies. 80 % of subcontractors are 
small and medium-sized businesses.

Bridging the Digital Divide Project

ACHIEVEMENTS MADE IN 2015

Access Points
• 1,589 access points were put in to 

operation in 60 Russians regions;
• 172 access points were installed and 

currently under commissioning;
• Works were initiated for 764 access 

point to be commissioned in 2016.

Fiber links
• 22 thou. km of fibre-optic lines were 

commissioned in 60 Russian regions;
• Works were initiated to build 13 thou. 

km of fibre links to be commissioned  
in 2016.

Distribution of 
Internet access points 

by regions
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№ KPI Measurement 
unit

2014 actual 2015 
Conservative

2015 Actual Dif ference 
from 

conservative

2015 
baseline

Dif ference 
from baseline

Comment

1 TSR % -5.9 n/a -7 n/a n/a n/a

2015 was marked by high volatility and decreasing interest in emerging 
markets in general, therefore investors were inclined to increase exposure 
in instruments offering:

• higher dividend income;
• exposure in sectors most secured against depreciation (exporters, core 

financial institutions, utilities, etc.);
• solid liquidity.

Therefore, raw material exporting companies and core banks, dominate 
the MICEX list of best performing companies in terms of TSR.
Consumer and TMT sector companies posted the worst TSRs.

2 ROIC % 8.7 7.8 8.1 3.8 % 9.4 -13.8 % The KPI value at the year end was 8.1 %, which is better than under 
a conservative scenario.

3 Revenue2 RUB bln 299 299 297 -0.7 % 301 -1.3 %

In general, the Company achieved its market forecast in terms of revenue. 
The following factors among others prevented the Company from meeting 
the upper value of the range:

• the country’s macroeconomic situation and changing consumer 
demand; 

• reduced demand for fixed telephony services.

4 OIBDA margin3 % 34.3 31.3 33.9 8.3 % 33.5 1.2 % A high OIBDA margin value is at tributed to successful implementation 
of operational ef ficiency improvement program.

5
Innovation KPI (Quality 
of design and survey 
in 2015)4

% n/a –

6
Labour productivity 
indicator

roubles per 
employee per 

hour
1,081 1,097 1,138 –3.6 % 1,147 –4.4 %

The dif ference of this indicator value from the target is at tributed to the 
revenue amount generated in 2015 (cf. comment on the revenue target).

7
Broadband (B2C+B2B) 
and IPTV subscribers 
without audit

mln subs 13.9 15.5 14.6 5.9 % 15.3 1.1 %
Given the base clean-up in Q1-Q2 2015, the target is met in all scenarios.

8
Number of households 
passed with fibre

mls HH 25.2 30.7 29.0 5.9 % 30.0 2.3 %
The deployment of Fibre network is ahead of schedule. To maintain 
Rostelecom’s technological edge in IP network the Company plans to pass 
with fiber up to 33 mln of Russian households by the end of 2016. 

Alongside the approval of the Long-Term 
Development Programme the Board of Directors 
also approved the Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for 2015-2019. Pursuant to Russian 
Government directives* and Regulations on the 
Company’s Key Performance Indicators, approved 
by the Board of Directors on 31 December 2014, 
the KPI framework comprises economic-financial 
and industrial indicators, including the following:

• Investment related KPIs: Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) over the past year and Return 
on the Invested Capital (ROIC).

• Financial KPIs: Revenue, OIBDA margin, 
innovation KPI, labour productivity indicator.

• Industrial KPIs: broadband Internet access 
subscriber base (including all access 
technology) + IPTV user base, number of 
households passed with fibre.

3130

2 As the Long-Term Development Programme and KPIs were approved for the period 2015-2019, actual KPI values for 2014 are shown for reference only. 
3The mobile business was not taken into account.
4 In 2015, the Company completed the implementation of the Innovation Development Programme as approved in 2013. The Innovation Development Programme for 
the period 2016-2020 has been drafted and is expected to be approved before 1 July 2016.
5 As at the time of the Report issue, some indicators shown in the Table above continue to be verified as the entire Long-Term Development Programme is being 
audited.

Target values and to what extent the targets are met in 20155:

Key Performance Indicators

1 Some indicators were added into the KPI Framework for 2016 pursuant to the Russian Government’s instruction of 07 November 2015 №DM-P36-7563 and 
Directive №2303p-P13 of 16 April 2015.
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Program
How it af fects

Key drivers
Revenue OPEX CAPEX

Real estate management optimisation
Reduction of used office and site areas: selling and 
leasing out

Network transformation (SDN/NFV)
Cutting network management and customer service 
costs

Production framework deployment End-to-end business economics improvement

B2B transformation
Service cross-selling, migration to fibre, ARPU 
increase

Rural network upgrade Operation staf f downsizing, cross-sales

Customer service model 
transformation

Reducing churn, service cross-selling, cutting labor 
costs

Voice 2.0 Reducing churn rates

Total ef fect

3332

INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

The Rostelecom investment programme is based on 
the identified top priorities and initiatives within the 
Company’s Strategy implementation. In December 

2015 the Board of Directors approved the Company’s 
budget for 2016 (Minutes № 15 of 14 December 
2015), and the investment programme for 2016 was 
approved within the budget limits.

Customer
segment

Investment programme 2016

planned

Funds allocated for investing in fixed assets (CAPEX), RUB mln 63,900

Investment areas:

B2C Broadband (B2C) 28

B2B Broadband (B2B) 14

B2G Industry specific services 8

B2x IP/MPLS core network development 11

B2C, B2B, B2G Traditional telephone development 1

B2C, B2B, B2G Digital TV, Internet services 2

B2G Electronic government, innovations 3

B2C, B2B, B2G Sales office deployment 1

B2x IT solutions implementation 7

B2C, B2B, B2G DC deployment and support 2

B2C Elimination of digital inequality 8

B2x Operational ef ficiency, Rural telecommunications 5

B2x Other 10

Strategic Projects and Achievements in 2015

Top Priority Projects for 2016

Rostelecom achieved the following milestones:
• OTT Interactive TV 2.0 service was launched
• New cloud based services were launched (virtual 

office, web video-conferencing, web teleconfer-
encing).

• The number of remote sales increased by 25 %.
• National Data Centres, a JV between Rostelecom 

and Inter RAO was set up in August, to deploy 
a DC network and cloud platform designed for 
holding Geographical Information Systems and 
those of public authorities, state corporations 
and companies where the government holds an 
interest.

• Revenue per employee grew up to RUB 2 mln.

• Implementation of the operational efficiency 
improvement program resulted in savings of  
RUB 8.5 bln.

• By the end of 2015, some 1.5 thou. access points 
were put in operation as part of the Bridging the 
Digital Divide project. The Company continues 
construction activities and new access points are 
being put into service ahead of schedule. 

• Stage 1 construction and installation work was 
completed between Sakhalin and Magadan, 
including shore and deep water installation.  
The network length is 924 km.

Effect magnitude

min max
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In order to successfully manage existing risks, 
the Company has developed and implemented 
a risk-oriented approach to business, designed 
to help the management through the decision-
making process under uncertainty, as well as to 
indentify opportunities for achievement of the 
Company's goals. 
The Board of Directors annually approves a Risk 
Management Plan, regularly updates risks together 
with the development and subsequent monitoring 
of action plans to mitigate risks to an acceptable 
level.

 Along with the development and implementation 
of operational business decisions, Rostelecom 
reviews the risks associated with them. This takes 
place during collegial discussions at meetings of 
the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors, the Management Board, the 
Risk Management Committee, working groups and 
meetings.

Risk management activities are based on the
corporate governance policies of the Organization
for Economic Cooperation and Development,
standards of the Institute of Internal Auditors and
the Standard № 2 of the Board for Supervision of
Accounting in Public Companies used in the
course of audit of the companies as well as the
recommendations of the Corporate Governance
Code (approved on 21 March 2014 by the Board
of Directors of the Bank of Russia).

As a methodological basis for building a risk
management system, the Company uses the
recommendations of the Integrated Risk
Management Model, represented by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission in 2004, as well as
international standards (GOST R ISO 31000: 2010
"Risk Management. Principles and guidelines,
GOST R ISO 31010: 2011 "Risk Management. Risk
Assessment Methods", etc.).

Key Risks

Risk Management Policies

Distribution of Responsibilities between 
the Risk Management System Participants

Disclaimer:
The risk management system is aimed at providing a reasonable, but not absolute assurance regarding the achievement of the Company’s goals. This limitation is due to the 
following factors:
- risk identification and assessment cannot be completely accurate, because the risks are related to the future, which is always associated with uncertainty;
- decision to respond to the risk are taken in view of the adequacy and appropriateness of the Company’s resources;
- some of the risks are beyond the Company’ control.

Responsibilities for risk management are
distributed between the system participants as
follows (see organizational chart in the section
“Corporate Governance”):

• the Company's Board of Directors is respon-
sible for the overall monitoring of the risk 
management process efficiency (approves Risk 
Management Plan for the year and revises it 
during the year as appropriate, reviews the 
risk reports on quarterly and annual basis, 
takes the decision on the RMS development 
areas as a whole).

• Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
is responsible for making recommendations 
to the Board of Directors on the basis of 
a regular review and discussion with the 
Company's management of the procedures 
established by the Company in relation to 
risk assessment and management, including 
discussion of the main risks and the measures 
taken by the Company's management for 
monitoring and control of such risks. 

• The Company's management is responsible 
for managing the key risks and regular 
monitoring of the risk management system 
operation.

• Internal Audit assesses and develops 
appropriate recommendations based on 
the risk management system effectiveness 
assessment in terms of identifying existing 
risks and possibility of new types of risks; 
proper risk assessment; effectiveness of 
actions taken to manage risks; Reporting on 
the status of the principal risks and actions 
taken to control them.

• The Company's units and employees 
are responsible for risk management in 
accordance with the assigned functional areas 
and duties.

• Chief Risk Manager of the Company ensur-
ing the risk management system building, 
operation monitoring and maintenance.  
As part of the risk management function, the 
Company has the structural unit – the Risk 
Management Department. The functional and 
administrative units are subordinate to the 
chief risk manager.

• The Company's division performing internal 
control functions ensures the coordination 
of activities to build and sustain the internal 
control system effectiveness. The organization 
of the Company’s internal control system is 
based on the risk-oriented approach.
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Risk description Responses and references Manageability Dynamics Additional Information in
Appendix "Risk Management"
(in Russian) 

Industry risks

Revenue risk in new emerging markets

The company carries out the 
development and promotion of 
innovative products and services, 
including the services of industrial
internet, geodata, organization of virtual
private networks (IP VPN), television
services based on cloud technologies etc.
The late launch of the products, incorrect
focus on the product can lead to failure 
to achieve targets for new services.

For risk management, the Company has developed
a strategy for the development of new services, 
Has Product Committee and the Department of
Venture Products, optimizes the business process 
of creation and launch of new products, strategic
innovation centre ensures the Company’s business
development through searching and implementing
the strategic innovation.
As a result of the strategy adjustment, the 
Company has identified a priority for the services
development in fast-growing segments.
For optimal presence of emerging markets,
Rostelecom also carries out transactions (M&A).

See p.24 "Strategy: Fixed-line Segment"
See p.3 "Key events: Transactions"

High 1.1. Further strengthening of 
the competition, including the
emergence of new operators, 
as well as the development of 
services that replace traditional
communication services, may
reduce the market share held by
the Issuer, and accordingly,
revenues from the provision of
these services.
7.6. If the existing as well as new
products and communication
services, the Issuer brought to
market recently or are in the
process of development and
promotion, will not enjoy
sufficient demand, the possibility
of the Issuer to achieve further
growth of income from these
services will be limited.

Revenue risk in the main activity segments

Rostelecom is facing increased
competition in all segments of the 
Russian market of telecommunication 
services, which may have a negative 
effect on the maintenance of or increase 
in the market share and customer base 
and lead to a decrease in operating 
profit.

To manage the revenue downside risk the 
Company implements the following measures:
• monitoring and the development of measures to 

improve customer satisfaction;
• improving the CRM efficiency, integration with 

other information systems;
• differentiation of products and services, and 

formation of special and package offers;
• improving the quality of customer support;
• development of services in the fast-growing 

segments.

In addition to the above-described response
measures common to all segments, Rostelecom
implements special measures in relation to the
segments and products:
• In B2C broadband segment, the Company 

implements projects aimed at improving the 
quality of the network (bandwidth).

• In the B2C segment, the Company is 
implementing a special project aimed 
at improving the convenience and the 
development of additional services of fixed 
telephony.

• In B2B segment, the Company modernizes the 
network to provide high-quality digital services.

See p.24 "Strategy: Fixed-line Segment"
See. p. 76 "Best-in-class customer service"
See. p. 63 "Differentiated Offerings"

High 1.1. Further strengthening of
the competition, including the
emergence of new operators, as
well as the development of
services that replace traditional
communication services, may
reduce the market share held by
the Issuer, and accordingly,
revenues from the provision of
these services.
7.5. Risks related to the Issuer's 
mobile business development.

Risk description Responses and references Manageability Dynamics Additional Information in
Appendix "Risk Management"
(in Russian) 

Legal risks

Legal risks

The Company’s key risks are currently
related to changes in the legal regulation 
of certain types of services and business
conditions in communications industry. 
A substantial part of Rostelecom 
activities is regulated by the government 
authorities (FTS and FAS).
Due to this fact, the Company takes into
account the laws and regulations revision
risks in disfavour of the Company.

Rostelecom on a regular basis monitors changes 
in the Russian legislation and regulations, develops 
appropriate responses. In addition, the Company 
is in constant interaction with the regulators, 
representing the Company's position on regulatory 
and legislative initiatives.

Medium 4.1. Legal risks associated with 
the issuer's activities. 
4.6. Risks associated with 
changes in court practices on 
the matters of the Issuer's  
activities (including licensing 
issues), which may adversely 
affect the results of its 
operations, as well as the 
results of the current, litigations 
to which the Issuer is a party.

Financial risks

Investment risk

Rostelecom considers the risks 
associated with untimely return on 
investments of the Company. Such risk 
may occur as a result of late or defective 
contractors’ work. The currency 
component of the investment costs can 
also affect the return on the investment 
of the projects: in the case of currency 
fluctuations the cost of resources 
increases and, consequently, the period 
for achieving the target level of return 
increases as well.

For risk management, the Company monitors the
investment projects at the stages of 
implementation and operation. In addition, it uses 
a program of import substitution to reduce the 
foreign currency component in the investments.

High 3.6. untimely return on
investments of the Issuer, the
expected level of income under
which is more than 10 percent
per year.
3.3. Inflation may increase the
costs and reduce the profitability
of the main activities of the
Issuer.

Currency risk

Rostelecom receives the bulk of the
revenue in rubles, at the same time 
part of the expenses, liabilities, capital 
expenditures and borrowings is 
denominated in foreign currencies. 
As a result of currency fluctuations, 
financial results associated with 
payments in foreign currency, as well 
as assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency may be revaluated 
downward.

To minimize the currency risk for capital
expenditures the Company pursues a policy of
preemptive nomination of the contracts for the
supply of equipment and services in the national
currency. The company provides loans, based on
the principle of currency correspondence, namely,
compliance with the currency correspondence of
financial instruments in the currency in which the
Company operates.

See p. 91 "Financial Performance Review: Debt"

Low 3. 2. As a result of currency
fluctuations, the financial results
of the Issuer related to 
payments in foreign currency, 
as well as assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency 
may be revaluated downward.

3736

Key Risks and Responses
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Risk description Responses and references Manageability Dynamics Additional Information in
Appendix "Risk Management"
(in Russian) 

Business marginality reduction risk

The Company distinguishes the risk of a
possible reduction in business margins 
that may be due to the influence of the 
external environment changes.

For the risk management, in 2015, Rostelecom
continued to implement programs to improve
operational efficiency and reduce costs.

See. p. 81 "Improving Operational Efficiency"

High 1.2. Risks related to changes in
prices for the products and/
or the Issuer’s services in the 
domestic and foreign markets, 
as well as their impact on the 
Issuer’s activities.
7.7. If the Issuer is not be able to
fully and timely meet its
obligations to customers and
clients on the major projects, 
the Issuer may incur significant
financial and reputational costs.
Moreover, the delayed 
implementation of such projects
may reduce the return on them
and, as a consequence, lead to 
the deterioration in the financial
performance of the Issuer.
7.8. If the Issuer's network
capabilities are insufficient to
support the data transfer 
services growth in revenue 
of the Issuer may decline 
significantly, with the further 
development of the data 
transfer network accompanied 
by a decrease in the return on
investment.

General corporate risk

No expected return of mergers and acquisitions

The Company considers the risk of no 
expected returns from mergers and 
acquisitions, including due to the
complexity of the integration of new
assets.

For risk management, the Company carries out a
set of measures aimed at creating the optimal
action plan, develops a plan of integration of the
acquired companies, a set of measures to
improve control of subsidiaries and affiliates,
develops the risk management functions in the
largest Rostelecom subsidiaries.

Medium 7.4. Risks associated with
the integration of the
acquired companies.

3938

Quarterly meetings of the Risk Management
Committee made key decisions on risk management 
at the level of Rostelecom PJSC. Risk owners were 
actively involved in the risk management and 
participated in the risk and response updating.

As a result of the risk management, risk events did 
not exceed the annual risk-appetite approved by 
Company's Board of Directors. During 2015, the 
Company carried out measures on the development 

of a risk management culture, including
training workshops for management at the level
of the corporate centre and the macro-regional 
branches of the Company. In 2015, the Board of 
Directors updated and approved Risk Management 
Policy of Rostelecom PJSC.

Risk Management in 2015

Fall in materiality while maintaining probability in 2016
compared to 2015

Growth in materiality while maintaining probability 
in 2016 compared to 2015

Growth of materiality and probability in 2016 compared 
to 2015
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TRADITIONAL
TELEPHONY

3.6 mln 
of subscribers

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY

RENT  
OF  

CHANNELS

FIXED BUSINESS
In 2015, the Company moved to the segment management 
model, in which each customer segment operates  
in a separate financial and marketing environment:
• B2C – individuals
•  B2B/B2G – small business, commercial enterprises,  

nonprofit organizations, government agencies
• B2O – communication operators

LONG-TERM  
STRATEGY PRIORITIES
Transition to a model of integrated digital services  
provider, offering the market a platform  
with its own and third-party  
digital services

NET
• IP/MPLS backbone network capacity – 12.3 Tbit/s
• The backbone network length – 500 thou. km
•  The Company’s services are available to 46 million  

households (“last mile” network)
•  Fiber-optic networks cover 30.7 mln households
•  Federal project “Bridging the Digital Divide” –  

200 thou. km of optical networks

CUSTOMER SERVICES
•  Customer Committees operate in all regional  

offices to improve the service quality
•  Service level agreement s(SLA)  

are in place
•  Quality Management System –  

GOST ISO 9001-2011

MOBILE BUSINESS
•  Tele2 Russia – is a federal cellular operator
•  United subscriber base – 37 mln subscribers
•  Works in 65 regions of Russia, and 61 of them  

have highspeed mobile internet available
•  Full geographical and technological  

set of licenses

REVENUE

DIVIDENDS

REVENUE STRUCTURE 
BY SEGMENTS FOR 2015, 
RUB MLN

B2C 134,483
B2B 54,598
B2G 50,940
B2O 57,334

EFFECT OF THE 
OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, 
RUB BLN

8.5
19

2015
2018

NETWORK 
MAINTENANCE STAFF, 
THOU. 

80
50

2015
2020

NUMBER OF POINTS 
OF SALE AND SERVICE

1,720
710

2015
2020

NUMBEROF NETWORK
CONTROL CENTRES

57
7

2015
2020

CAPEX/
REVENUE

20 % *
3-4 p. p.

2015
2020

SUSTAINABLE  
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES
•  Corporate culture – 51 % of the level  

of employee engagement
•  Internal social policy – RUB 2.6 thou. staff  

training costs, 11 % their average wage growth
•  External social policy – RUB 0.3 bln. volume  

of charitable programs
•  Industrial safety – RUB 0.6 bln. cost of labor 

protection
• Environmental safety
• Socially oriented services

STOCK VALUE CHARTS  
FOR 2015

TRADITIONAL
TELEPHONY

DATA
CENTER

SERVICES
DATA

MINING

PAY TV

E-GOVERN- 
MENT

B2B/B2G

B2C

B20

BROADBAND
INTERNET  
ACCESS

BROADBAND
INTERNET

ACCESS

0.7 mln of subscribers

22.5 mln. of people
12.4 thou. of 
organizations

10.9 mln of subscribers

18.5 mln of subscribers

ROSTELECOM’s 
share
41 %

ROSTELECOM’s 
share 
45 %

297,355

Ordinary shares

Rub.

85

70

100
Rub.

60

50

70

Preference shares

76.00 54.95

97.10

87.01

57.10

90.55

69.05

ROSTELECOM
acquired 75% 

stake
Shaping digital  
Russia

Broadband access
TV
VPN

VAS and Cloud Services
Telephony
Other services

INDUSTRIAL
INTERNET

DATA
TRANSFER
SERVICES

INTERCONNECT  
AND TRAFFIC 

TRANSIT  
SERVICES

2.3 thou. of operators

AT LEAST 75%  
OF FREE CASH FLOW
At least RUB 45 bln. for three years

PRIORITY TO CONTENT  
AND DIGITAL SERVICE 
DEVELOPMENT

ROSTELECOM 
acquired control 
over the group

GEODATA
SERVICES

7%

7%

5%

33%

28%
21%

DIGITAL SERVICE SHARE

2015

40 %

9%

18%
7%

20%

20% 25%

DIGITAL SERVICE SHARE

2020

60 %

CLOUD
SERVICES

SAS 
solutions

INTER- 
ACTIVE
TV 2.0

VIDEO
SURVEILLANCE

25 mln  
of users –
ELECTIONS
58.7 thou.  
room – USE

CUSTOMER SERVICE

≥75 %

мin

beginning 
of year

year 
end

мах

GAME
SERVICES

*  Excluding project  
“Bridging the Digital Divide”

Business model

8.6 mln  
of subscribers

PAY TV

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT
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Market Overview

According to TMT Consulting analytical agency, the
Russian market for telecommunications services 
with the exception of mobile communication 
segment, in 2015 amounted to RUB 701.9 bln 
The annual growth rate amounted to 2.5 % against 
1.4 % y-o-y.

In 2015, the volume of Internet access market 
exceeded the fixed telephony market for the first 
time in Russia.
The volume of the mobile communication market in 
2015 amounted to RUB 958.6 bln, with increase
by 0.5 % compared to 2014.

In 2015, the Russian economy showed a negative
GDP growth rate and was generally characterized 
by unfavorable dynamics of the main 
macroeconomic indicators.
In the consumer segment, the lack of economic 
growth and inflation have a negative impact on 
real

disposable income, which in turn leads to
a reduction in consumer demand for services. 
Sequestration of state institutions’ budgets 
and reduction in budgets of corporations and 
enterprises also reduces the demand and 
stimulates to search for more cost-efficient 
and effective solutions.

4342

Macroeconomic Environment Industry Overview

Indicator 2012 2013 2014 2015

GDP growth, % 3.4 1.3 0.6 -3.9

Inflation, % 6.6 6.5 11.4 12.2

Real disposable income, % 4.6 3.3 -0.7 -4

Weighted average US dollar exchange rate (RUB) 31.1 31.8 38.4 60.9

Russian telecommunications market in 2015 
(excl. mobile), %

19

10

10

22

25
14

RUB 701.9 bln

Internet Access

Wholesale services

Postal services
Fixed telephony

Other

Pay TV

Dynamics of segments, %

2015 2014

Fixed segment: including
2.5

5.5

16.6

6.0

4.0

1.4

6.2

6.9

0.6

Wholesale services

Fixed telephony

Pay-Per-View TV

Postal services

-8.1

-8.1

-5.8

Internet access

The main growth drivers were the increase 
in ARPU for Pay TV service and the number 
of subscribers of premium Pay TV, as well as 
revenue growth in the segment of cross-border 
inter-carrier services, mainly due to the effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Currently, the major players in the Russian
telecommunications market is Rostelecom, MTS,
VimpelCom, Megaphone and Tele2 Russia -
companies that provide a wide range of basic
communication services and generating over 80 % 

of all revenues of the Russian telecommunications 
market. Despite the potential for the development 
of alternative players, 5 key market players have 
the major share in the industry growth due to 
geographic expansion and M&A.

Sources: Central Bank of Russia, Rosstat (Federal State Statistics Service).

The telecommunications sector is characterized by
relative resilience to macroeconomic turbulence. 
On the one hand, effect on demand from the 
dynamic segment is minimal due to the inherent 
nature of retail telecommunications services 
everyday necessity. On the other hand, a minor 
share of the costs for telecommunication services 
in the overall structure of the household expenses. 
In addition, in the difficult economic conditions, 
there may be an increase in consumption in a 
number of retail services segment, as households 
in an effort to save may abandon the expensive 
entertainment, such as going to the cinema, 
preferring home watching of the movies via IPTV 
service as a less expensive form of entertainment.

In the segment of corporate and government 
customers, there’s a tendency of companies’ 
intention to consolidate budgets in exchange for 
attractive price conditions. Thus, given Rostelecom’s 
significant market share, as well as presence in 
all segments of the telecommunications market, 
the Company managed to minimize the negative 
impact of the crisis on business in 2015.
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MARKET BY CUSTOMER SEGMENTS B2C 

B2C

Over 2/3 of the Russian telecommunications
market are formed by a segment of private users.
In terms of number of subscribers and revenues in 
the key market segments:
• Internet access - 70 %;
• Pay TV - over 95 %;
• Fixed telephony - 54 %;
• Mobile communications - 90 % of the service 

revenues.

B2B & B2G

B2B/B2G is the second most important segment 
in terms of the revenue volume. Corporate 
segment as a whole may be characterized by:
• a high level of saturation of most segments;
• a reduction in revenues in fixed telephony 

segment, trend to move from leased lines to 
VPN use;

• increasing pressure on the financial terms of 
the bidding from major customers, including 
the federal government customers;

• desire of customers to optimize capital costs 
for telecom solutions and, as a consequence, 
an increasing demand for rental services of 
telecom infrastructure (data centres);

• growing demand for solutions that increase 
the customer’s operational efficiency (VAS 
and cloud-based solutions).

In 2015, there were two trends in the customer’s 
activity:
• optimization of expenses of big and medium-

sized business;
• reconnection of the small businesses to the 

services as private users.

Structure of the
telecom market by
customer type 2015, %

4

25

71

B2C

B2O
B2B / B2G

Source: TMT Consulting

In previous years, an important factor of the
segment growth was operators’ involvement in 
largescale government projects. Construction of 
most of the major government networks and the 
some major projects that will be implemented in 
the coming years will become a source of income
mainly for a limited number of major operators.

B2O (wholesale segment)

In 2015, due to the prices denominated in 
currency, revenues of market players rose sharply 
from a number of services:
• Rent of international channels
• International IP transit
• International voice traffic transit
• Services through Europe - Asia transit route

In 2016, according to TMT Consulting analysts,
most of these market segments will show growth 
of around 1 %. Traffic transit segment can be an
exclusion with considerable potential, however, 
depending on the willingness of foreign, especially 
Chinese, operators to increase the capacity of 
channels.

Key market trends in 2016:
• Reduction of fixed voice traffic.
• Decrease of revenues from the rent of 

channales  by the operators.
• Reduced revenues from IP-transit, where 

undercompetition policy offer of a wider 
bandwidth for the same money no longer 
prevents the market from reduction; In 
addition, VPN becomes a common alternative 
to IP-transit.

• Optimization of the costs by the operators on 
operation through infrastructure sharing and 
outsourcing of some network infrastructure 
operation functions.

COMPANY ON THE MARKET

Rostelecom is the undisputed market leader in 
fixed-line services. Rostelecom provides a wide 
range of services and enters the new market 
segments. Last year, the Company continued 
steady growth in high-tech sectors, developing 
broadband Internet access and data transfer, 
interactive services, data centres, cloud-based 
services, VPN, video conferencing services, and 
intelligent network services.
The Company also maintained its leadership
in the traditional fixed-line telephony markets. 
The company managed to gain the position of an 
absolute leader of the telecommunications services 
market for Russian government authorities at all 
levels, government agencies and organizations.

KEY COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES IN THE
KEY MARKETS:

1. Russia's largest fixed network infrastructure
2. Nation-wide operations scale
3. Unique content proposition
4. Stable high level of brand awareness and 

customer base loyalty

Rostelecom is ahead of all competitors in this category

Basic Brand Health KPI 2015

Local communication DLD/ILD communication Pay TV Broadband

Rostelecom Immediate
competitor

Rostelecom Immediate
competitor

Rostelecom Immediate
competitor

Rostelecom Immediate
competitor

Aided awareness 91 31 97 28 79(+4) 53 81 54

Unaided awareness 78 24 90 17 55 39 59 39

First mentioning 64(+3) 18 79(+4) 9 22 19 23 18

Past use 74 19 86(+4) 9 28 23 29 21

Current use 68 18 82(+4) 6(-4) 23 20 24 18

Main operator – – 82(+4) 6(-4) 23 20 – –

Future use 64 19 76(+5) 6 23 19 24 18

Positions of Rostelecom and its immediate competitor by indicators in the category are shown

Further development
The key task of the Company may be identified as
improving customer care through the expansion 

of the range of content and digital services and 
the transition to a model of an integrated digital 
services provider.
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT OF ROSTELECOM IS DETERMINED BY THE CUSTOMER
NEEDS, AS WELL AS AVAILABLE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES OF THE COMPANY. 
THE COMPANY'S PRIMARY FOCUS IN PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT IS ON THE INCREASE 
IN REVENUE FROM CONTENT AND DIGITAL SERVICES (BROADBAND, PAY TV, 
CLOUD-BASED SERVICES AND VALUE-ADDED PRODUCTS) AND PRESERVATION OF 
REVENUE FROM THE TRADITIONAL COMMUNICATION SERVICES (FIXED TELEPHONY, 
WHOLESALE SERVICES). BELOW IS A DESCRIPTION OF THE MOST SIGNIFICANT AND 
PROMISING PRODUCTS OF THE COMPANY.  

Products

Subscribers mln
Revenue RUB bln

Source: TMT Consulting, Company data

B2C broadband access market in 2013-2016,
RUB bln
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Source: TMT Consulting,
Company data

BROADBAND INTERNET ACCESS

Rostelecom is an undisputable leader of the 
Russian market of Internet services - one of the 
most competitive segments with the Company’s 
presence. While the markets of Moscow and 
St. Petersburg have already reached saturation 
(morethan 80 % of the market is controlled by five 
major players), the regional markets are the main 
growth drivers of broadband services.
To further strengthen the position in the fast 
developing regional markets Rostelecom focuses 
all its efforts on the organic development in these 
regions, as well as the consolidation of regional 
assets. In this market, the Company’s competitors 
are major mobile players having consolidated in 
the recent past the alternative fixed-line operators, 
and regional providers. However, Rostelecom has
a significant advantage in terms of market 
positions: the immediate competitor has a share 
of almost four times less, Rostelecom is the only 
player of the federal scale, presence of other 
players is fragmented. The Company plans to 
further strengthen its leadership position.
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PAY TV

One of the most significant drivers of the
telecommunications market is the segment of Pay TV
services. Rostelecom has a leading position in the 
market of Pay TV services with a market share of 27.6 % 
"by revenue". The Company's main competitors in this 
market are Tricolor and ER-Telecom.

The company, being the largest video content 
unit on the Russian market, is actively developing 
this direction, allowing due scale effect to offer 
its customers one of the best content offerings at 
an attractive price. IPTV and OTT Video can be 
distinguished as the fastest growing segments of the 
Pay TV market. On IPTV market, Rostelecom is already 
the uncontrovertial leader: the share of its immediate 
competitor by almost four times less. 
The company is actively working to increase ARPU,
promoting additional packages and Video on Demand
service.

OTT products and services are the most promising 
and fastest growing segment of the market with 
a forecasted CAGR of 15 % until 2020. In this market 
segment, the Company is already implementing 
a project to introduce Interactive TV 2.0 product 
(OTT-Video).

In 2015, Rostelecom launched its first OTT box 
product "Interactive TV 2.0", which enabled to go 
beyond its own network and provided the ability to 
access the Content proposition of the Company to all 
concerned, regardless of what Internet provider they 
use. Interactive TV 2.0 complements the Company's 
video products, maintaining its leading position in the 
Pay TV market.

Russian Pay TV market in 2013-2016, RUB bln
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Akado
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Orion-Express
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NTV-PLUS
Megaphone
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Rostelecom

Other

MTS
VimpelCom

Megaphone

Main IPTV market players (by revenue), %

 RUB 52.8 bln

9.3
1.5

18.6 67.5

3.1

FIXED TELEPHONY

Rostelecom has traditionally been a leader in the
provision of fixed telephony services in the whole
territory of the Russian Federation, including the
services of local, long-distance and international
communication.

To preserve this position in this market Rostelecom
focuses its efforts on the development and
implementation of business solutions, most
satisfying customer needs in today's voice
products, increase in the customer value of the
fixed telephony, optimization of tariff range, as
well as further enhancement of the service quality
and service standards.

184.2

Russian fixed telephony market in 2013-2016,
RUB bln

200.0

150.0

100.0

50.0

0.0

45.0

40.0

35.0

30.0

25.0

20.0

15.0

10.0

5.0

0.0

Subscribers mln
Revenue RUB bln

38.5

169.3
155.6

141.1

35.4

32.6 30.2

2013 2014 2015 2016F

R
ev

en
ue

 R
U

B
 b

ln

Su
bs

cr
ib

er
s 

m
ln

Market share by revenue, %

Market structure by customer types, %

Rostelecom

B2C

Other
MTS (including MGTS)

B2B

61.9

15.3

22.8

54

46



Company's Profile Strategic Report Result Overview
Financial 

Performance Overview Corporate Governance
For Shareholders 

and InvestorsAnnual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT

CLOUD-BASED SERVICES AND 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES

Rostelecom is actively developing cloud-based
services on the basis of a national cloud platform.
National cloud platform is a set of integrated
information systems for providing services to
customers on the cloud computing model. 

On the basis of the national cloud platform, 
application services for public authorities and 
private enterprises operate in health, education, 
security, housing and communal services, property 
and land relations. Services of the National Cloud
Platform are deployed and operate in Rostelecom
data processing centres and are based on
virtualization system developed on the basis of the 
software with open source code.
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SERVICES FOR OPERATORS (WHOLESALE
SERVICES)

Rostelecom is Russia’s largest player in the
market of services for communication operators.
The Company connects to its own backbone
network infrastructure operators in all regions of
the Russian Federation at the local, zonal,
long-distance and international levels, thereby

forming a unified national telecommunications
network and providing an opportunity to its
own customers and customers of the connected
operators staring from general public to large
corporations to use communication services.
The Company's position in the main segments
of the operator market is shown in the following
charts:

Rostelecom in the Russian B2O-market in 2015, %

IP-transit

B2O voice traffic 
transmission

VPN B2O

Rent of channels B2O

31+69+D 46+54+D
46+54+D 57+43+D

31

57

46

46

Russian market of cloud-based services, 
RUB bln

44

16

2015 2020F

22 %

2015-2020 CAGR1

1 Compound Annual Growth Rate

The company provides full service maintenance
cycle, from implementation to technical support.

Russian market of data centre services, 
RUB bln

33

15

17 % 

2015-2020 CAGR1

Market share by racks number, %

Rostelecom 
(+SafeData)

Other
DataLine

14.3

13.7

72

DATA CENTRES

Data centre service market in Russia is at the stage 
of active growth. Acquisition SafeDataGoup in 
2015 allowed Rostelecom come out on top of this 
fast-growing market.

The Company's infrastructure, including 3,900
racks and points of presence across Russia, as
well as in London, Frankfurt, Amsterdam and
Stockholm, in addition to direct data storage
service facilitates the development of other
promising Company's data-oriented products.

2015 2020F
Source: Company data, iKS-Consulting
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INDUSTRIAL INTERNET OF THINGS (IIOT)

The Russian market is at stage of early
development of the Internet of things technology,
but industrial implementations are leading and
occupy a large market share. In most cases these
implementations occur in the automated data
collection from devices located on industrial sites.
M2M connectivity area develops as well. Major
Russian mobile providers record growth of M2M
traffic in the corporate sector, especially among
transport companies actively using the navigation
systems.
Today, the implementation of the industrial of the
internet of things takes place inside the companies, 

GEODATA SERVICES

Complex services are targeted at corporate
customers, municipal customers, as well as at
implementation of government orders.

Services include GIS, navigation services on the
basis of GLONASS-based solutions, as well as
marketing geodata-based services based. 
The main purpose of the services is information
support for various management decisions 
through the full customization to the customer’s 
needs.

Russian market of geodata services, RUB bln

91
46

15 %

2015-2020 CAGR1

2015 2020F

Russian market of Industrial Internet of 
things, RUB bln

Russian segment market Industrial Internet 
of Things in 2015, %

64+20+9+7+D64.319.7

7.6
8.4

Industrial

Pupblic sector
Cross Industrial

Consumer

Source: IDC, IoT Spending 
Guide, Russia, 2015

and data collection and analysis is carried out 
using traditional storage systems and analytical 
solutions. However, the demand for big data 
solutions and cloud services is growing that will 
- with the growth of the generated data volume – 
enable to easily scale up solutions and go beyond 
the implementations in individual companies.
Rostelecom advantages in the form of the largest
network infrastructure, data centre market 
leadership and expertise in the field of data mining 
(big data) provide excellent preconditions for the 
development of the Company's share in this fast 
growing market. 

Rostelecom plans to act not only as a provider of
communication channels and processing
capacities on the basis of its data centres, but also
play the role of facilitator and guarantor of
Internet of things deployments in key sectors of
the Russian economy.
Due to the fact that the industrial Internet
includes products and services from a large
number of suppliers, it requires coordination of
their actions in the process of creating solutions. 

Software developers, system integrators, 
distributors of communications equipment have 
the expertise to deploy their products and services 
mainly within a single enterprise. When the pilot 

projects on the Internet of Things are carried 
out within one enterprise or an enterprise and 
its partners, it is important that there was an 
organization that helps to go beyond the
"pilot" and will take on the possible risks.

In more mature markets (e.g. the USA), these
coordinators are suppliers of industrial platforms 
of the Internet of things (GE) or large operators 
(AT&T, Vodafone).
In Russia, Rostelecom may become such 
organization. Thus, in the market of industrial 
internet the Company sees itself in the role of:

• Operator data collection and processing 
network infrastructure for IIoT,

• IIoT platform operator,
• Business integrator of IIoT projects in the 

domestic industry.

2,3 Compound Annual Growth Rate1 Compound Annual Growth Rate

BIG-DATA

Russian big-data market is at an early stage of
development - according to expert estimates, this
segment will grow at an average annual rate of
over 40 % until 2020. 
The Company is strengthening its competence in 
the big-data market, having bought IQMen IBS 
developer, in 2015. 

BIG-DATA market forecast, RUB bln

2015-2020 CAGR3

164

28

2015 2020F

43 %

2015-2020 CAGR2

126

11

2015 2020F

63 %

This acquisition will enable to realize a number
of synergies with our core business, including
the use of big-data technologies to improve 
operational efficiency, monitor the quality of 
services, segment the customer base, customize 
offers etc.

GAME SERVICES

In 2015, Rostelecom entered game services 
market by launching its own game portal.
Game portal was developed as part of Rostelecom
overall strategy for the creation and development
of differentiated products. Launching the portal is
the starting point in the development by
Rostelecom of the gaming area, which also
includes a proposal of a specialized game content
for Interactive TV subscriber, and the
development of the Company’s network for this
content. The portal is aimed at the widest range of
game enthusiasts and offers each target audience
their content. Games are the best web traffic
monetizer. The Company has a large base of
subscribers, who can be offered additional services
such as a bonus to the basic products.
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Internet access

Fixed telephony

Pay TV

Postal services

Wholesale services

Mobile communication

Fixed communications
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The Russian telecommunications market has
pronounced oligopolistic behavior: five major
players form 82 % of the market, with the market
share of the four market leaders (Rostelecom,
MTS, MegaFon, VimpelCom) comparable.

TMT Consulting analysts predict that in general
in 2016 the market will continue to grow. 
The rate of market growth in 2016 is expected 
to be 1 %.

Market Forecast for 2016

Market forecast for 2016, %

2015 2016F

5.5

16.6 

6.0

4.0

0.5

3.0

4.5

5.0

-2.8

1.6

-9.3

-8.1

Nevertheless, a number of telecommunications 
market sub-segments will show higher growth 
rates in the next 5 years:

• mobile Internet access market;
• industrial internet market;
• SMS-mailout market;
• CDN services market;
• OTT TV services;
• other OTT services sold on fixed and mobile 

networks;
• services on the basis of the big data collection, 

storage and analysis.

There is further growth in the volume of consumed
traffic. At the same time improved quality of
broadband services, growth of Internet access
spped, as well as the active use of OTT services
contribute to the consumption of streaming audio
and video content. Thus, the ability to provide
Internet at high speeds is a competitive advantage
that Rostelecom plans to monetize in the future.
Increase in the number of devices used by 
subscribers to access the Internet continues to 
have a significant impact on the market. In addition 
to the PC, the families are increasingly using 
laptops, tablets and smartphones, as well as Smart 
TVs.

Further increase in penetration of bundled services
has a positive impact on the general development
of the market. Bundling multiple services creates
advantages for the user and enables the operators
not only to increase the loyalty of their own
customers, but also to convince new subscribers to
opt for this operator.

Intense market competition has led to equalization 
of tariff plans of different operators in the regions: 
the major players within the same region often 
have similar, if not identical tariff ranges. 
This situation determines the subscriber's choice in 
favour of the operator with a better service.

Thus, the main trends are:
1. Information transmission speed and band. 
2. Ability to provide bundled offers.
3. High quality of service.
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Overview of Operating 
Results

MODERNIZATION OF "LAST MILE"
NETWORKS

The company implements a large-scale 
"last mile" network modernization project, 
aimed at covering with fiber-optic network 
33 mln Russian households by the end of 
2016. This will allow the Company to provide 
customers with a full range of modern 
telecommunications services at speeds of up 
to 1 Gb/s.

By the 2015 year-end, Rostelecom covered 
with optical fiber 30.7 mln households, and 
the capacity of IP MPLS backbone network 
was increased up to 12.3 Tbit/s. Rostelecom 
uses a variety of technology solutions for the 
"last mile" modernization to meet the needs 
of customers, while ensuring the efficiency of 
its own investments.

INCREASED CAPACITY OF BACKBONE
NETWORK

The transport component is the most
important element of the network 
infrastructure to absorb the non-
linear increasing volume of traffic, 
including video content. In this regard, 

it is important to provide the necessary 
resources, the backbone network to 
provide highquality services based on 
Rostelecom infrastructure.

Balanced approach to the "last mile" modernization

Households in Russia, total

Households covered by Rostelecom networks

PON/FTTB densely populated areas

Rural area in the framework of BDD project
Optical technology + free Wi-Fi

WE USE A VARIETY OF TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS FOR THE
"LAST MILE" MODERNIZATION TO MEET CUSTOMERS’ REQUEST, 
MEANWHILE PROVIDING EFFICIENCY OF OUR INVESTMENTS
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SUSTAINABLE GROWTH BROADBAND INTERNET ACCESS MARKET
AND PAY TV BASED ON SUPERFAST OPTICAL NETWORKS

Implementation of the Strategic Priorities

Technological Advantages
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Distribution by technologies, %

ARPU, RUR/month
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IFTTx in broadband access, %
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IPTV in Pay TV, %
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connected to optical fiber
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Investment program 2014
(actual)

2015
(actual)

2016
(forecast)

Funds invested (planned for investment) in fixed assets (CAPEX),
RUB mln

– by cash flow 57,666 62,726 62,4502

– by accruals1 61,527 66,047 63,900

Investments by areas, %:

Broadband access (B2C) 31 31 28

Broadband access (B2B) 10 9 14

Sectral services (B2G) – 4 8

IP/MPLS backbone network development 14 13 11

Traditional telephony development 3 1 1

Digital TV, Internet services 2 3 2

E-government, innovations 6 3 3

Organization of points of sales, call centres 2 1 1

Implementation of IT solutions 8 5 7

DPC creation, support – 1 2

Bridging the Digital Divide 2 6 8

Operational efficiency, rural communication – 6 5

Other 14 17 10

Sochi - 2014 1 – –

Development of the federal mobile business 7 – –

Implementation of investment programs in 2014-2015 and forecast for 2016

1 Note. The Company's capital expenditure forecast made available by the disclosure of financial and operating results of 2015, based on the cash flow accounting, 
rather than accruals. In the calculation of free cash flow (FCF) for the purposes of determining the basis for dividend payments capital investment indicator from the 
cash flow statement is used as well.
2 Data are presented on the basis of the Company's management Report of the Forecast Report current at the time of publication, namely revenue growth by 1-2 %, 
Capex/Revenue indicator at the level of 19 %, excluding BDD.

Reducing the share of capital expenditure 
allocated for the development of the IP / MPLS 
backbone network and broadband (B2C) due 
to the completion of the main stage of the 
construction of fiber-optic networks for retail 

clients. There is a shift of the investment 
program priorities towards the development of 
B2B/B2G segments and transformation of IT 
systems.

EXPANSION OF IP/MPLS DATA
TRANSMISSION NETWORK,
IMPLEMENTATION OF CDN SOLUTIONS 

In 2015, the Company provided technical readiness
for the expansion of hardware and software
WANDL IP/MPLS View system, which will analyze
the traffic distribution and traffic matrix
construction to plan and expand the backbone
network capacity.

The Company created Internet filtering traffic
system (URL-filtering), expanded upgraded IP/
MPLS network nodes of Rostelecom, which will
enable to expand the URL-filtering functionality of
the Internet resources listed in zapret-info.gov.ru
single registry database in accordance with the
legislation of the Russian Federation.

Moreover, the Company organized new DWDM
100G/40G systems, including use of fiber optic 
links existing in the territory of Russia, and 
retrofitted existing DWDM 100G/40G/10G systems 
in all regions, including zonal systems, which are
transferred into the category of the backbone.

The Company provide alternative and expanded
existing bindings for the connection of regional
nodes of IP/MPLS backbone network, connected
882.37 km of fiber-optic, upgraded Palladion
monitoring system, completed the construction of
ENIP intelligent platform of Rostelecom.
At the end of 2015, it provided the capacity of
Company’s IP/MPLS backbone network of over
12.3 Tbit/s.

During the 2014-2017, it is planned to further
increase IP/MPLS network capacity to meet 
growing customer demand in all segments, as well 
as domestic demand for backbone capacity by
providing B2B, B2C, B2G end-sales and IP-Transit 
sales support on the national operator's broadband 
market. The organization of new fiber optic of 

DWDM and retrofitting of existing fiber optic links 
for the organization of high-speed optical channels,
expansion of existing bindings to connect the
regional units will also provide IP/MPLS network
capacity growth and increase in the traffic
transmitted.

SAKHALIN - MAGADAN - KAMCHATKA
FOCL CONSTRUCTION (IP/MPLS
BACKBONE NETWORK DEVELOPMENT)

The project provides modern communications
services to remote Russian regions: Magadan 
region, Kamchatka Territory and Sakhalin Island. 
The project envisages the construction of the 
marine FOCL - Magadan, Okha - Ust Bolsheretsk 
followed by the organization of the digital output to 
Magadan and Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky.

In 2015, the Company performed a set of 
measures to ensure the technical availability 
of marine and coastal areas of the first UFOTL 
system Sakhalin - Magadan, obtained permits 
in accordance with the legislation of Russian 
Federation for construction of the facility, laid 
883 km of fiber-optic cable. It also laid the land 
cable, which provides binding of the marine 
optical system to Rostelecom operating network, 
performed construction and installation works of 
the process equipment on the territory of Sakhalin 
and Magadan branches.

Technical readiness of marine and coastal areas of
the second UFOTL system Sakhalin - Kamchatka is
scheduled for Q4 2016.

Key Projects 2015

6160



Company's Profile Strategic Report Result Overview
Financial 

Performance Overview Corporate Governance
For Shareholders 

and InvestorsAnnual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT

In 2015, Rostelecom focused its main efforts in
the mass segment on retaining the voice
subscribers communication and growing its
subscriber base in the broadband access
services and Pay TV market. To form the
subscriber base and increase ARPU in 2015, 
we carried a series of federal special offers of 
highspeed Internet service, as well as Double- 
and TriplePlay service packages. We expanded 
and upgraded ranges of the tariffs provided,
launched special offers "Summer Forever"
"Package for Ever", "Hardware 2015". All this
enabled to successfully replace lost revenues
from fixed voice services with the revenues
from the growing broadband, Pay television
and innovative services segments.

Broadband Internet access services
The number of subscribers to broadband Internet
access in B2C segment increased by 6 % in 2015 
y-o-y, taking into account the base recalculation 
after the audit (without taking into account the 
revision, the growth amounted to 4 %)
and amounted to 10.9 mln subscribers. 

The number of subscribers connected by optics
increased by 22 % year on year, to 6.3 mln. 
In 2015, it was the first time that the share of
subscribers connected by optics, exceeded 50 % 
and reached 54 % of the subscriber base.

In 2015, the Company launched the federal
campaign "Powerful Internet" aimed at promoting
the high-speed tariff plans of Home Internet 
service.

ORGANIZATION AND RETROFITTING
OF HIGH-SPEED TRANSIT BACKBONE
NETWORK WITHIN EUROPE - ASIA
TRANSIT PROJECT (BTM TEA)

In 2015, to increase revenues and to strengthen
the market position of Rostelecom in Europe –
Asia backbone transit segment, the Company
implemented a project to increase the capacity
by building a new long-distance junction
Russia (Zabaykalsk) - China (Manchuria/China
Telecom) with a capacity of 120 Gb/s, with the
installation of DWDM systems on Zabaykalsk -
Kadala section. Organization of transit
channels increased the international traffic in
these areas.

It also ensured technical readiness of the
international junctions Kyakhta (Russia) -
Sukhbaatar (Mongolia), retrofitted Rostelecom
transit network, laid 87 km of fiber optic cable
for 100 % geographical redundancy of the
international junction. In order to maintain the
leading position in Europe - Asia transit
capacity market in 2016 it is planned to carry
out retrofitting (modernization) of border
junctions in the direction of Japan 200G
(UFOTL) and China by 600G. At the same
time, it is planned to organize additional
DWDM system at the section Kingisepp -
Narva (Estonia), Stockholm - to improve the
reliability of traffic to Europe.

NORTH - SOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
PROJECT (IP/MPLS BACKBONE NETWORK
DEVELOPMENT)

In 2015, the Company bought optical
fibers, laid fiber optic cable, retrofitted the
existing Alcatel 1830PSS system, installed
the new ECI system that provided
international traffic redundancy at MN
junction Russia - Azerbaijan.
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Differentiated Offerings

THE COMPANY CONTINUES TO INCREASE THE SHARE OF DIGITAL AND
CONTENT SERVICES, TRANSFORMING INTO THE DIGITAL SERVICES PROVIDER.

Digital and content services 
share ~ 36 %

Digital and content services ~ 40 %   

2014 2015

Digital and content services share by years

37+20+19+7+5+4+8+D 32+21+20+7+7+5+8+D Telephony

VPN

Wholesale services (excl. VPN)

VAS & Cloud-based Services

Other

Broadband access

TV

37 33

20
21

20

7

7

5
7

19
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5
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8

B2C broadband access

2011 2012 20142013 2015

ARPU, RUB/month
Subscriber base, mln

367

347 345 342

8.0
9.0

9.8
10.5

10.9

346

B2C
The Company laid 87 km of fiber
optic cable for 100 % geographical
redundancy of the international

junction.

Back to p. 26, 37
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Pay TV

The number of pay TV subscribers in 2015
increased by 9 % y-o-y, taking into account the
recalculation after the base audit (without taking
into account the revision the growth was 8%) and
amounted to 8.6 mln households. Of these, the
number of Interactive TV subscribers has increased
by 27 %, taking into account the recalculation after
the base audit (without taking into account the
revision the growth was 26 %), to 3.4 mln
subscribers.
New product Interactive TV 2.0 was put into
commercial operation in 2015. 

This is a box solution providing the possibility to 
watch digital TV and access to related interactive 
services on different types of subscriber devices, 
regardless of the broadband provider. Interactive 
TV from Rostelecom is a new TV format. The 
customer gets access to over 200 of the highest 
digital quality channels, including HD video 
anywhere where there is internet access. Service 
allows watching the latest movies sitting on the 
coach at home. The video library contains more 
than 2 thou. domestic and foreign films. Interactive 
TV can be viewed simultaneously on up to five 
devices.

One of the key value-added services under
Interactive TV is VoD service. Revenue from this
service in 2015 increased by 23 % y-o-y. This was 
largely due to a 32 % increase in costs for onetime 
views of the content, as well as 15 % increase in the
subscription fee. There was a tendency of the 
customers’ transition from the one-time content 

view model to a periodic subscription model, so 
that the number of subscribers at the end of 2015 
increased by 55 % y-o-y, indicating an increase of 
customer loyalty to the product.

Traditional telephony services

The number of local telephone communication
subscribers in the mass segment decreased by 9 %,
taking into account the recalculation after the base
audit (without taking into account the revision the
growth was 10 %), to 18.5 mln of subscribers. To
stimulate the consumption of Home Phone service
in 2015 the Company introduced and continues 

to actively offer the subscribers the tariff options 
for longdistance, intra-zone and international 
telephone services that allow subscribers to 
Rostelecom local telephone communication save 
significantly on long-distance and intra-zone 
telephone connections.

2011
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VAS and cloud-based services

Data centre services

As of the end of 2015, the company has 14 data
centres located in Khabarovsk, Novosibirsk,
Yekaterinburg, Kazan, Kaliningrad, Stavropol,
Krasnodar, Ryazan, Sochi and Moscow.
The services offered by Rostelecom based on 
the data centres enables the customers to 
install their own server or telecommunications 
equipment and get non-stop high-speed access 
to information resources located on servers via 
Internet.

Rostelecom portfolio based on 2015 year-end 
results increased by almost 40 % and amounted 
to 3,900 racks, including through the acquisition 
of SafeData group.

6766

Game services

In 2015, Rostelecom entered the game services
market by launching its own game portal.
Catalog of games includes all the major trends and
genres and is updated on a regular basis.
Catalog of games includes all the major trends and
genres and is updated on a regular basis.
Rostelecom provides high speed and quality
Internet connection that enables to download or
update the content without delay.

For the customer’s convenience, a simplified
system of authorization using the login and
password from the popular social networks is
used. Native app for Windows enables to keep
track of news, run the game and buy content
without having to go to the browser. The users of
Rostelecom’s broadband access services and
Interactive TV are given exclusive price offers.

B2B/B2G

Broadband access

In 2015, the number of subscribers in the B2B
segment using Rostelecom broadband access service
declined by 3 %, or 20 thou. organizations. This
reduction is due to the fact that in the complicated
macroeconomic environment, some companies
have to optimize their costs, including those for
communications services, and a number of
companies do not reach the required level of
effectiveness and wind-up.

Local telephony 

The number of subscribers of local telephone
communication in B2B decreased by 7 % to 3.6 mln
subscribers, including in connection with the
forced reduction of organizations’ spending on
communications services. Rostelecom conducts 
a series of measures aimed at the retention of the
subscriber base.

In 2015, for legal entities, including for 
participation in tenders (bidding, auctions), 
it expanded the geography of services New
Telephony service that allows access to corporate
telephony from anywhere where there is internet
access. Service Cloud PBX is now available in 70
cities, in all federal districts of the Russian
Federation.

Open game platform

Launching game portal

Network
infrastructure

Web portal

Content
aggregation

Cloud games

E-sports
Windows

applications
Mobile

applications Messengers Game console

Involvement in the game without investing in a PC

Development of cloud-based services

E-sports promotion

Creating a gaming community
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Rostelecom portfolio: number of racks 
in data centres
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Another promising area is the development 
based on data centres of the national cloud 
platform with a range of services: SaaS, PaaS, 
laaS. Rostelecom offers technologies to create 
a private cloud, public cloud, cloud community, 
and hybrid clouds. 

Cloud technology allows efficient use of
multi-user pool resources. The company 
provides high security of data centres at the 
physical and informational level.

Video surveillance

Cloud-based services

Rostelecom was one of the first to launch
SaaS-solutions (software as a service).
Corporate customers can access the software
via the Internet, that cloud software is offered 
to use. For several years, Rostelecom has been 
offering its customers a number of cloud-based 
services implemented on the basis of the National 
cloud platform.

They include New Telephony (cloud PBX), 
Virtual Office (based on Microsoft products), 
WEB-videoconference, Customer Relationship 
Management, My Warehouse and 1S Applivation.

In 2015, Rostelecom upgraded two cloud-based
services - Virtual Office 2.0 and Virtual Data
Centre 2.0 - as part of Microsoft COSN Russia
software.

Virtual Office 2.0 is based on the latest versions
of Microsoft Exchange 2013 software,
SharePoint 2013. Thenew web-communicator
device functional (Microsoft Lync 2013) was
added, which enables to create a corporate
chat, audio and video conferencing.

Video surveillance during USE 2015

• Coverage of all schools
• Possibility of surveillance in the 

classrooms and regional centres
• Real-time broadcast and possibility 

to view the data from the archive

58.7 thou.
audience

Network capacity
to 1.2 mln of
concurrent views

Surveillance is the main and sometimes the
only way to ensure security on many sites.
The popularity of video surveillance system is
primarily due to its effectiveness in protecting
and safeguarding the territory, property and
ensuring its own security. The main advantages 
of Video Surveillance service is individual system 
design for each customer (equipment installation, 
configuration and connection), provision of a direct 
online channel for the system operation.

Rostelecom fully prepared video surveillance
system for the early period of USE 2015.
The company equipped with hardware and
software 301 examination point and regional
data processing centres across the country
involved in the early period of USE. Videos of
806 classrooms were broadcast on smotriege. ru.
Portal specially designed for real-time views 
Rostelecom launched moderator process on the 
portal for the period of early stage - affixing 
labels directly of video violations directly from 

CLOUD-BASED SERVICES
Significant growth potential

Range of cloudbased 
services ...

National cloud 
platform

High-security  
of data centers

Physical security

Information Security

∙ Own data center and networks
∙  Isolated area allocated only  

for the cloud platform
∙ Access Monitoring and Control
∙ Fire and security alarm
∙ Automatic fire suppression system
∙ Video Surveillance…available for  

all models…
∙  Private Cloud
∙  Public Cloud
∙  Cloud Community
∙  Hybrid Cloud

…It offers unique  
advantages to users
∙  Self-service
∙  Available with a variety of devices
∙  Measurability of IT services
∙  Multi-user Resource Pool

∙  Virtual private or private cloud 
without access to the Internet

∙  Registration and accounting  
of activities

∙ Cryptography protection
∙ Proactive intrusion prevention
∙ VPN, firewall
∙ Anti-virus protection
∙ Protection against DDoS attacks

SaaS

PaaS

IaaS

20%  
IaaS 

market 
share

Rostelecom

Cloud-based services market forecast, RUB bln

Cloud-based services. Significant growth potential

44.126

16.3

2015 2020F

22%

CAGR1 2015–2020

6968

1 Compound annual growth rate
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the examination points. For efficient work of the 
regional users, the Company’s specialists formed a 
new manual and conducted training.

Rostelecom organized surveillance for the single 
voting day, on 13 September 2015 in Leningrad 
region, in Sarov town, Nizhny Novgorod region, 
Krasnokamensk municipal district of Perm Territory 
and Sakhalin region.
The video surveillance system covered 640
Precinct Election Commissions, its performance 
makes it possible to connect 25 mln people with 
60 thou. simultaneous views of images from 
a single camera. Two surveillance cameras are 
installed at each polling station. Surveillance tools 
are installed in such a way as to avoid violating

the secrecy of voting, and there was no
possibility of control over the will of the
voters. The decision to focus video cameras
is made by the Chairman of the Precinct Election 
Commission in accordance with applicable law.

State target program "Information Society"
developed for the period 2011-2020 includes the
creation of a single portal of public and municipal
services (functions), development of a common
electronic signature confidence space, system of
interagency electronic interaction, development of
a unified system of identification and 
authentication. 

Rostelecom is also engaged in the development 
of mechanisms to use mobile devices to access 
E-government services, as well as the state e-mail 
system, which will be used for the interaction of 
citizens with government bodies. 

In 2015, Rostelecom launched a new beta version 
of a unified portal of public and municipal services
(UPPS). The average monthly traffic was 7.5 mln
unique users, 38.2 mln pages viewed per year.
The most demanded are traffic police fine payment
service, viewing the tax debt, availability of the 
enforcement proceedings in the Federal Service of
Court Bailiffs, as well as order of the foreign travel
passport and information about customer 

E-government

E-government operation and
development:

• Access throughtout Russia
• Ensuring cooperation between all authorities 

concerned
• Full support and maintenance of the system 

fault tolerance

22.5 mln
people

+ 73%
y-o-y

+ 15% 
y-o-y

12.5 thou.
organizations

accounts in the state pension insurance system.
The strategic aim of E-government project
implemented in 2013-2018 is the formation
of a new market of public services to citizens, 
businesses and public authorities in electronic form 
and occupying the dominant position in this niche 
as a global service provider. 

The project on creation of a single national 
infrastructure operator to provide E-government 
service" would lead to improved efficiency of public 
administration and quality of public and municipal 
services through the use of information technology.

Geodata services

“Geodata Information System” (GIS) solution is 
in-house development of Rostelecom.
This application software using open source
software (OSS) and the Russian developments
allowing to quickly create informationanalytical
and geo-information services for the government 
authorities at all levels and business organizations 
based on the principles of cloud computing and 
service-oriented architecture.

In 2015, as part of the creation of “Geodata 
Information System” (GIS) solution (SIGDS IS) the 
following works were perfomed:

• development of specialized software SIGDS IS;
• integration of regional geoportals with  

SIGDS IS;
• integration of SIGDS IS with mapping service 

of Sputnik search engine.

When designing SIGDS IS the Company used
solutions that enable by increasing computing
capacity of facilities that area part of a control
computer system to ensure the further 
development of the system without its cardinal
redesigning. 

Applied technical solutions (application servers, 
database servers, mapping application servers, 
web-servers) enable to increase the system 
performance and the volume of information 
processed by clustering and load balancing.
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Industrial  Internet of Things

The Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) is a kind of 
the Internet of Things (IoT), a concept of the
computer network of complex physical machines, 
industrial facilities, logistics systems, security 
systems equipped with sensors and integrated with 
intellectual systems considering the organization 
of such networks as a phenomenon capable of 
rebuilding economic and production processes, 
excluding the need for human intervention from 
the part of actions and operations, and facilitating 
an increase in labour productivity and production’s 
competitiveness and the growth of enterprises’ and 
states’ economics as a whole.

This area has an enormous potential in sectors 
such as mechanical engineering, energy 
engineering, logistics and transport, agriculture, 
health care and many others. According to 
estimates and plans of the world service giants 
(including foreign TV companies), the sector of 
the Industrial Internet of Things and the Industrial 
Internet is not merely a strategically important 
segment among others, - it is also one of the most 
rapidly growing industries.

BIG DATA

IQMen Business Intelligence

In 2015, Rostelecom acquired a 75 % stake in 
IQMen Business Intelligence, the developer of 
the platform for Big Data mining.
The IQ technological platform will be used for 
the development of financial and industrial data
processing services. According to analysist, the 
Big Data market capacity will increase from 
RUB 28 bln in 2015 to RUB 164 bln by 2020.

Sputnik Search Engine

The project is intended for the development of 
a special purpose Sputnik search engine. 
All infrastructure of a search engine is located 
within the Russian Federation. A safe and fast 
search engine enables children protection from 
potentially hazardous contents of the Internet, 
while providing adult population with an access 
to legal contents and information from trusted 
sources.
In 2015, Sputnik presented the first version 
of browsers for smartphones, tablets, OS 
Windows-based PCs. 

7372

∙   industry
∙   health care
∙   transportation services
∙   retail services
∙   public services

∙   data storage
∙   data mining
∙   device control

∙   sensors, transmitters, actuators, 
controllers

∙  local networks (Ethernet, Wi-Fi, 
ZigBee, Bluetooth)

∙  switches and routers 

Infrastructure of Industrial Internet of Things

Connected equipment

Data  
collection

Data  
transfer

IIoT  
platform

Applications

ROSTELECOM HAS
EVERYTHING 
TO USE
MARKET
OPPORTUNITIES

LARGEST  
HIGH-SPEED
NETWORK

DATA CENTRES  
AND BIG-DATA

Infrastructure of Industrial Internet of Things

2015-2020 CAGR1

Russian Market of Internet of Things, RUB bln

126

11

2015 2020F

63 %

Main areas of the development of the line of 
Sputnik browsers are:

• user security in the network and a ‘child-proof 
mode’ for underage users;

• access to information services and digital 
contents (news, online TV, online movies);

• access to Sputnik useful services (‘health care, 
my house, maps) and a single portal of public 
services.

In 2015, the portal’s audience has grown more 
than 5 times. In December 2015, over 3 mln 
people used Sputnik services.

Pay TV services
An Interactive TV service for legal entities 
is segmented into the following products: 
Interactive TV for office, Interactive TV for 
service sector, Interactive TV for hostels, 
Corporate TV.

1 Compound Annual Growth Rate

Back to p. 26
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B2O

Communication Services for Russian and 
International Operators

Rostelecom has over 30 cable border crossing 
points with communication operators of the 
neighboring states and direct connections with 
the networks of more than 200 operators from 
more than 70 countries of the world. 
The Company provides communication services 
to more than 2.5 thou. operators of fixed-line 
and mobile telephony, to Internet and content 
providers.

Rostelecom subscribers make over 150 mln calls 
every month; it is a huge traffic amounting 
to mlns of minutes. The objective of Rostelecom
is to direct it to the partner operators’ networks 
on beneficial terms providing a high quality of 
communication. For this purpose, Company’s 
employees interact on a daily basis not only with 
all communication operators in Russia, but also 
with more than 170 international partners.

We provide 800 Gb/s of transit channels. Main 
areas are the Transit Europe – Asia (TEA project), 
which connects Japan and China with Europe, 
and the project of transit between Central Asia, 
Souths Caucasus and Middle East states and 
Europe via North – South and EGEG (Europe 
Persia Express Gateway) transit directions. 
Over the last five years, the market share of 
Rostelecom has grown more than three times, 
to 15%, and the Company possesses about 70% 
of the market within the Transit Europe – Asia 
among all landline routes.

Interconnection and Traffic Transit Services

The service of getting connected to the network 
comprises the organization of interaction 
between the Company’s network and operators’ 
communication networks for traffic transit 
between them. 

The Company renders interconnection and voice 
traffic transit services at the local, interurban and
international interconnection level to more than 
2,300 Russian and foreign operators of fixed-line 
and mobile communication.

In 2015, Rostelecom actively fought against 
illegal traffic, i.e. traffic coming to or from the 
Rostelecom’s network in violation of the current 
regulations and/or laws. The Company regularly 
introduced new technical means and solutions 
to detect and prevent illegal traffic, updated 
contract terms and conditions, and interacted 
with operators, including litigation.
The result of this work was an increased margin 
of traffic transit services.

Making Communication Channels Available for 
Use

In 2015, Rostelecom took a leading position in 
the market of making digital assigned channels 
available for use within the entire territory of 
the Russian Federation and abroad. Main users 
of these services are corporate clients and 
communication operators.

Data Transfer Services

In 2015, while expanding its business, Rostelecom
gave special priority to the development of 
data transfer and telematics services, including 
Internet access services, the organization 
of private virtual networks and data centres.

As the largest operator at the trunk level, we can 
provide a very important service to clients, which 
is traffic monitoring and the protection against 
DDoS attacks. DDoS attacks are one of the most 
common ways to block the operation of websites 
and services provided via the Internet. 
The service is available since 2012 and is 
subject to annual performance tests within such 
projects as the Uniform State Exam or the live 

broadcast nationwide phone-in conference with 
the President of the Russian Federation. We 
provide a steady support to solutions accepted at 
the state level as part of the concept of national 
information security. 
At the same time our services are commercially 
successful in the B2B market. We protect the 
platforms hosting game servers among other 
things, as well as bank resources, registers, 
TV channels, e.g. VGTRK (All-Russian State 
Television and Radio Broadcasting Company).

Cable Line Communication Facilities (CLCF)

Rostelecom has a unique resource, a well-
developed system of cable line communication 
facilities and infrastructure.
This resource is intended not only for the 
development of the Rostelecom’s network, but 
also is actively used by operators, including the 
construction of own communication networks 
and servicing of the clients’ needs.

Unfortunately, it is not an uncommon situation
when unauthorized equipment and communication
cables are placed in the Company’s facilities 
under improperly formalized contractual relations.
Regular inventory taking, negotiations with 
counterparties on a voluntary legalization 
of using cable infrastructure (amnesties, etc.) are 
conducted in order to reconcile discrepancies). 
Also the Company applies the programs of 
employee incentives aimed at finding and 
resolving of discrepancies. The result of these 
activities for Rostelecom was a receipt of 
additional income of RUB 370 mln in 2015.

Maintenance and Emergency Recovery 
Operations

In 2015, Rostelecom launched the pilot project 
for maintenance and emergency recovery 
operations in communication lines of the third-
party operators using efforts of employees of 

the Technical Division. For the Company, this is 
new market segment, new source of income, 
and experience that enables strengthening and 
extending the cooperation with operators.

Our partners are interested in a large reliable 
provider of services with a wide geographical 
footprint. Moreover, operators’ linear routes are, 
as a rule, intercrossed; that is why Rostelecom 
can maintain its own networks and clients’ 
networks in parallel, almost with no increase in 
the staff headcount.

Being backed by our own human resources and 
technical capabilities, we have made a confident 
step into the project early 2015, and within the 
year we have accepted for maintenance about 
30 thou. kilometres of cables of the third-party 
communication operators. Today, the project 
encompasses 13 regions in the Volga River basin; 
it involves all Big Four communication operators: 
MTS, VimpelCom, Megafon, Tele2 Russia.
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CHALLENGING TARGETS IN CLIENT SERVICE

Growth of Net Promoter Score

NPS in Broadband Internet NPS in Pay TV

NPS Drivers

2015 20152014 2014Target Target

-4

11

22

6

35 38

Reliability Attractive
pricing Client serviceConfidence

in brand

7776

COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAM OF CLIENT 
SERVICE QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

In 2015, the operation of client committees 
was organized in all regional divisions in order 
to promote the Company’s client focus with 
participation of all divisions of the Company. 
Thanks to a multifaceted approach to reviewing 
provision of services, the improvement of client 
service has begun, involving changes in the 
system of out-of-order equipment acceptance: it 
is replaced upon the subscriber’s verbal request by 
a specialist of Rostelecom while visiting a house. 
A client does not have to come to the service 

centre to replace failed or damaged equipment. 
In addition to client committees, a survey of client 
satisfaction was arranged in the contact centre, 
and the process of clients’ retention was launched 
based on the results of Smart Spy system. 
The retention based on this predictor is 80 % on 
average. SLAs were approved.

Key Performance Indicators 2013 2014 2015 Target

3rd line technical support

Repeated calls, % 19 10 8 10

Calls resolved within control time, % 14 61 82 90

2nd line technical support

Repeated calls, % 15–25 15 13 15

Customer issue average handle, h 50–20 8 2 3

Tickets resolved remotely, % 25–40 50 40 50

Control time, h 48 24

Controlled perimeter, number of cities 35 75 100

The Company analyses the best practice client 
service and implements the advanced standards of
subscribers servicing (SLA). First of all, this involves 
the speed of connection to services, the time of
reaching the help desk by phone, etc.
In 2015, the level of clients outflow went down by 
9 % and by 16 % in terms of broadband Internet 
and Interactive TV, respectively, compared to 2014. 
About 1.3 mln clients were retained. 

A new structure was introduced to manage B2B 
segment clients, where the units were allocated 
for servicing corporate clients; a single number 
(8 800 200 3000) was launched to support B2B 
clients.
The level of service satisfaction is 87 %. The level 
of clients’ problems resolution (FCR) is 82 % in
technical support.

Best-in-Class 
Customer Care

Service channels were balanced:
• voice traffic in the contact centre was reduced 

by 2.4 %;
• the share of self-service channels was 

increased by: SPA (single personal account) 
3 %, MPA (mobile personal account) 3 %, IVR 2 %;

• the system of client support in social media 
was arranged across the entire country.

Back to p. 37
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Personnel structure by function, 
thou. people

20142013 2015

150
159165

Technical Division

Other

Commercial Division

Administrative Division

SEGMENT DEVELOPMENT MODEL

The Company embarked on implementing a new 
market strategy, which underpinned the long-term
business model.
In 2015, in order to implement this model successfully, 
Rostelecom has completed the first stage of
transition to the segment regional model, when each 
client segment (B2C, B2B/B2G and B2O) operates
in a separate financial and marketing area.
This enables improving the Company’s client service 
quality in general and provides transparency while
evaluating each segment’s performance.
Moreover, the maximum speed of responding to 
changes in market environment will be achieved,
which is critical in the period when new markets and 
product solutions are formed.
Changes were mainly introduced in the Company’ 
commercial, technical and IT divisions. Also,
technical and IT divisions are being integrated, which 
enables achieving better quality of services
provided by the Company.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

Rostelecom experienced a challenging way from an 
integration of individual regional companies to the
national communication operator. It took several 
years to develop shared corporate values and
standards. In the mid-term, the Company will 

Organisational 
Transformation

CRM: DEVELOPMENT OF SALES SUPPORT 
AND CUSTOMER SERVICE SYSTEMS

In 2015, CRM was developed:
• CRM follow-up development was completed 

to provide technical support to new products 
(All-in-One Communication Service, Wi-Fi, 
Wargaming, OTT telephony, e-commerce).

• In 2015, more than 300 follow-up develop-
ments of the existing function were completed 
in all macro regions.

• Geographic coverage of CRM services was 
expanded.

GUARANTEE OF HIGH QUALITY OF  
COMMUNICATION SERVICES

While offering the existing communication services 
to clients and developing new telecommunication
services, Rostelecom traditionally pays significant 
attention to the level of quality of its products in 
order to provide for their competitive advantage 
in the market. Since 2006, the Company applies 
the quality management system in line with 
requirements of ISO 9000 standards.

Based on the results of recertification, the 
following certificates were obtained:

• Russian certificate of compliance with 
requirements of the national GOST ISO 
9001-2011 (ISO 9001:2008) standard;

• International certificate of compliance with 
requirements of ISO 9001:2008 standard 
issued by the international AFNOR Certifica-
tion group of companies;

• International certificate of compliance with 
requirements of ISO 9001:2008 standard 
issued by the international IQNet certification 
network.

continue implementing new management tools
successfully applied by the leading companies. 
In view of updating the business strategy through
transformation of the Company’s organizational 
and corporate structure, the Company creates
the internal environment, where employees can 
complete their tasks and make qualified decisions 
to the maximum effect. The near-term priority is 
to create more opportunities for employees. 
Rostelecom pays Rostelecom is particularly focused 
on staff training and development.
The Company implemented the training system 
with main components being the corporate 
university, the institute of internal coaches 
and the corporate system of remote learning. 
New employees are involved in the system of 
mentorship and adaptation. The system of career
planning has been developed and the Succession 
Pool program has been put in place to enable 
filling the major part of vacancies at the expense 
of in-house resources. With the help of modern
crowdsourcing platforms, each employee can take 
part in joint finding of solutions and propose his/
her own idea to optimize business processes.
Rostelecom was one of the first companies in 
Russia, which started providing a systemic support 
to laid-off employees.
The support is provided at all stages as part of the 
staff outplacement program, including searching of
new jobs in other divisions if a vacancy is available, 
and even in other companies.
Today, the corporate culture of Rostelecom is 
underpinned by two strategic principles of the 
Company being the efficiency and the client 
focus. They were represented in the adopted 
Code of Corporate Conduct of PJSC Rostelecom’s 
employees.

Validity of certificates covers the quality management
system across the entire Company with respect 
to design, development and provision of 
telecommunication and broadcasting services; 
design and construction of capital facilities; 
activities involving the use of computer equipment 
and information technologies.

Availability of certified services of Rostelecom 
is another proof of the fact that the Company
renders telecommunication services with a 
guaranteed high quality meeting consumers’ 
requirements and technical regulations and 
standards.

Over 300 follow-up
developments of the existing
function were completed in all

macro regions

Back to p. 27



Company's Profile Strategic Report Result Overview
Financial 

Performance Overview Corporate Governance
For Shareholders 

and InvestorsAnnual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT

2.5

8180

2014 20152012 2017F2014 2016F2013 2018F2015
Revenue per employee, 
RUB mln

Average staff headcount,
thou. people

173.9 165.1
158.8

8.5

1.7
1.8 1.9 2.0

11.8

16.5

19.0

149.9

Cumulative effect of operating efficiency
improvement, RUB bln

Staff headcount and revenue per employee2

Subject  Outcome

Appraisal Create a regular appraisal cycle using created tools (appraisal calculator) in line with business requirements

Labour remuneration
Develop a system of employee’s remuneration by creating the system of incentives to achieve extra results, 
and by developing and creating targeted programs of staff incentives. Improve transparency and awareness 
of available incentive systems.

Social policy

Expand the corporate housing program
Increase the scope of health resort treatment provided to employees
Cooperate with a larger number of partner companies
Promote the outplacement program
Increase the number of client employees of the Company

Training
Arrange regular training in line with the appraisal result and business requirements
Adhere to the targeted training principle

Corporate culture and
awareness

Provide communication programs for mid- and top-level managers
Host targeted awareness campaigns
Monitor regularly and support the corporate culture, develop/correct its
individual components

Recognition
Develop recognition programs based on the system of corporate bonuses and expert associations
Form and develop expert associations to share and retain the key professional expertise

Operating Efficiency 
Improvement

In 2014, the Company has developed the Program 
of operating efficiency improvement (until 2018); 
this is one of the most important steps in building 
the reliable model of modern business. In 2015, 
the Company has successfully implemented the 
program and managed to outstrip essentially the 

planned target: the cumulative effect of program 
implementation was RUB 8.5 bln at the end of 
2015, while the ‘revenue per employee’ indicator 
rose to RUB 2 mln. Due to the implementation of 
this program the aggregate saving will amount up 
to RUB 19 bln cumulative by 2019.

PRIORITIES IN HUMAN RESOURCES  
MANAGEMENT

A large -scale restructuring of the core business 
was facilitated by optimizing the management 
system in all divisions. The key focus is to increase 
staff performance through the creation of 
necessary conditions to achieve success and raise 
the level of employees’ engagement. Rostelecom 
builds a strong corporate culture and the team, 
where people understand each other well at all 
levels.
In 2015, Rostelecom started implementing 
the second stage of the long-term Staff 
Transformation program in order to improve the 
operating efficiency of its business. 

Efforts were aimed at two drivingforce projects:
• develop employees’ competences necessary 

for the development of new products and 
technical infrastructure upgrade;

• raise the level of engagement of Company’s 
employees from 38 %1 to average values 
within Russia (59 %) and within the sector (60 %). 

As part of the transformation program, a set of 
actions has been implemented in the area of 
tangible incentives, social security, professional 
development, staff training, employees’ 
awareness, and support of the corporate culture of 
Rostelecom.

The most significant projects included in the 
program are:

1. Staff efficiency improvement
The main focus of this project is to optimize 
operations of technical and administrative 
staff at the expense of decreasing the level of 
management, transformation of the network 
infrastructure and IT systems, balance approach to 
outsourcing, and performance improvement at the 
expense of higher employees’ engagement. Based 
on the result of 2015, the average staff headcount 
has decreased by 6 % with a 5 % increase in output 
per employee compared to 2014.

2. Rural communication systems upgrade
Within this project it is assumed to replace 
obsolete equipment and copper communication 
networks with optical access technologies 
and wireless broadband Internet solutions, 
which enables reducing the cost of leasing and 
maintaining buildings and the cost of service, 
and decreasing the number of emergencies in 
the network.

3. Sales and service networks optimization
The main effect of this project will be the less 
than half reduction in the number of sales and 
service points, combined with the growth of 
remote sales and service channels’ share. This 
enables reducing the cost of sales and service 
points’ maintenance and cutting the staff cost.

1 Results of the survey of employees’ engagement in PJSC Rostelecom, AXES Management, AON Hewitt, 2014 2 Note: Continuing operations data.

Back to p. 27, 38
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PROCUREMENT

CONSOLIDATION OF PROCUREMENT AND 
LOGISTICS FUNCTIONS:

• all procurement procedures are carried out in 
an open way through e-tenders;

• implementation of the balanced system of 
authorities allocation;

• implementation of the procurement strategy 
and logistics strategy as a single strategy of 
supply chain;

• optimization of the logistics network and 
warehouse facilities pursuant to the supply 
strategy;

• changed approaches to inventory and material 
flows management.

ENVIRONMENTAL SAFETY

Rostelecom sees the activity aimed at protecting of 
environment as an integral part of its day-to-day
business, being fully aware of the need to maintain 
the ecological balance and ensure the stable social
and economic development.

The company adheres to the environmental policy 
aimed at the rational use of natural resources,
minimizing the damage to environment resulting 
from the Company’s operations, and maintaining
prosperous environment for future generations.
Internal rules and regulations governing various 
aspects in the area of environmental safety are
executed by production supervision functions.
They control the volume of waste water discharge, 
the volume of waste transferred to special purpose
organizations for disposal and decontamination, 
and landfilling in solid waste dumps.

Assigned employees are trained in environmental 
safety every five years and have certificates of
qualification upgrade.

Refer to Appendix ‘Actual Results of Compliance 
with Orders and Instructions of the President 
of the Russian Federation and Instructions of 
the Government of the Russian Federation’ for 
information on fuel and energy resource used 
in 2015.

Indicator 2012 2013 2014 2015

Saving, RUB mln (all procurements) 3,549 16,218 16,765 24,914

Saving, % (competitive) 4.7 16.5 13.1 20.3 

Saving, % (all, including sole supplier) 3.5 10.3 9.8 13.9 

Number of procurements/lots (total) 6,124 6,245 8,525 7,761

Highly competitive (over 4 bidders), % 1.5 14.2 17.7 27.2 

66

48 31 26 15

34

52
59 61 65

10 13
20

Local
Centralized

Local under control

4. Centralization of network control centres
Key goals of this project include the improvement 
of subscribers’ service quality (SLA), and the
reduction in overhead and staff costs. 
Implemented measures include the reduction 
of employed staff headcount by half, lowering 
the number of control centres from 67 to 7, the 
unification of equipment monitoring systems and 
the increase in the share of controlled equipment 
to 90 %.

5. Optimization of contact centres
Contact centres’ optimization is aimed at improving 
the quality of client service combined with the
associated decrease in staff and premises lease 
costs.

THE COMPANY PURSUES IMPROVING THE EFFICIENCY OF PROCUREMENTS, 
IN PARTICULAR THROUGH RAISING THE LEVEL OF COMPETITION WITHIN BIDDING 
PROCEDURES.
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THE COMPANY MANAGED TO COMPLY WITH ITS MARKET FORECAST FOR 2015 
IN TERMS OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS. BROADBAND INTERNET, PAY TV AND VAS 
SEGMENTS AND CLOUD SERVICES CONTINUED TO DEMONSTRATE A SUSTAINED 
GROWTH, WHILE SUPPORTING A STABLE LEVEL OF REVENUE IN DIFFICULT 
MACROECONOMIC CONDITIONS. TIGHTENED CONTROL OF EXPENSES AND 
OPTIMIZATION PROJECTS ENABLED TO MAINTAIN A HIGH LEVEL OF OIBDA MARGIN 
AND TO GENERATE A SIGNIFICANT FREE CASH FLOW.

"Financial outcome 2015 indicate that we managed to achieve many things: in 2015, we have
essentially increased profits of the digital segment, having extended its share to 40 % in 
revenue; we have done a lot of work to reduce costs, and we managed to increase net income 
and generate significant cash flow, which amounted to RUB 22 bln.
As a result, we have fully met our forecast for 2015 with respect to all main indicators: 
revenue, capital expenditure and OIBDA margin, where we managed to come closer to the top 
limit of the range. We expect that in 2016 revenue will grow by 1–2 %, OIBDA will remain at 
the level of 2015, and capital expenditure will amount to less than 19 % of revenue (without 
the BDD project)", said Kai-Uwe Mehlhorn, Senior Vice President – Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) of Rostelecom.

Financial Highlights
Revenue, RUB mln

Capital expenditure, RUB mln

OIBDA, RUB mln, and OIBDA 
margin, %

Net income, RUB mln, and net
income margin, %

2013 2014 2015 2015 vs. 2014, %

Revenue, RUB mln 290,736 298,937 297,355 -0,5

OIBDA, RUB mln 104,148 102,467 100,839 -2

% of revenue 35.8 34.3 33.9 -

Operating income, RUB mln 45,234 39,994 38,586 -4

% of revenue 15.6 13.4 13.0 -

Net income, RUB mln 26,686 13,182 14,391 9

% of revenue 9.2 4.4 4.8 -

Capital expenditure, RUB mln 52,894 53,810 62,726 17

% of revenue 18.2 18.0 21.1 -

Net debt, RUB mln 207,884 171,135 173,670 1

Net debt/OIBDA, % 2.0 1.7 1.7 -

FCF1, RUB mln 18,847  27,313  21,961 -20

290,736 298,937 297,355

2013 2014 2015

2013 2014 2015

2013 2014 2015

Free cash flow (FCF), RUB mln

21,961

2013 2014 2015

18,847

27,313

100,839

33.934.335.8

104,148
102,467

2013 2014 2015

14,391

26,686

13,182

4.8
4.4

9.2

52,894 53,810 62,726

2013 2014 2015

21.1
18.018.2

Debt burden, RUB mln

Net debt/OIBDANet debt

1.71.7
2.0

207,884
171,135 173,670

1 Consolidated indicator

Operating expenses, RUB mln

2013 2014 2015

245,502
258,943 258,769
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Detailed revenue, RUB mln 2014 2015 2015 vs. 2014, %

By service

Broadband Internet 60,364 63,880 6 

TV services 15,250 19,368 27 

Fixed-line telephony 109,710 99,105 -10 

Wholesale services 77,895 79,021 1 

Channel lease 11,758 11,714 0 

Interconnection and traffic transit 33,177 34,717 5 

VPN 19,711 19,711 0 

Telecommunication infrastructure lease and service 13,248 12,879 -3 

Additional and cloud services 11,384 13,468 18 

Other telecommunication services 16,554 14,499 -12 

Other non-telecommunication services 7,780 8,014 3 

21+7+5+4+63+D 22+7+7+4+60+D2014 2015

21 22

63 60
4

5

7

4

7

7
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Key factors of changes in revenue based on results 
2015 were:
• higher revenue from TV services rendering 

at the expense of increased consumption of 
VoD services and higher ARPU;

• higher income for Broadband Internet at the 
expense of increasing the subscribers’ base;

• growth of income from additional and cloud 
services related to an increase of income 
from cloud services, data centres and the 
development of sector service projects, 
including Safe City services;

• higher income from interconnection and 
traffic transit services, mainly due to the 
growing demand for interconnection and 
traffic transit services provided to other 
operators;

• lower income from fixed-line telephony 
resulting from the changed end users’ 
preferences in relation to the method of 
making calls.

Key factors of changes in revenue in relation to 
client segments based on results 2015 were:
• lower income from telephony (B2C), which 

is not completely compensated by selling 
services of the growing sectors (Broadband 
Internet, Pay TV);

• higher income in B2G segment due to 
successful start of the implementation of Safe 
City projects in some regions of the Russian 
Federation;

• negative trends of revenue in B2B segment 
resulting from expenses optimization by 
clients in the corporate segment, as well as 
re-connection of small businesses as B2C 
clients due to the current macroeconomic 
situation.

In 2015, the method of accounting income from communication services has been changed. In this connection data up to and including 2013 are not comparable.

Revenue Structure 
by Product

Revenue Structure 
by Segment

Revenue structure by segments, RUB mln 2014 2015 2015 vs. 2014, % 

B2C 136,345 134,482 -1 

B2B 55,696 54,598 -2 

B2G 48,804 50,940 4 

B2O 58,092 57,335 -1 

Increase of digital services share in revenue, %

TV services

OtherBroadband Internet

Additional and cloud services

VPN

Digital and content services
share in revenue 2015 grew 

to 40 %
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105.4 102.5
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OIBDA 

2013 2014 2015 2015 vs. 2014, %

Operating expenses, RUB mln (245,502) (258,943) (258,768) -0,1 

Wages, other benefits and social expenditures (85,798) (89,929) (91,081) 1 

Including option program 0,000 (1,850) (1,654) -11 

Depreciation allowances and noncurrent assets impairment loss (58,914) (60,623) (60,599) 0,0 

Communication operator service expenses (42,420) (47,429) (49,825) 5 

Materials, repairs and maintenance, utilities (26,260) (25,828) (25,125) -3 

Gain/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 111 1,475 2,133 45 

Doubtful debt expenses (2,094) (2,006) (882) -56 

Other operating income 15,228 12,950 14,630 13 

Other operating expenses (45,355) (47,553) (48,020) 1 

Operating expenses in 2015 almost has not 
changed. The following factors had an impact on 
operating expenses in 2015:

• higher communication operators service 
expenses mainly due to respective growth of 
income from the services of traffic transit from 
other operators via the Company’s networks, 
as well as growing content expenses related to 
an increase in the Pay TV subscribers’ base;

• higher staff expenses due to the annual 
indexation of employees’ wages, which was 
partially compensated by the optimization of 
staff headcount;

• higher other operating expenses, also due to 
growing compensation under the BDD project;

• a 45% increase in income from disposal of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets, as well as lower doubtful debt reserve. 
Refer to p. 81 for more detail about the 
Operational Efficiency Improvement program.

OIBDA margin in 2015, % OIBDA trends in 2015, RUB bln

2014 
total

2014 
total

2014
continuing
operations

2014
continuing
operations

Revenue RevenuePayroll PayrollMaterials
and

repair

Materials
and

repair

Other
income

and
expenses

Other
income

and
expenses

2015 2015Inter-
connect

expenses

Inter-
connect

expenses

33.9 33.934.3

-2.4

-0.8 +0.2 +1.0

+3.0+0.7
-1.3

-0.5

-1.6

-0.3
100.8

DebtOperating Expenses

Total debt, RUB bln Total debt structure
by repayment (without %), RUB bln

Total debt structure
by type of rates, %

Total debt structure
by currency, %

Total debt structure
by type of instrument, %

190.9

61.2
57.4

38.8
1.4

186.6

26.4

2014 2016 2017 2018 20192015 2020 and
after

82+13+5+D 76+19+5+D98+2+D
Key Other Bonds

Fixed RUB Loans

Floating Other

82 7698

13 19
5 5

2

2013 2014 2015 2015 vs. 2014, %

Net debt, RUB mln 207,884 171,135 173,670 1 

Net debt/OIBDA LTM 2.0 1.7 1.7

9190
Back to p. 36
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The development of good corporate governance 
practices is one of the Company management 
team’s priority tasks. The effectiveness 
of Rostelecom’s corporate governance is 
underpinned by a stable system of relations within 
the Company, which ensures the balance between 
economic and social goals, as well as between the 
interests of the Company, its shareholders and its 
other stakeholders.
The Company’s day-to-day corporate governance 
practices are in line with the best local and 
international standards and comply with the 
recommendations of independent rating agencies 
and corporate governance consultants in the area 
of improving such practices. Compliance with 

the highest standards of corporate governance 
and disclosure guidelines enables Rostelecom to 
build trust and confidence among the Company’s 
stakeholders, it increases the efficiency of its 
managerial decision-making, which in turn leads 
to the increased investment attractiveness of the 
Company in the long-run.

Corporate Governance 
Framework

9594

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Corporate Governance Structure

In accordance with the Rostelecom Charter, the 
governing bodies of the Company are as follows:

• The General Meeting of Shareholders – 
Rostelecom’s supreme governing body;

• The Board of Directors, elected by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders to oversee the 
strategic development of the Company;

• The President (CEO) and the Management 
Board, appointed by the Board of Directors 
to manage the Company’s day-to-day 
operations. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

President

Management Board

Corporate
Secretary

Audit Committee

Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Strategy Committee

Investment Committee

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Board of Directors

General Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Audit Commission

External Auditor

Chief Auditor

Internal Audit 
Structure

Risk Managing 
Structure

Chief Risk
Manager

Governing Bodies Controlling Bodies

elects

elects

appoints

creates

appoints

is administratively 
subordinated to

are administratively
subordinated to

arranges 
operations

elects

report to

report to

directsdirects

prepare 
recommendations

report to

report to

approves
confirms accuracy 

of accounting
statements

report to
 Audit Committee
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The Board of Directors determines the 
Company’s development strategy and is 
responsible for providing general guidance in 
between General Meetings of Shareholders, 
except those powers which are considered the 
exclusive authority of the General Shareholders’ 
Meetings according to the Federal Law “On 
Joint Stock Companies”. The Company’s Charter 
and Regulations on the Board of Directors 
set out the Board of Directors’ duties and 
responsibilities in more detail.

The Board of Directors’ general responsibilities 
are formulation and advancement of business 
and operational objectives of Rostelecom Group; 
protection of rights and lawful interests of 
shareholders; ensuring completeness, reliability 
and objectivity of public information about the 
Company. In its activities, the Board of Directors is 
guided by the following principles:

• contribution to the development of the 
Company, and attainment of competitive 
advantages of its business and personnel 
development;

• decision-making based on reliable information 
about the Company’s operations;

• ensuring that the Company is operating in line 
with the long-term interests of the sharehold-
ers; and that shareholders receive all relevant 
information on the Company’s operations;

• attainment of the balance of interests of 
various groups of the shareholders, and 
approval by the Board of Directors of the 
most sound resolutions in the interests of all 
shareholders of the Company;

• any irremediable ambiguity in the rules 
provided by laws and regulations shall be 
construed by the Board of Directors in favour 
of expansion of the rights and lawful interests 
of the shareholders.

In accordance with the Corporate Governance 
Code approved by the Bank of Russia on 21 March 
2014, as well as the listing rules of Moscow Stock 
Exchange, the following directors are recognized by 
the Company as independent directors:

1. Ruben Aganbegyan;
2. Alexander Auzan;
3. Anatoly Milyukov;
4. Vadim Semenov.

In accordance with the Company’s Charter, the 
Board of Directors shall carry out a review aimed 
at assessing compliance of members of the 
Board of Directors with independence criteria and 
approve their status as independent directors. 
At its meeting on 8 October 2015, the Board of 
Directors evaluated the abovementioned members 
of the Board against the independence criteria 
set forth in the Corporate Governance Code and 
reaffirmed their independence status.
The key responsibility of independent directors, 
that are not influenced by their relationship with 
executive bodies of the Company or certain 
shareholders, is to provide judgments fairly 
balancing interests of all stakeholders.

In addition, independent directors are responsible 
for overseeing the implementation of the decisions 
approved by the Board of Directors and foster 
improved corporate governance standards in the 
Company. The Board’s independent members 
also oversee the formation and work of the 
Committees of the Board of Directors, which are 
responsible for the development of the Company's 
Strategy, internal audit and control systems, and 
remuneration payable to the management team. 
The Committee’s tasks also include oversight of the 
Company’s relationship with auditors, as well as 
the audit and control bodies. In particular, the Audit 
Committee and Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of the Board of Directors elected in 
October 2015 include independent directors only.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is elected 
by members of the Board of Directors from 
among its members and may be re-elected at any 
time. The Board Chairman has a casting vote in 
the event of a tie vote.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors organises 
the work of the Board of Directors; convenes its 
meetings and absentee voting; takes all requisite 
measures to ensure that all members of the 
Board of Directors timely receive any information 
required for the approval of resolutions set forth 

in the agenda; chairs the meetings; if necessary, 
undertakes drafting decisions on agenda items 
under consideration; and ensures that minutes 
of any meeting and absentee voting of the Board 
of Directors are duly maintained. The Board 
Chairman is not entitled to delegate its functions 
to any other person.

Board Leadership The Board 
of Directors Effectiveness

9796

Chairman of the Board of Directors
and his role

Principles of the Board of Directors 
activities

Independent Directors and their roles

Induction to the Board
New members of the Board of Directors should 
carefully review all of the Company's internal 
documents regulating activities of the Board of 
Directors, as well as hold a series of meetings 
with members of the Management Board and 
representatives of the internal and external audit 

in order to gain information on the Company’s 
operations, its strategic plans; adopted practices 
of accounting and financial reporting, risk 
management system, internal control system, as 
well as other material aspects of the Company. 
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Kirill A. Dmitriev 
Born in 1975. 
Graduated from Stanford 
University. Experience in 
corporate finance, risk 
management, strategic 

management and corporate governance.
President of Icon Private Equity (2007-2011);
General Director of Russian Direct Investment 
Fund (RDIF) since 2011 
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2014.

Anton A. Zlatopolsky
Born in 1966.
Law degree from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University 
(1988). Experience in corporate 
finance, strategy, corporate 

governance and communications and media.
Director of Russia State Television (since 2006).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2011.

Sergei B. Ivanov, Chairman of 
the Board of Directors  
Born in 1953. 
Translation Department of 
the Philological Faculty of 
Leningrad State University, 

Higher Translation Courses of the KGB in Minsk. 
Experience in corporate finance, strategy, risk 
management, financial accounting, corporate 
governance and telecommunications.
Deputy Chairman of the Russian Government 
(2008-2011).
Chief of Staff of Presidential Administration of 
Russia since 2011.
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2015.

Sergey B. Kalugin
President, Chairman of the 
Management Board and 
member of the Board of 
Directors since 2013. 
Mr. S. Kalugin biography is set 

out in section “Executive Bodies” of the Annual 
Report.

Anatoly A. Milyukov
Born in 1972. 
Degree in Economics from 
Lomonosov Moscow State 
University (1994) and MBA 
from Harvard Business School 

(2001). Experience in corporate finance, strategy, 
risk management and corporate governance.
Successively Managing Vice President, First Vice 
President of OJSC Gazprombank (2006-2014).
Chairman of the Board of Directors of April Capital 
JSC (since 2014).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
June 2011.

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 
Born in 1966.
Degree in Economics from 
Moscow Finance Institute 
(Financial University under the 
Government of the Russian 

Federation) (1998), PhD in Economics. Experience 
in corporate finance, strategy, risk management, 
and corporate governance.
In 2009-2012 successively Director of Infrastructure,
Deputy Chairman of Vnesheconombank (VEB).
First Deputy Chairman of Vnesheconombank (VEB) 
(since 2012).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2014 (and in 2010-2011).

Members of the Board of Directors as at 
31 December 2015:

Ruben A. Aganbegyan 
Born in 1972.
Degree from Moscow State Law 
Academy. Experience in corporate 
finance, strategic management, 
and corporate governance.

In charge of OJSC MICEX-RTS (2010-2012), 
General Director of Otkritie Financial Corporation 
(2012-2013). 
General Director of OJSC Otkritie Holding since 2014.
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2013.

Alexander A. Auzan 
Born in 1954.
Graduated from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University, 
Department of Economics 
(1979). Doctor of Sciences in 

Economics, professor. Experience in corporate 
finance, strategic management and corporate 
governance. 
Head of the Department of Applied Institutional 
Economics, Department of Economics, 
Lomonosov Moscow State University since 
2002. Dean of the Department of Economics 
since 2013.
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2015.

9998

Composition and Election of the Board 
of Directors 
In accordance with the Company’s Charter, the 
Board of Directors consists of eleven members, 
elected annually at the Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting. The Board of Directors is 

guided by the Company's Charter and Regulations 
on the Board of Directors (version № 13) 
approved by the AGM on 15 June 2015 (Minutes 
№ 1 dated 17 June 2015).

Members of the Board of Directors
since 1 January 2015

until 15 June 2015
since 15 June 2015

Ruben A. Aganbegyan

Alexander A. Auzan

David Benello

Kirill A. Dmitriev

Anton A. Zlatopolsky

Sergey B. Ivanov (Chairman of the Board of Directors since 15 
June 2015)

Sergei B. Kalugin

Igor I. Kozlov

Mikhail Y. Lesin 

Anatoly A. Milyukov

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov

Alexander A. Pchelintsev

Vadim V. Semenov (Chairman up to 15 June 2015)

Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk

Persons who served on the Board of Directors in 2015
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Alexander A. Pchelintsev 
Born in 1970. 
Graduated from Irkutsk Institute 
of Economy and Plekhanov 
Russian Academy of Economics, 
PhD in Economics. Experience 

in corporate finance, strategy, risk management 
and corporate governance.
General Director of CJSC Gazprombank Asset 
Management (since 2006). 
Vice President since 2013 and then Executive Vice 
President since 2014 of Bank GPB (JSC).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2015 (and in 2013-2014).

Vadim V. Semenov
Born in 1965. 
Degree in Law from A.A. 
Zhdanov Leningrad State 
University. Experience in 
corporate finance, strategy, 
corporate governance and 

telecommunications.
General Director of OJSC Svyazinvest (2010-
2013);
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Avtodor 
(since 2013).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2011.

Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk
Born in 1984. 
Degree in Economics cum 
laude from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University, 
Department of Economics 
(2005). Experience in 

corporate finance, risk management, strategy and 
corporate governance.
Various positions in corporate finance in 

CJSC VTB Capital (2008-2012). Head of Property 
Management and Privatisation of the Largest 
Companies Division at the Federal Agency for State 
Property Management (FASPM) (2013-2016).
Member of Rostelecom Board of Directors since 
2014.

Committees of the Board 
of Directors

101100

For information about 
meetings held by the 
Committees of the Company 
Board of Directors see 
Appendix “Information 
on the meetings of the 
Board of Directors and its 
Committees” to this Annual 
Report.
(in Russian)

None of members of the Board of Directors 
except S. Kalugin held any interest in the charter 
capital of PJSC Rostelecom. For more details on 
the shares in the Company owned by S. Kalugin 
see section “Executive Bodies" of the Annual 
Report. For more details on the members of 
Rostelecom Board of Directors, see Appendix 
“The Company governing and controlling bodies” 
of the Annual Report.
No conflicts of interest of the above-mentioned 
members of the Board of Directors were found 
in 2015.

The following Committees of Rostelecom’s Board 
of Directors were established in order to improve 
corporate governance standards and address more 
complex, demanding closer scrutiny issues:
• Audit Committee;
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
• Strategy Committee;
• Corporate Governance Committee;
• Investment Committee.

The Board of Directors’ Committees are re-
elected annually. By reviewing matters that fall 
under their authority, the Committees conduct 
an in-depth analysis of proposed initiatives and 
provide the Board of Directors with advice and 
recommendation thus improving the quality of 
decisions made by the Company.
For the purposes of compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Code, on 8 October 2015, the Board 
of Directors approved revised Regulations on the 
Committees of the Board of Directors (Minutes № 9 
dated 9 October 2015). 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee makes recommendations 
and assists the Board of Directors with the 
analysis of financial statements and other related 
documents; as well as in various aspects of the 
internal control and risk management systems. In 
addition, the Committee oversees matters related 
to internal and external audit, accounting and 
financial statements.

Over the last year the Committee was particularly 
focused on improving the Company’s risk 
management program, as well as further 
improving the quality of internal audit and 
control. In March 2016, following a meeting 
with representatives of the Company’s external 
auditor, the Audit Committee acknowledged the 
effectiveness of the process for the external audit 
of the annual financial statements prepared in 
accordance with RAS and consolidated financial 

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS for 
the year 2015.

Composition of the Audit Committee until 
15 June 2015:
• Igor I. Kozlov;
• Mikhail Y. Lesin, Chairman of the Audit 

Committee;
• Anatoly A. Milyukov;
• Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov;
• Vadim V. Semenov.

Composition of the Audit Committee after 
8 October 2015:  
• Alexander A. Auzan, Independent Director;
• Anatoly A. Milyukov, Independent Director;
• Vadim V. Semenov, Independent Director, 

Chairman of the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for providing the Board of Directors 
with recommendations on remuneration and 
compensation of the Company President and 
top executive team as a whole, including the 
formulation of the criteria determining the 
compensation of the top managers and other 
employees of the Company. In addition, the 
Committee is responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s personnel policy. 

Composition of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee until 15 June 2015:
• Ruben A. Aganbegyan, Chairman of the 

Committee;
• Anton A. Zlatopolsky;
• Mikhail Y. Lesin.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

The Investment Committee was established 
with the purpose of improving the Company’s 
operational efficiency by ensuring that views of 
consumers are taken into account in realising the 
Company’s investment policy, also by ensuring 
transparency of decision-making in setting 
public telecommunications tariffs and approval of 
investment programmes and projects subject to 
regulation according to Federal Law №147-FZ 
“On Natural Monopolies” of 17 August 1995.

Composition of the Investment Committee since 
8 October 2015:
• Alexander A. Auzan, Independent Director, 

Chairman of the Committee;
• Oleg V. Byakhov;
• Sergey B. Kalugin.

In 2015, the Company Board of Directors held 40 
meetings, of which 3 were meetings with personal 
presence and 37 were absentee voting. 

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A meeting of the Board of Directors is convened 
by the Chairman of the Board of Directors on his/
her own initiative, or at the request of a member 
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Commission, 
external auditor or the President of the Company. 
The form of the Board’s meeting is determined by 
its initiator.
The quorum for a meeting of the Board of 
Directors, whether it is a meeting with personal 
presence or absentee voting and in respect of 
all matters falling within powers of the Board of 
Directors, consists of at least half of the elected 
Board members. Decisions of meetings of the 
Board of Directors are passed by a simple majority 
of votes.

Meetings of Rostelecom Board of Directors are 
held in accordance with an annual work plan 
approved for one corporate year. 
All materials pertaining to a meeting are made 
available more than 10 days prior to a meeting 
in person (or absentee voting) in order to ensure 
that the Board members have enough time to 
consider meeting materials. The Board members 
are presented with the opportunity to ask any 
questions and request any additional information 
on the meeting agenda items.
The Company’s Corporate Secretary provides 
quarterly performance reports to members 
the Board of Directors highlighting fulfilment of 
decisions passed by the Board of Directors in the 
reporting quarter.

Activities of the Board of Directors 
and its Committees in 2015

For information about 
meetings of the Board 
of Directors and its 
Committees see Appendix 
“Information on the 
meetings of the Board 
of Directors and its 
Committees” to this Annual 
Report posted on the 
Company website at http://
www.rostelecom.ru/ir/agm/
events/detail/2015/  
(in Russian)

Composition of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee since 8 October 2015:
• Ruben A. Aganbegyan, Independent Director, 

Chairman of the Committee;
• Anton A. Zlatopolsky, Independent Director;
• Vadim V. Semenov, Independent Director.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee is responsible for 
providing recommendations to the Board of 
Directors on business plan preparation, budget 
planning and asset acquisitions. In addition, the 
Committee ensures a constructive exchange of 
views on the long-term financial and strategic 
planning between top management and the Board 
of Directors.
In 2015, the Committee’s focus was on overseeing 
the realisation of the Company’s Strategy, in 
particular by making recommendations to the 
Board of Directors on the M&A transactions, IR 
activities and Dividend Policy. 

Composition of the Strategy Committee until 
15 June 2015:
• Ruben A. Aganbegyan;
• Kirill A. Dmitriev;
• Sergey B. Kalugin;
• Igor I. Kozlov;
• Kai-Uwe Mehlhorn;
• Anatoly A. Milyukov, Chairman of the 

Committee;
• Vadim V. Semenov;
• Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk;
• Maria V. Florentyeva.

Composition of the Strategy Committee since 
8 October 2015:
• Ruben A. Aganbegyan, Independent Director;
• Alexander A. Auzan, Independent Director;
• Sergey B. Kalugin;
• Anatoly A. Milyukov, Independent Director, 

Chairman of the Committee;

• Alexander A. Pchelintsev;
• Vadim V. Semenov, Independent Director;
• Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee is 
responsible for promoting good corporate 
governance practices within the Company, as 
well as improving the efficiency and quality of 
the Company Board of Directors’ activities and 
resolution of various corporate conflicts.

Composition of the Corporate Governance 
Committee until 15 June 2015:
• Kirill A. Dmitriev;
• Anton A. Zlatopolsky;
• Sergey B. Kalugin;
• Ekaterina S. Mironova;
• Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk, Chairman of the 

Committee.

Composition of the Corporate Governance 
Committee since 8 October 2015:
• Kirill A. Dmitriev;
• Anton A. Zlatopolsky;
• Sergey B. Kalugin;
• Alexander A. Pchelintsev;
• Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk, Chairman of the 

Committee.
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Attendance by members of Board of Directors at the meetings/participation in absentee voting of 
the Board of Directors and its Committees in 2015

Meetings/absentee voting of the Board of Directors, prior to the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 
of Shareholders held on 15 June 2015

Meetings/absentee voting of the Board of Directors, following the Annual General Shareholders’ 
Meeting held on 15 June 2015

(1) - number of physical presence meetings where a member of the Board of Directors participated by submitting opinions in writing.

Board of Directors Audit Committee Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Strategy Committee

Number of meetings in person/absentee voting 1 22 0 2 0 4 1 0

Ruben A. Aganbegyan 1 22 4 0

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 1 22 4

Sergey B. Kalugin 1 22 1

Anatoly A. Milyukov 1 22 2 1

Vadim V. Semenov 1 22 2

David Benello 0 0 1

Kirill A. Dmitriev 1(1) 22 1

Igor I. Kozlov 1(1) 22 2 1

Mikhail Y. Lesin 0 4 0 0

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 1(1) 21 2

Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk 1 21 1

Board of Directors Audit Committee Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Strategy Committee

Number of meetings in person/absentee voting 2 15 0 2 0 1 2 0

Ruben A. Aganbegyan 2 15 1 1 (1)

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 1 15

Sergey B. Kalugin 2 15 2

Anatoly A. Milyukov 2 15 2 1 2

Vadim V. Semenov 2 15 2 1 2

Sergei B. Ivanov 2 15

Kirill A. Dmitriev 2(2) 15

Alexander A. Auzan 2 15 1 2

Alexander A. Pchelintsev 2 15 2(1)

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 2(1) 15

Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk 2 15 1

ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS IN 2015 

During 2015, the Board of Directors efforts were 
focussed on creating the necessary conditions 
to ensure sustainable operations and future 
development of the Company, improve its 
investment attractiveness, maintain the effective 
control over management of its assets, over its 
investing and financial and operational activities, 
ensure improved performance and transparency 
of the internal management mechanisms, 
streamline the internal control system and 
observe the rights of shareholders. 
In January 2015, the Board of Directors 
approved Rostelecom’s Long-term Development 
Programme 2015-2019 aimed in the first 
place at the successful implementation of the 
Company’s Strategy, which was approved by the 
Board in December 2013.
In accordance with the strategy over the entire 
year the Board of Directors made a series of 
decisions designed both to maximise Rostelecom’s 
market share in traditional segments and 
accelerate revenue growth in new sectors, while 
increasing the Company’s market capitalisation. 
For instance, in April the Board of Directors 
approved the decision to consolidate 100 % of 
shares in OJSC Bashinformsvyaz – the main 
operator in fixed line communications market in 
the Republic of Bashkortostan. 
In May, the Board of Directors approved the 
acquisition of 100 % interest in the operating 
companies Interproekt LLC, Stolitsa LLC, Progress 
LLC and Orion LLC (FreshTel Group) as part 
of implementing the broadband business (BB) 
development strategy and further consolidating its 
position in the B2C segment.
In the summer of 2015, the Board of Directors 
authorised the creation of the Big Universal Mall 
Channel, based on a new Russian teleshopping 
channel caked BUM TV. To minimize risks 
associated with the project, Rostelecom 

collaborated with Korea's GS Home Shopping 
Inc., a major international player in the distance 
shopping market.
In April 2015, the Board of Directors approved the 
Company proposal to set up a corporate venture 
fund on the basis of one of its subsidiaries. 
The Fund will invest in non-controlling stakes 
in promising companies specialising in import 
substitution of equipment and software and 
investments in sectors complementary to and 
having synergy potential with Rostelecom’s 
business both in Russian and beyond, including 
new types of communications, internet-based 
services and cloud solutions.  
In 2015, the Board of Directors also supported 
the creation of a nationwide content storage and 
distribution network, including a geographically 
distributed network of data storage and 
processing centres (DCs) combining their channels 
of communication, traffic exchange points, content 
delivery systems, as well as systems of traffic 
management and protection against cyber-
attacks. The project is realised on the basis of 
SafeData, one of the major players in the market 
of commercial data centres, traffic exchange 
services and content delivery, through acquisition 
by Rostelecom of a controlling stake in SafeData 
Group. 
Furthermore, in early December the Board of 
Directors approved a new dividend policy within 
the framework of the Company’s new IR strategy 
considered by the Board’s Strategy Committee 
in April 2015 and aimed in the first place at 
improving the investment attractiveness of 
Rostelecom shares. 
During 2015, the Board of Directors paid special 
attention to improving risk management, internal 
audit and the Company’s control processes.
In particular, in January 2015, following a 
preliminary review and recommendations made 
by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors 
approved a risk management programme and 

For information about 
significant transactions 
made by PJSC Rostelecom 
in 2015 see Appendix “List 
of significant transactions 
completed by Rostelecom 
and its controlled entities” 
posted on the Company 
website at http://www.
rostelecom.ru/ir/agm/
events/detail/2015/ 
(in Russian)
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the plan of work of the internal audit department. 
In addition, during 2015, on a quarterly basis, 
the Board of Directors reviewed quarterly reports 
of the Chief Risk Manager and the Company's 
Internal Audit Department Director and evaluated 
the results of their work. 
A list containing significant transactions made by 
PJSC Rostelecom in 2015 and recognized as major 
transactions under the Federal Law “On Joint 
Stock Companies”, and related part transactions 
as well as major transactions completed in 2015 
by Rostelecom controlled entities is posted on the 
Company website at http://www.rostelecom.ru/ir/
agm/events/detail/2015/ as an Appendix to this 
Annual Report 2015 (in Russian). 

Evaluation of the Board of Directors 
performance
In accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporate Governance Code, responsibility for 
evaluating the work of the Board of Directors falls 
within the Board’s powers. The Company plans to 
evaluate performance of the currently operating 
Board of Directors prior to the Annual General 
Shareholders’ Meeting on results of 2015.

Corporate Secretary 
A special dedicated officer – the Corporate 
Secretary is designated in Rostelecom in order to 
comply with the procedures designed to ensure 
the rights and lawful interests of shareholders. 
Responsibilities of the Corporate Secretary include 
ensuring that the Company's bodies and senior 
officers follow corporate governance rules and 
procedures guaranteeing the rights and interests 
of Rostelecom and its shareholders; facilitating 
interaction between the Company and the Board 
of Directors; as well as organising the work of the 
Board of Directors and its Committees. 
The Corporate Secretary reports to the Board of 
Directors and is elected by a simple majority of 
votes cast by its members.
 

Rostelecom places high demands on the person 
elected to the position of the Corporate Secretary. 
In addition to possessing adequate knowledge to 
perform its duties, the Corporate Secretary must 
also have an impeccable reputation.
Ekaterina S. Mironova has been the Company’s 
Corporate Secretary since 2011. E. Mironova 
was born in 1981. In 2003 she graduated from 
the Tula State University specialising in linguistics 
and translation. From 2003 to 2011, prior to 
joining Rostelecom, Ekaterina was a Government 
Relations Manager at Megafon.

Accountability

Information Disclosure

The General Shareholders’ Meeting is the 
supreme governing body of the Company while 
the Board of Directors, the Audit Commission and 
its executive bodies directly accountable to the 

General Shareholders’ Meeting. The President and 
Management Board, as well as the Chief Auditor 
and Chief Risk Manager are accountable to the 
Board of Directors.

Rostelecom aims to increase its investment 
attractiveness by providing timely and accurate 
disclosure of material information about the 
Company activities in accordance with the Federal 
Law “On Joint-Stock Companies” of 26 December 
1995 № 208-FZ; the Federal Law “On Securities 
Market” of 22 April 1996 № 39-FZ; requirements 
and recommendations of the Central Bank of 
Russia (Regulations on information disclosure to 
be made by issuers of issued securities, Corporate 
Governance Code); listing requirements of Russian 
and foreign stock exchanges and trading platforms 
where the Company securities are traded; the 
Company’s Information Disclosure Policy and 
Insider Information Access Policy, Rules of Insider 
Information Confidentiality Protection and Control 
over Compliance with Requirements of Applicable 
Insider Information Law.

The Board of Directors establishes the rules of 
and approaches to information disclosures by 
approving the relevant internal documents. In 
2015, the Board of Directors approved a new 
issue (№ 2) of the Information Disclosure Policy of 
PJSC Rostelecom. 

The key objectives of the Policy are as follows:
• to improve transparency and build trust 

between the Company’s shareholders, 
securities holders, investors, creditors and 
other stakeholders and ensuring respect of 
their legal rights and legitimate interests;

• to improve the level of transparency and 
corporate governance at the Company;

• to identify the Company’s general information 
disclosure principles: 
a. establish principles of disclosing 

information about the Company in 
accordance with applicable law, rules and 
regulations; 

b. establish the principles of disclosing 
additional information aimed at improving 
the Company’s investment appeal ensuring 
information openness and transparency of 
the Company.
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The Internal Audit Department is functionally 
subordinate to the Board of Directors and 
collaborates in performing its duties with the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors. The Internal 
Audit Department reports on its activities to the 
Board of Directors and the Audit Committee. In 
accordance with “Guidelines for the organisation 
of Internal Audit in Joint-Stock Companies with 
state participation” issued by the Federal Agency 
for State Property Management (Order № 249 of 
4 July 2014), Rostelecom updated the Regulations 
on internal audit of 27 November 2015 (approved 
by the Board of Directors, Minutes № 12 of 
27 November 2015); and the Regulations on the 
Internal Audit Department of Head Office/

Macro regional branches (Order № 01/21/99-15 
of 7 December 2015).

The organizational structure of the Internal Audit 
Department (IAD) is as follows:

• Internal Audit Department of Head Office;
• Internal Auditor Departments of Macro 

regional branches: Centre, North-West, Volga, 
South, Ural, Siberia and Far East.

Basic principles of the Company’s information 
disclosure policy are:

• timely, consistent and prompt provision of the 
information; 

• accessibility, objectivity, completeness, 
accuracy and comparability of disclosed 
information; 

• equal rights of all stakeholders to obtain the 
information in compliance with all applicable 
law, rules and regulations; 

• information disclosure regardless of specific 
interests of separate individuals or groups; 

• reasonable balance between the Company’s 
transparency and protection of its commercial 
interests; 

• protection of confidentiality of the information 
which is state or trade secret in accordance 
with the Company’s internal documents;

• control over usage of the Insider Information.

The Company’s official website at www.rostelecom.ru
serves as the Company’s primary source of 
information disclosures where information is 
available in English and Russian languages; 
also information is disclosed in an electronic 
information disclosure system www.e-disclosure.ru.

As part of its investor relations programme, 
Rostelecom engages in a number of activities 
aimed at improving the Company’s transparency. 
These activities include distribution of press 
releases on the Company’s material facts and 
significant events; regular meetings of members 
of the Company Governing Bodies with investors 
and analysts; the organisation of roadshows and 
“one-on-one” meetings with investors; attending 
conferences held by investment banks; and 
quarterly conference calls discussing IFRS results 
and other significant events in the Company 
activities.

Internal Audit of the Company

The Chief Auditor is in charge of the Internal Audit 
Department which is functionally subordinate to 
the Company’s Board of Directors. In exercising 
its duties and responsibilities, the Department 
cooperates with the Audit Committee of the Board 
of Directors. The President of Rostelecom is 
responsible for the administrative control over the 
Chief Auditor.

In accordance with the Regulations on Internal 
Audit (versions № 4 and № 5), the Department’s 
main purpose is to provide an independent 
objective review and recommendations aimed at 
improving the Company’s operational efficiency. 
Efficiency is achieved by ensuring a common 
systematic and consistent approach to evaluating 
and improving the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control, risk management and corporate 
governance.

The responsibilities of the Internal Audit 
Department comprise:
1. Assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s 

Internal Control System (ICS). 
2. Assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s 

risk management system.
3. Assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s 

existing corporate governance practices, as 
well as the security and effectiveness of its 
information systems.

4. Provision of consulting support on issues 
pertaining to the internal control system, risk 
management, corporate governance, partic-
ipation (within its responsibilities) in working 
groups, commissions, committees, other advi-
sory and consulting bodies and taking part in 
events organised by the Company.

5. Development and monitoring implementation 
of the provisions in relation to receiving, re-
viewing and storing complaints and appeals 
regarding accounting, internal control for 
accounting procedures, fraud, audit and com-

pliance with the Company’s Code of Ethics, 
provision of hot-lines for employees on these 
issues.

6. Overseeing the Company’s relationship with 
its external auditor.

7. Making recommendations on improving the 
Company’s efficiency and effectiveness, cor-
porate governance, internal controls and risk 
management processes based on outcome of 
internal audits and assessments.

8. Monitoring and assessing complete nature, 
quality and timely execution of measures 
aimed at correcting previously identified defi-
ciencies and implementation of steps aimed at 
improving the business processes efficiencies.

9. Development, implementation and continuous 
improvement of the internal audit concept, 
common unified internal audit methodology, 
including testing of the internal control sys-
tem for its compliance with the Company’s 
policies, procedures and regulations, and 
requirements of international standards. 
The Department also seeks to continuously 
improve employee professional levels in the 
Department.

In 2015, in the course of performing its duties the 
IAD carried out reviews of the Company's business 
processes and comprehensive inspections of the 
macro-regional branches, in line with the work plan 
for 2015 approved by the Board of Directors on 
11 March 2015.
In addition, the Department executed preventive 
control measures including internal coordination of 
regulatory, organizational, administrative and other 
documents, as well as carried out information and 
analytical work.
As a result of preventive control, management 
consultations and checks/inspections carried out 
in 2015, the Department made recommendations 
aimed at improving the Company's operations 
through better performance of the Internal Control 

142
internal
auditors 

as at the end
of 2015
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One of the key purposes of internal control 
is to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the achievement of the Company’s objectives 
in the following categories: the effectiveness 
and efficiency of its operations, the reliability of 
financial reporting and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. To this end Rostelecom 
implemented and operates its Internal Control 
System (ICS) according to requirements of the 
Corporate Governance Code of the Bank of Russia, 
guidelines provided by the Ministry of Finance of 
the Russian Federation “On the organisation and 
implementation of internal control, accounting 
and preparation of financial statements by 
economic subjects”, the regulations of the Russian 
Federation, and modern international standards.

On 30 September 2015, the Board of Directors 
approved the Concept for the development of 
Internal Control System of PJSC Rostelecom, 
which identifies the main objectives of the system, 
its organisation and functioning, as well as roles 
and responsibilities of its members.

The goals of creation and development of the 
Internal Control System in the Company are as 
follows:

• facilitating protection of the interests of 
shareholders, investors and customers; 
prevention and resolution of conflicts of inter-
est; maintenance of effective management 
of the Company; support in achieving the 
Company’s objectives in the most effective 
way taking into account changing internal and 
external conditions;

• creation of conditions conducive to protection 
of the Company against internal and external 
risks arising in the course of its activities, as 
well as the risks associated with reporting 
misleading or incomplete information in the 
financial statements of the Company;

• assistance in ensuring Company’s compliance 
with legislative requirements and regulatory 
documents and the Company internal regula-
tions;

• creation of conditions for timely preparation 
and delivery of reliable financial, accounting, 
statistical, management and other reporting 
information for internal and external users;

• assistance in safeguarding the Company’s 
assets and assuring efficient use of the 
Company’s resources and potential.

111110

Internal Control in the Company

The Internal Control System is based on a 
risk-oriented approach, implementing its close 
alignment with risk mitigation processes resulting 
in the timely and effective application of risk 
management techniques using effective internal 
control mechanisms.

The President and management of the Company 
are responsible for the organisation, maintenance 
and monitoring of the Internal Control System. 
Their responsibilities are as follows: 
• identifying/determining the roadmap of the 

Internal Control System development and 
improvement;

• development and approval of the internal 
regulations related to the Internal Control 
System;

• evaluation the internal control division 
performance, including results of the Internal 
Control System diagnostics;

• assignment of authority and responsibility for 
the implementation and effective operation of 
internal control procedures.

The responsibilities of the Internal Control Division 
in this context are as follows:
• coordination of efforts to shape and maintain 

efficiency of the ICS;
• methodological support of the ICS;
• development, implementation and supervising 

implementation of the ICS improvement and 
deficiency correction plan;

• organisation of training program preparation 
for employees on matters pertaining to the 
ICS implementation and improvement.

Members of the Board of Directors also devote 
significant attention to the ICS improvement: 
defining the general direction the ICS 
implementation; analysing the overall ICS 
effectiveness and alignment with the Company’ 
activities scope and conditions, and in the event 
of changes, the Board reviews results of the ICS 

effectiveness assessment, identified significant 
deficiencies and recommendations for their 
correction.

The Audit Committee is responsible for a more 
detailed examination and development of 
recommendations to the Board on the above 
matters, including the assessment of the overall 
ISC effectiveness and the Company’s adherence 
to its principals (including those activities based on 
reports internal audit and control organizational 
units); also, the Audit Committee makes 

recommendations for the ICS improvements. 
In this task, the Committee and the Board 
are actively supported by the Internal Audit 
Department, which carries out an independent 
assessment of the Company’s ICS effectiveness 
and makes relevant recommendations based on 
the assessment outcome.

Efficient communication channels for information 
exchanges are created within the ICS framework 
to keep all involved participants informed and 
reach common understanding among them of the 
processes involved in the system organisation, 
functioning and implementation.

The materials related to the functioning of the 
IAS, any evaluation of its effectiveness, identified 
shortcomings, as well as recommended corrective 
actions are presented to the Board of Directors, 
the Audit Committee, the President and the 
Management Board of the Company in order 
for them to identify steps aimed at further 
improvements of the ICS.

System and reducing risks. Evaluation of the 
Internal Control System performance was carried 
out in keeping with the principles and approaches 
set forth by the established internal audit concepts 
and practices.

The recommendations were communicated to the 
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors in 
quarterly reports.

During the 2015, the Internal Audit Department 
on the quarterly basis monitored and assessed 
complete nature, quality and timely execution of 
measures aimed at correcting previously identified 
deficiencies and implementation of steps aimed 
at improving efficiency of the Company business 
processes and Internal Control System, and made 
selective inspections of the risk management 
system efficiency.
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On 15 June 2015 the Annual General Meeting on 
results of 2014 following a recommendation of 
the Board of Directors and its Audit Committee 
approved Ernst & Young as the Company’s 
Independent Auditor for 2015.

The Auditor’s address: 115035, Russia, Moscow, 
Sadovnicheskaya nab., 77, bld. 1

Phone/ fax: +7 (495) 755-97-00 / 
+7 (495) 755-97-01

Membership in the self-regulating organization 
of auditors: Ernst&Young LLC is a member 
of Non-profit partnership “Auditing Chamber 
of Russia”. The general registration number 
in the state register of auditors and auditing 
organizations is 10201017420.

E-mail: pr@ru.ey.com

Website: http://www.ey.com/ru/.

Procedures for selecting independent external 
auditors ensuring their independence and 
objectivity, and information about their 
remuneration for audit and not-audit related 
services

In 2015, the Company held a public tender to 
award a contract for auditing the Company’s 
financial statements as on and for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 based on the Russian 
Accounting Standards, consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31December 2015 
based on the IFRS and consolidated financial 
statements as on and for the year ended 
31 December 2015 based on the IFRS and 
prepared pursuant to Federal Law of 27 July 2010
№ 208-FZ, and additionally for generally 
reviewing the consolidated financial statements 
(balance sheet, statement of comprehensive 

income, statement of cash flow, statement of 
changes in equity) as on and for the periods 
ending on 31 March and 30 September 2015; 
for general review of brief interim consolidated 
financial statements according to IFRS prepared in 
accordance with IFRS 34 as on and for the period 
ending on 30 June 2015.
The procedures used for selecting external 
auditors and ensuring their independence and 
objectivity are provided by the Federal Law of 
Russia № 44-FZ "On the contract system in the 
sphere of procurement of goods, works, services 
for state and municipal needs” of 5 April 2013 and 
the Federal Law of Russia № 307-FZ "On auditing 
activities" of 30 December 2008, and criteria to 
be applied in candidates evaluation and auditor’s 
selection are as follows:

Selection criteria for external auditors:

• remuneration fee;
• quality of the audit methodology including 

description of the audit organization and 
conduct, internal quality control;

• estimate of the total volume of labour costs 
for audit services according to schedule 
of work (calendar plan): reasonable and 
understandable ratio of the time to be spent 
on the site and in the office; reasonable match 
between the timeframe required for rendering 
services and assigned tasks;

• availability of documents certifying passing 
procedures of external quality control, results 
of the external supervision of the quality of 
work;

• available information on RAS and IFRS/US 
GAAP (at the same time) audit experience for 
the past three consecutive years (2012-2014) 
of Russian companies included in the rating of 
the largest Russian companies “Expert - 400” 
(http://raexpert.ru/ratings/expert400/ );

Independent Auditor
• available information on RAS and IFRS (at 

the same time) audit experience for the past 
three consecutive years (2012-2014) for 
state-controlled entities (with more than 50 % 
of charter capital is owned by the state).

According to the results of the analysis, no factors 
affecting auditor’s independence, including the 
presence of significant interests between auditors 
or their officials with the PJSC Rostelecom, were 
identified:

• the auditors own no interest in the Charter 
Capital of the Company;

• the Company does not provide any loans to 
the auditor;

• there are no close business relations (auditors' 
participation in the promotion of the Company’s 
products/ services, joint undertakings, etc.);

• no Company officials hold any positions in the 
auditor organization.

AUDITOR REMUNERATION 

The fee payable to Ernst&Young LLC for audit 
related services in 2015 is RUB 102,660,000, 
including VAT of RUB 15,660,000 (taking into 
account any shipping, transportation costs, 
customs duties, taxes and other mandatory 
payment according to applicable Russian law). 
In 2015, Ernst&Young LLC provided no not-audit-
related services. As on 31 December 2015,
the Company paid part of the auditor’s fee 
amounting to RUB 19,877,115, including VAT, the 
remaining amount of the fee will be paid in 2016
in accordance with the terms of the contract 
concluded with Ernst&Young LLC.
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In accordance with the Company’s Charter, the Audit 
Commission is an independent controlling body 
of the PJSC Rostelecom, overseeing financial and 
operational activities of the Company in-between 
consecutive shareholders’ meeting.

On 15 June 2015, the Company Annual General 
Meeting elected the following 7 members of the 
Audit Commission:

• Valentina F. Veremianina;
• Vasiliy V. Garshin;
• Dennis R. Kant-Mandal;
• Mikhail P. Krasnov, Secretary of the Internal 

Audit Committee;
• Oleg A. Musienko;
• Alexander S. Ponkin;
• Alexander V. Shevchuk, Chairman of the 

Internal Audit Committee.

RESULTS OF THE AUDIT COMMISSION 
ACTIVITIES IN 2015

The Audit Commission undertook an inspection of 
the Company’s financial and business operations, 
using methods of selective checks of individual 
transactions based on documents, accounting and 
tax ledgers, registers and explanations provided by 
the Company's management.

As part of the account inspection, the Audit 
Commission assessed information disclosure and 
reporting procedure related to the Company’s 
financial and business operations, accounting 
principles and methods, rules governing preparation 
of financial statements and annual report.

Audit Commission
President and Management 
Board

Executive Bodies

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPANY’S CHARTER, THE PRESIDENT AND MANAGEMENT 
BOARD ARE THE EXECUTIVE BODIES, RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DAY-TO-DAY MANAGEMENT 
OF THE COMPANY. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS RESPONSIBLE FOR APPOINTMENT OF 
THE RESIDENT, DETERMINES THE QUANTITATIVE AND PERSONAL MEMBERSHIP OF THE 
MANAGEMENT BOARD, EXCEPT ITS CHAIRPERSON, AS WELL AS TERMS OF OFFICE OF 
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND ITS INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS. IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
FEDERAL LAW “ON JOINT STOCK COMPANIES”, THE POWERS OF THE COMPANY'S SOLE 
EXECUTIVE BODY ARE VESTED WITH THE PERSON EXERCISING THE FUNCTIONS OF THE 
COMPANY’S PRESIDENT. 

The detailed biographies
of all individuals who
were members of the
Audit Committion in
2015 can be found in
Appendix “The Company 
governing and controlling 
bodies” to this Annual 
Report 2015.

Sergey B. Kalugin 
Born in 1966. Degree in 
Economics from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University 
(1991). Upon graduation from 
the university he worked as 

an economist with AC Incombank, then was 
promoted to the position the Managing Director 
for Investments with Incom-Capital Investment 
and Financial Company.
In 2000 he was CEO of OJSC RTR-Signal, 
and in 2001-2007 the CEO of OJSC National 
Cable Networks. CEO in OJSC National 
Telecommunications (2007-2008). Managing 
Partner at WebMediaGroup since 2009. In 
2009-2012 he was CEO of OJSC National 
Telecommunications.
Chairman of the Management Board and 
President since 2013.

Kai-Uwe Mehlhorn 
Born in 1966. Graduated 
from Martin Luther University, 
Halle, Germany in 1985 and 
in 1992 graduated from 
MGIMO (Moscow State Institute 

of International Relations) with a degree in 
International Economic Relations; in 2011 he was 
trained under Advanced Management Program 
(AMP) at Harvard Business School, Boston.
In 1991 his career in Mannesmann Rexroth GmbH 
was started, and in 1992-2007 he was with 
Siemens AG.
2007-2008: CFO in TELE2.
2009-2011: Deputy General Director for Finance 
and Economics in OJSC MegaFon.
2012: Deputy General Director for Finance and 
Economics with online retailer KupiVip Holding 
(KupiVIP, KupiLux & ShopTime).
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO), in charge of financial and economics 
organization in the Company. Joined the Company 
in 2013.

Management Board Personal 
Membership
Composition of the Management Board as at the end of 2015 
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the network maintenance and operation and 
in August 2014 he was appointed Senior 
Vice President of Rostelecom for Technical 
Infrastructure.
Senior Vice President for Technical Infrastructure.
Key area of responsibility is operational and 
technical management of Rostelecom’s network 
infrastructure. Joined the Company in 2013.

Galina V. Rysakova 
Born in 1967. In 1999 
graduated from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University, 
Department of Law with a 
degree in Law. In 1989-2001 

she was successively Senior Engineer, Group 
Leader and then HR Manager at Sheremetyevo 
International Airport. 
Her career in Rostelecom was started in 
December 2001, when she became Head of the 
HR Section in the Organisational Development 
and HR Directorate. In September 2003 she 
was appointed Acting Director for Organisational 
Development and Human Resources, and in July 
2006 she became Director of Organisational 
Development and HR Department at Rostelecom.
2011-2013: Executive Director and Director 
for Organisational Development and Human 
Resources.
In June 2013 she was appointed Senior Vice 
President for Organisational Development and 
Human Resources in OJSC Rostelecom
Currently she is Senior Vice President for 
Organisational Development and Human 
Resources, joined the Company in 2001.

Larisa S. Tkachuk
Born in 1976. In 1998 
she received a degree in 
Industrial Marketing from 
National Technical University 
of Ukraine. After graduation 

from the university she was Head of UMC’s 
Business Analysis Team at Ukrainian Mobile 
Communications (UMC) (1998-2001) and Head of 
UMC’s Marketing Department (2001), and in May 
2001 she became Marketing Manager at RTDC 
(a Russian–American telecommunications holding 
company. Before joining Rostelecom she held a 
position of Deputy CEO for Commerce at Megafon 
where she was responsible for developing and 
marketing new hi-tech products (2002-2012). 

Larisa was appointed Vice-President of 
Rostelecom, responsible for Commercial function 
of the Company in April 2013. 
In May 2013, she was appointed Senior Vice-
President, Chief Operating Officer of Rostelecom. 
She is currently the Senior Vice President 
responsible for business management.
Senior Vice-President – Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) in charge of the Company commercial 
organization. She has been with the Company 
since 2013.

Maria V. Florentyeva
Born in 1969. In 1991 she 
graduated from Lomonosov 
Moscow State University with a 
degree in Economics, and later 
in 2000 received her MBA from 

London Business School.
One of the founders of the WebMediaGroup 
where she was responsible for finance, corporate 
development and investor relations. Before that 
she was Director of Corporate Development at 
National Telecommunications and has over 10 
years of experience in investment banking sector.
In June 2013 Maria was appointed Vice President 
and then Senior Vice President with Rostelecom, 
where she is in charge of strategic planning, 
media business and investor relations. She has 
been with Rostelecom since 2013.

Alexander M. Tseitlin
Born in 1958. In 1996-2008 
he held senior managerial 
positions in the technical 
departments of GTS (later 
Golden Telecom), CJSC 

SINTERRA and Electrocom. In December 
2009 the Board of Directors of OJSC National 
Telecommunication passed a decision to appoint 
him CEO of Mostelecom.
In May 2013, Alexander was appointed Senior 
Vice President of Rostelecom responsible for 

117116

Share ownership of the Management Board members

Name Interest owned 
in Charter, %

Percentage of 
owned ordinary 

shares, %

Sergey B. Kalugin 0.420 0.190

Kai-Uwe Mehlhorn 0.004 0.004

Galina V. Rysakova 0.004 0.004

Larisa S. Tkachuk 0.004 0.004

Maria V. Florentyeva 0.049 0.022

Alexander M. Tseitlin 0.004 0.004

More detailed biographies 
of all individuals who 
were members of the 
Management Board in 
2015 can be found in 
Appendix “The Company 
governing and controlling 
bodies” to this Annual 
Report 2015.

In June 2015, In line with the Management’s 
long-term incentive programme S. Kalugin 
acquired 511,633 ordinary shares, while Kai-
Uwe Mehlhorn, Galina Rysakova, Larisa Tkachuk, 
Maria Florentyeva and Alexander Tseitlin each 
acquired 106,987 ordinary shares. 
No conflict of interests related to the above 
mentioned individuals was found in 2015.
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Activities of the Management Board 
in 2015

119118

Management Board Committees 
Budget and Investment Committee, Compensation 
Committee, Risk Management Committee and 
Charity Committee are established in the Company 
for the purpose of improving the Management 
Board’s performance related to key areas of 
Rostelecom activities. 

BUDGET AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

In the reporting year, the Committee considered 
and evaluated the feasibility of the Company’s 
investment projects and programs planned for 
2015 and 2016. In addition, the Committee 
reviewed budgets of the Company’s departments 
and branches in preparation of Rostelecom’s draft 
consolidated budget for 2016. 

Essential part of the Budget and Investment 
Committee activities in 2015 was dedicated 
to reviewing and evaluating projects aimed at 
increasing the Company’s operational efficiency, 
including project in the following areas:
• reduction of operating costs associated with 

operation of equipment and lines to provide 
services to rural areas;

• performance evaluation and optimization of 
the sales and service channels;

• optimisation of office and production space.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Implementing policy aimed at improving the 
Company’s operational efficiency through fostering 
a high-quality team targeting at achievement 
of a common result the Committee made 
decisions related to the employee compensation 
and motivation, as well as provision of financial 
assistance to employees in difficult situations.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

The principal purpose of the Risk Management 
Committee is to coordinate the development 
of the Company’s risk management system to 
ensure efficient risk management is in place at 
all levels of the business to make sound business 
decisions. In 2015, the Internal Control Committee 
dealt with the following matters:  

• preliminary consideration of risk management 
matters requiring review by the President, 
Management Board and Audit Committee of 
the Company Board of Directors;

• overseeing the use of risk management 
procedures taking into account all types of 
risks and all levels of the Company organisa-
tional structure;

• resolution of differences related to the risk 
management implementation (including 
differences related to risk assessment, 
proposed risk management measures, 
execution of measures, etc.);

• approval of the risk register and risk evalua-
tion;

• risk management decision-making and 
approval of risk management implementation 
activities;

• overseeing the implementation and execution 
of risk management measures.

CHARITY COMMITTEE

The Charity Committee’s role is to consider which 
charity initiatives and socially important projects 
the Company should participate in.
In 2015, the Committee approved the provision 
of charity aid to Miloserdie - Official Charity of 
the Russian Orthodox Church, A.S. Popov Central 
Museum of Communications, to the Bolshoi 
Theatre of Russia (annual trustee contribution) 
and participation in the following projects:

• provision and expansion of an online-ed-
ucation programme for orphanages/foster 
families in Russian regions, as well as 
provision of funds for New Year celebrations;

• implementation of I want to live! project of 
the Charitable Foundation “AiF Good Heart”, 
including procurement of Soliris medicine 
for treatment of kidney troubles of children 
waiting for a donor kidney for transplant.

Last year, the Management Board held 25 
meetings, 1 of which was a physical meeting and 
24 were held by absentee voting.
In the reporting period, the Management Board 
dealt with matters related to the Company’s 
operations activity and making plans for future 
development, in particular the following issues 
were regularly discussed: 
• reviewing the Company’s budget execution 

reports and budget planning for the next year; 
• the Company’s technological policy and 

transformation of telecommunications 
networks;

• implementation of risk management 
programmes; 

• projects aimed at increasing operational 
efficiency and costs optimisation.

With the aim of improving operational 
efficiency, the Management Board resolved 
matters related to the optimisation of 

procurement, the decommissioning of analogue 
telecommunications line facilities and structural 
changes of the Company’s branches.
Working towards further development 
of corporate governance standards, the 
Management Board paid considerable attention 
to the development and approval of the Risk 
Management Programme and Development 
Concept of Internal Control System in the 
Company. 
Recognising the Company’s social responsibility 
to Russian society, in the reporting year the 
Management Board dealt with matters relating 
to charity and sponsorship.
In addition, the Management Board devoted 
considerable attention to the preparation of the 
materials and issues requiring decisions passed 
by the Board of Directors, including preliminary 
consideration of related party transactions to 
ensure careful examination of such issues and 
high quality of Company’s decisions.
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Corporate Governance 
Evaluation
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Fundamental Principles of Corporate 
Governance Framework

Improving the Corporate Governance 
Practices

Rostelecom is guided by the following Corporate 
Governance principles:
• the implementation and protection of 

shareholders' rights;
• the equal treatment of all shareholders;
• giving consideration to interests of 

stakeholders and their inclusion;
• accountability of the Board of Directors,  

the President and the Management Board to 
shareholders; 

• maintaining an effective system of internal 
audit and control;

• financial and informational transparency of 
the Company;

• compliance with ethical standards of business 
conduct stipulated in the Code of Ethics of the 
Company;

• maintaining high levels of corporate social 
responsibility.

On 21 March 2014, the Board of Directors of 
the Central Bank of Russia (CBR) approved the 
Corporate Governance Code. Application of the 
CBR Code by a company is voluntary and aimed at 
increasing its investment appeal for investors.
Drawing attention to the importance of having 
effective corporate practices in place, the 
Government of the Russian Federation has 
instructed that companies where the government 
owns an interest, included in the 91-r list, as 
a priority should make an analysis and suggest 
a roadmap for implementation of the CBR Code’s 
recommendations. 

Rostelecom is among leading companies with 
state participation, which should be the first to 
demonstrate their better governance through 
further improvements of their corporate practices.
Certain provisions of the CBR Code are made 
mandatory to comply with through requirements 
stipulated in Listing Rules of CJSC Stock Exchange 
MICEX as applicable to companies listed on the 
Moscow Stock Exchange after passing the listing 
procedures.

On 13 March 2015, the Board of Directors of 
Rostelecom reviewed and approved the roadmap
submitted by the management for the implemen-
tation of the Corporate Governance Code in the 
Company’s activities.

ROSTELECOM IS AMONG LEADING COMPANIES WITH STATE 
PARTICIPATION, WHICH SHOULD BE THE FIRST TO DEMON
STRATE THEIR BETTER GOVERNANCE THROUGH FURTHER 
IMPROVEMENTS OF THEIR CORPORATE PRACTICES.

Corporate Governance Rating
Measures aimed at implementing provisions set 
forth in the Corporate Governance Code suggested 
by the Bank of Russia allowed Rostelecom to 
considerably improve its Quickscore corporate 
governance rating from Institutional Shareholder 
Services Inc. which is one of the world’s leading 
international corporate governance consultancies.
A rating of 2 on the 1-10 score range (with a 
score of 1 meaning low corporate governance risks).

As of 31 December 2015, Rostelecom had a rating 
of 7+ (Mature Corporate Governance Practice), 
according to the National Rating of Corporate 
Governance scale by the Russian Institute of 

Directors (RID). Thus, RID believes that Rostelecom 
has low corporate governance risks and complies 
with requirements of the applicable Russian 
corporate governance law.

Key corporate governance improvements in 2015 
are as follows:
• informing the shareholders of the date 

of compiling a list of persons entitled to 
participate in the Annual General Meeting at 
least 7 days before the list compilation date;

• expanded disclosures on certain issues on 
the agenda of the Annual General Meeting on 
results of 2014 were adopted in the process 
of the meeting preparation and holding;

• shareholders were able to elect four 
independent directors to the Board of 
Directors at the Annual General Meeting in 
2015 who were meeting criteria set out by 
the Code and Listing Rules of Moscow Stock 
Exchange, thus allowing Audit and Nomination 
and Remuneration Committees to include 
independent directors only;

• a meeting of the Board of Directors may be 
convened at the request of a shareholder(s) 
holding 2 or more percent of voting shares of 
the Company;

• most important matters of concern to the 
Company should only be considered at 
physical presence meetings;

• procedure of evaluating the Board of 
Director’s was added to the Company’s 
Charter and Regulations on the Board Of 
Directors.
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Information about the 
Company’s adherence 
to recommendations of 
the Bank of Russia can 
be found in the Appendix 
“Report on compliance 
with principles and 
recommendations of the 
Corporate Governance Code 
endorsed for application 
by the Bank of Russia”, 
attached to this Annual 
Report 2015.
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Planned Improvement to Corporate 
Governance 

Corporate Governance Self-Evaluation 
Results

The following improvements to corporate 
governance are scheduled in 2016:

• approval of certain substantive matters will 
require majority vote of all elected members 
of the Board of Directors;

• consideration of a possibility of offering 
electronic voting at General Shareholders’ 
Meetings;

• assessment of the Board of Directors 
performance;

• increased control by the Board of Directors of 
transactions and nominations in the controlled 
entities;

• improving effectiveness of the Board of 
Directors activities, including increasing the 
number of physical presence meetings.

During 2015, Rostelecom carried out a 
comparative analysis of the Company’s 
effective corporate governance standards and 
key provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Code approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Bank of Russia on 21 March 2014. The 
analysis was carried out using the “Guidelines 
for Corporate Governance Self-Assessment for 
Companies where the government owns an 
interest”, developed by The Federal Agency for 
State Property Management (Rosimuschestvo). 
According to these Guidelines at the beginning 
of 2015 Rostelecom’s corporate governance 

was evaluated 77%, with 65% being the 
lowest recommended limit. As a result of the 
implementation of provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Code of the Bank of Russia, 
Rostelecom’s corporate governance level reached 
90% by the end of 2015. Additionally Rostelecom 
also makes it Corporate Governance assessment 
following recommendations of the Bank of Russia.

Remuneration

2015
minimal 

accepted 
level

start of end of 

2015

Corporate
governance level 
in Rostelecom

65 %

77 %
90 %

GENERAL PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE 
TO PAYMENTS OF REMUNERATION TO 
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Russian Law the amounts of 
remuneration payable to members of Rostelecom 
Board of Directors shall be determined by a 
resolution of a general shareholders’ meeting 
based on recommendation of the Board of 
Directors. According to the Regulations on the 
Board of Directors a fixed amount of annual 
remuneration shall payable to members of the 
Board of Directors.
The annual remuneration amount to each 
member of the Board of Directors is equal to 
RUB 4 mln. The annual remuneration payable to 
each member of the Board of Directors shall be 
RUB 4,000,000 (four mln rubles). Remuneration 
payable to the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
shall be equal to that of an ordinary member 
multiplied by a factor of 1.5. 
Remuneration of a member of the Board of 
Directors may be reduced by:
• 10 %, in the case of his/her missing at less 

than 25 % (inclusive) of the held meetings and 
meetings by absentee voting of the Board of 
Directors;

• 30 %, in the case of his/her missing at more 
than 25 % and less than 50 % (inclusive) of 
the held meetings and meetings by absentee 
voting of the Board of Directors;

• 100 %, in the case of his/her missing at more 
than 50 % of the held meetings and meetings 
by absentee voting of the Board of Directors.

In order to compute possible reduction of the 
remuneration amount, the number of the physical 
presence meetings (absentee voting) in which the 
relevant member of the Board of Directors failed 
to take part shall be taken into account except the 
meeting of the Board of Directors held on the day 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting at which the 
Board of Directors was elected.

If during the period from the moment of election 
of the Board of Directors by the Annual General 
Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting 
there were changes in the personal membership 
of the Board of Directors and/or changes in the 
basis of performance of functions by a member 
of the Board of Directors (paid/free of charge) the 
remuneration shall accrue and be paid pro rata 
to the period of time during which the member of 
the Board of Directors performed his/her functions 
on a paid basis.
The annual remuneration of a member of the 
Board of Directors shall be paid not later than 
1 month after the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
for the year when he or she was elected to the 
Board of Directors.
The annual amount of RUB 400,000 (four hundred
thou. rubles) shall be accrued and paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors who also serve
as members of the Audit Committee for performance
of functions of members of the Audit Committee. 
The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall receive
 annual payment with a coefficient of 1.25.

The annual payment equal to RUB 320,000 
(three hundred and twenty thou. rubles) shall 
be accrued and paid to the members of the 
Board of Directors who also serve as members 
of other committees of the Board of Directors 
for performance of functions as members of the 
respective committees. The Chairmen of such 
Committees of the Board of Directors shall receive 
annual payment with a coefficient of 1.25.
If during the year there had been changes in the 
composition of a Committee, the remuneration 
shall accrue and be paid in proportion to the 
period of time during which the member of the 
Committee performed his / her functions.

Board of Directors

Source: the Company data
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REMUNERATION TO MEMBERS OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2015

In 2015 the Company paid to members of 
the Board of Directors the remuneration for 
performance of the functions of members of the 
Board of Directors and its committees totalling 
RUB 27.44 mln.
No compensation of expenses and other payments 
to members of the Board of Directors were made.
No loans (credit facilities) were granted to 

members of the Board of Directors by the 
Company. In 2015 members of the Board of 
Directors did not participate in the Company’s 
long-term management motivation program. 
Salaries and bonuses paid in 2015 to S. Kalugin 
who was at the same time a member of both 
the Board of Directors and Management Board 
are included in the total amount of salaries and 
bonuses paid to the Company Management 
Board.

Note: The specified remuneration amount was paid upon 
results of activities of the Board of Directors that was 
performing its duties until 15 June 2015. According to the 

Regulations on the Board of Directors no remuneration shall 
be payable to members of the Board of Directors who are 
public officials. 

GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF 
DETERMINATION OF THE REMUNERATION 
AMOUNT PAYABLE TO THE PRESIDENT

Pursuant to the Regulations on the President the 
compensation package shall be determined on 
the contract with its terms and conditions being 
subject to approval by the Board of Directors. Also 
according to a decision of the Company Board of 
Directors the following rewards are payable to the 
President:
•  a monthly bonus for due performance of the 

duties and based on the results of quarterly 
budgetary target fulfilment;

• an annual bonus for due performance of the 
duties and according to achievement of annual 
performance indicators approved by the 
Board of Directors.

COMPUTING THE AMOUNT OF 
REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO MEMBERS 
OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

As the Regulations on remuneration of the 
Management Board were terminated on 
8 October 2015 the current members of the 
Management Board elected on 22 September 
2015 are not got paid for membership in the 
Management Board. Until 8 October 2015 
a decision regarding remuneration to be paid 
to members of the Management Board was to 
be made by  the Company Board of Directors 
pursuant to the Regulations on Remunerations 
of members of the Management Board approved 
by the Board of Directors. A quarterly reward was 
specified for performance of duties by members 
of the Management Board.

CHANGING AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OVER 2012-2015

Members of the Board of Directors Remuneration for 
membership in the Board of 

Directors, RUB

Remuneration for 
membership in the Audit 

Committee of the Board of 
Directors, RUB

Remuneration for 
membership in the Strategy 

of the Board of Directors, 
RUB

Remuneration for membership 
in the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee of the 
Board of Directors, RUB

Ruben A. Aganbegyan 3,600,000.00 0.00 0.00 400 000,00

David Benello 0.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Kirill A. Dmitriev 3,600,000.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Anton A. Zlatopolsky 0.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Sergei B. Kalugin 4,000,000.00 0.00 320,000.00 0,00

Igor I. Kozlov 0.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Mikhail Y. Lesin 0.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Anatoly A. Milyukov 4,000,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0,00

Mikhail I. Poluboyarinov 3,600,000.00 400,000.00 0.00 0,00

Vadim V. Semenov 6,000,000.00 400,000.00 320,000.00 0,00

Vitaly Y. Sergeichuk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0,00

Total, per type of remuneration 24,800,000.00 1,200,000.00 1,040,000.00 400 000,00

Grand total 27,440,000.00

2012 2013 2014

remuneration accrued

remuneration paid

2015

27,9

110.7

200.7

143.8

27.4

175.0

208.4

162.5

Before 30 June 2014 Af ter 30 June 2014

Fixed amount per member of the Board of 
Directors

Quarterly Annual

Membership in the Board of Directors RUB 1.5 mln RUB 4 mln 

Membership in the Audit Committee RUB 150 thou. RUB 400 thou. 

Membership in other committees RUB 126 thou. RUB 320 thou. 

Coefficient for chairmanship in the Board of 
Directors

1.30 1.50

Variable por tion of the remuneration of all 
members of the Board of Directors

Percentage of OIBDA in the 
next fiscal year, but not 

more than 0.13%

no

President and Management Board

Significant reduction of the remuneration amount 
paid to members of the Board of Directors 
in 2015 is attributed to amendments in the 
remuneration framework as approved at the 

General Shareholders’ Meeting in 2014. Key 
changes in the policy of remuneration to be paid 
to members of the Board of Directors are shown 
in the following table below.
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RUB mln 2012 2013 2014 2015

Remuneration paid

Remuneration (except Long-term Motivation Program) 366.6 601.8 443.8 387.6

Long-term Motivation Program 180.7

Total 366.6 601.8 443.8 568.4

Remuneration accrued

Remuneration (except Long-term Motivation Program) 430.8 544.3 470.2 375.0

Long-term Motivation Program 615.5 237.3

Total 430.8 544.3 1,085.6 612.4

127126

The amount of the quarterly bonuses for 
activities performed by the Management Board 
did not exceed RUB 733 thou. per quarter to 
each member of the Management Board, with 
RUB 879.6 thou. payable to its Chairman.
The amount of the quarterly bonus payable 
to members of the Management Board was 
determined by the Board of Directors based on 
the performance evaluation of members of the 
Management Board based on the members’ 
performance and taking into account:

• achievement of the Company’s main 
budgetary economic targets in the relevant 
reporting quarter;

• outcome of fulfilment of previously made 
decisions of general shareholders’ meeting 
and quality of materials prepared to hold 
meeting of the Company Board of Directors.

Assessment of quality of materials prepared 
for meetings of the Board of Directors included 
evaluation of the timely manner of material 
preparation and provision, compliance of the 
provided materials and proposed draft resolutions 

with requirements of applicable Russian law, the 
Charter and internal regulations of the Company, 
as well as accepted standards.

PAYMENTS TO MEMBERS OF THE 
MANAGEMENT BOARD AND OTHER 
KEY OFFICERS MADE IN 2015

In the reporting year the Board of Directors 
evaluated the President and members of the 
Management Board performance in 3Q-4Q2014 
and 1Q-2Q2015 and President performance over 
entire 2014 taking into account criteria listed 
above, and decided to pay the full remuneration 
amounts to the Company Executive Bodies.
Information on the remuneration amounts paid 
in 2015 to S. Kalugin who was a member of both 
the Board of Directors and Management Board of 
the Company can be found in the information on 
payments made to the Board of Directors.

Pursuant to requirements of the Russian 
Labour Code the amount of the severance 
pay payable to senior managers of 
Rostelecom including members of the 
Management Board in the event of their 

employment termination by the Company, 
or resulting from change of the Company’s 
property owner shall not exceed triple 
monthly pay of the relevant employee.

The first part of 
the bonus for 2014 
was paid in 2015 
to participants in the 
Long-Term Motivation 
Program.

The quantitative membership of the 
Management Board varied in 2012–2015, 
including the relevant fiscal years. For 
instance, as on 1 January 2015 there 
were 15 members of the Management 
Board, while as of 22 Septembers the 
membership was cut drastically down to 
6 members.

No loans (credit facilities) 
were granted by the 
Company to members of 
the Management Board.

PAYMENT MADE TO TOP 5 HIGHEST PAID MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE BODIES/KEY 
OFFICERS

CHANGES IN THE PAYMENTS MADE TO THE COMPANY MANAGEMENT BOARD OVER 
2012-2015

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
APART FROM LONG-TERM MOTIVATION PROGRAM, RUB BLN

Remuneration paid to the management board

PAYMENTS TO THE MANAGEMENT

Payment type Paid in the reporting period, RUB

Remuneration 46,602,856.41

Salary 208,096,049.40

Bonuses 313,698,240.94

of which monetary funds allocated for purchasing the Company ordinary 
shares

180,749,873.91

Commission fees  –

Benefits –

Compensations of expenses –

Other –

Total 568,397,146.75

Payment type Paid in the reporting period, RUB

Remuneration for membership in the Management Board 16,186,400.00

Salary 145,054,095.37

Bonuses 173,932,426.99

Commission fees –

Benefits –

Compensations of expenses –

Other –

Total 335,172,922.36

2012 2013 2014

Remuneration accrued

Remuneration paid

2015

375.2

470.2
544.3

430.8 387.6443.8

601.8

366.6
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Audit Commission Motivation Programs
GENERAL PRINCIPLES GUIDING 
DETERMINATION OF REMUNERATION 
AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO MEMBERS OF 
THE AUDIT COMMISSION

At the Annual General Meeting held on 15 June 2015
(Minutes № 1 of 17 June 2015) Rostelecom 
shareholders approved the Regulations on the Audit 
Commissions, revised version № 4, according to 
which members of the Audit Commission shall 
be paid an annual remuneration amount of 
RUB 800 thou. each, while the Chairperson’s 
annual remuneration shall be with a factor 1.3, 
and the Secretary’s remuneration with a factor 
of 1.1. If during a year the Audit Commission was 
re-elected or some individual members of it left 
its membership, the remuneration to members 
of the Audit Commission shall accrue and be paid 
pro rata to the period of time during which the 
relevant member of Audit Commission performed 
his/her functions.

The annual remuneration of a member of the Audit 
Commission shall be paid not later than 1 month after 
the annual general shareholders’ meeting for the year 
when he or she was elected a member of the Audit 
Commission.

Until 15 June 2015 according to version № 3 of the 
Regulations on the Audit Commission its members 
were paid an annual remuneration amount of 
RUB 350 thou. to each while the Chairperson’s annual 
remuneration was with a factor 1.3.

LONG-TERM MANAGEMENT MOTIVATION 
PROGRAM

On 31 March the Board of Directors approved 
Terms and Conditions of the Long-Term 
Rostelecom employees’ bonus program and long-
term share acquisition program (employees’ 
option program) of Rostelecom constituting the 
long-term Rostelecom management motivation 
program (the “Motivation Program”) which 
provides for setting up an option plan for ordinary 
shares to be purchased by the Motivation program 
participants at a fixed price through a yearly 
bonus payable depending on achievement of 
long-term Key Performance Indicators’ targets, 
based on the Free Cash Flow (FCF), Net Profit and 
Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)1.

The programs will be in effect for 3 years starting 
from 2014. There are about 200 participants to 
the Motivation Program including top and senior 
managers, regional branch directors in particular. 
The total target package for all Motivation 
Program participants consists of the Company 
ordinary shares and accounts for 1.5 % of the 
Charter Capita. The final package size will depend 
of the KPI achievements and is limited by 200 %
of the total target share package if KPIs are 
significantly exceeded. If KPIs are significantly not 
achieved the Motivation Program participants 
will loose their rights for the option in the portion 
attributed to the relevant reporting period. 
Shares to each participant are soled annually in 
percentage of the total target share package and 
given adjustment depending on the extent the 
KPIs are achieved: 30 % in 2014, 30 % in 2015 
and 40 % in 2017.

Vesting is also gradual: 50 % at the end of the 
relevant fiscal year, another 50 % twelve months 
afterward.
A closed unit fund RTC-Development managed 
by VTB Capital Asset Management was set-up to 
implement the option plan. Over the year ended 
on 31 December 2015 employees exercised their 
options for 6 818 718 shares or 0.265 % of the 
total number of ordinary shares.

The total amount of payments accrued in favour 
of the Motivation Program participants and 
connected with members of the Management 
Board and Vice Presidents in cash equivalent was 
RUB 341 mln on the results 2015 and RUB 875 mln
on results of 2014.

PAYMENTS TO MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMISSION

Payment type Paid in the reporting period, RUB

Remuneration 4,266,923.07

Salary 1,501,000.00

Bonuses –

Commission fees –

Benefits –

Compensations of expenses –

Other –

Total 5,767,923.07

1Net profit is based on the Profit and Loss account according to IFRS, while FCF for the purpose of the Motivation Program is computed as the difference between 
OIBDA and capital expenditure amount (according to the accrual method); ROIC is the ratio of the net operational profit before tax (NOPAT) to the capital invested
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SHORT-TERM PERSONNEL MOTIVATION 
PROGRAM

Improvements of the KPI Framework which 
is the basis of the variable portion of the pay 
to employees and enables motivation of the 
Company personnel to achieve strategic goal in 
the most efficient way were continued in 2014 
as part of a new salary and motivation program 
implemented in the Company in 2012.

The KPI Framework can be viewed as a pyramid 
at the top which there are Corporate KPIs as 
indications of Company performance as a whole 
and describing the success in implementing the 
Company general strategy.

Corporate KPI are drilled down to the business 
KPIs describing performance of structural units 
and employees at all level of management. 
Corporate KPIs and Business KPIs are used for 
determining bonuses payable to employees at 
all level while relative weight of Corporate KPIs 
diminishes down the management hierarchy. 
This cascading allows for motivating specialists 
in various functional areas to achieve common 
targets ensuring consistent and unified 
implementation of cross-functional processes.
In order to execute the list of assignments 
issued by the Russian President on 5 July 2013 
№ PR1474 and following the Guidelines for 
KPI implementation issued by the Ministry of 
Economic Development and Rosimuschestvo, KPIs 
Regulations were developed and implemented, 
and amendments were made in the effective 
Regulations on using KPI for bonuses as far as 
it is concerned with alignment of bonuses with 
achievement of planned performance targets as 
defined in the Long-Term Development Program 
(Minutes № 26 of 12 January 2015 of the Board 
of Directors Meeting).

The following existing regulations on providing 
real incentives for employees were updated in the 
Company:
 
• Regulations on the long-term bonus program 

for Rostelecom employees;
• Regulations on defining and application 

of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 
3, 6, 9 and 12 months;

• Regulations on the real incentives for Rostele-
com employees based on operation results.

How the KPIs identified for Long-Term 
Development Program are linked to KPIs of the 
Management and Employees Reward Framework 
of the Company is clarified in the Table below.

Key Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Effective period Document title

2015 2016

Total shareholders’ 
return (TSR) + +

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months;

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results (Senior Vice President, Senior Vice President – CFO)

Return on Invested 
Capital (ROIC) + + Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 

amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Revenue +

+

+

 +

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months;

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results

Efficiency indicator:
OIBDA +

 +

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results;

Efficiency indicator:
OIBDA margin

+

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results

Labour productivity 
indicator (LPI) +

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results (Senior Vice President for Organizational Development and Personnel 
Management)

Innovation KPI (Quality 
of design and survey 
execution in 2015)

+  

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results (Senior Vice President)

Table continued on next page

KPIs identified for Long-Term Development Program are linked to KPIs of the Management and 
Employees Reward Framework of the Company
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In 2015, Rostelecom signed the Directors and 
Officers liability insurance agreement with SOGAZ 
JSC. The agreement was approved by the annual 
general shareholders’ meeting of Rostelecom on 
results of 2014. The terms and conditions of the 
insurance agreement are as follows: 

• The total limit of liability under the contract 
(the insured amount): EUR 200 mil;

• Independent Director Excess Limit of Liability: 
EUR 920,000;

• Insurance premium: EUR 368,500;
• Insurance period: from 28 May 2015 (00:00) 

to 31 July 2016 (00:00);

The insurance coverage extends to Rostelecom’s 
subsidiaries and affiliated and associated entities.

Directors’ and Managers’ 
Liability Insurance

Broadband and IPTV 
subscribers +

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months;

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results

Subscriber base 
growth +

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results (Senior Vice President for Business Management, Senior Vice President for 
Technical Infrastructure);

Number of households 
passed connected to 
fiber networks

+

+

+

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results

Net Debt / OIBDA +

+

+

+

Regulations on defining and application of KPIs in order to determine the bonus 
amounts payable to Rostelecom President for 3, 6, 9 and 12 months;

Regulations on the real incentives for Rostelecom employees based on operation 
results

KPIs identified for Long-Term Development Program are linked to KPIs of the Management and 
Employees Reward Framework of the Company

Key Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Effective period Document title

2015 2016

Table continuation
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The following changes in the share capital of the 
Company were made in 2015: on 1 October 2015, 
94,289,347 ordinary shares and 33,266,322 
preferred shares of PJSC Rostelecom were 
cancelled due to the resolution of the 2014 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the 
Company. Before this cancellation, the Company's 
share capital amounted to RUB 7,280,089.4250, 
including 2,669,204,301 ordinary shares and 
242,831,469 Class A preferred shares. Rostelecom 
did not place any additional shares in 2015.
As of 31 December 2015, the Company was 
authorized to place, further to the distributed 
shares, additional shares authorized for issuance – 
2,613,935,751 ordinary shares and 531 Class A
preferred shares with a nominal value of 
RUB 0.0025 each.

As of 31 December 2015:
• the Russian Federation, via the Federal 

Agency For State Property Management 
(Rosimushchestvo) held 1,254,189,564 
ordinary shares of the Company but did not 
hold any special rights – "Golden Share" – that 
would enable it to participate in the manage-
ment of the Company; 

• Rostelecom held 86,572 ordinary shares and 
10,155 preferred shares in the Company;

• LLC MOBITEL controlled by Rostelecom held 
387,706,769 ordinary shares and 64,519,345 
of the Company’s preferred shares;

• PJSC Central Telegraph controlled by  
Rostelecom held 2,647 of the Company’s 
ordinary shares;

• OJSC Mobiltelecom controlled by Rostelecom 
held 1,074 of the Company’s ordinary shares.

In 2015, Rostelecom did not receive any notices 
from shareholders in relation to the execution 
of shareholders' agreements in accordance with 
the Clause 4.1 Article 32.1 of Federal Law of 
26 December 1995 № 208FZ "On Joint Stock 
Companies".

Share Capital

137136

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2015, THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY AMOUNTED 
TO RUB 6,961,200.2525, INCLUDING 2,574,914,954 ORDINARY SHARES 
(STATE REGISTRATION NUMBER OF THE SECURITIES ISSUE 10100124А 
OF 10 NOVEMBER 1993) AND 209,565,147 CLASS A PREFERRED SHARES 
(STATE REGISTRATION NUMBER OF THE SECURITIES ISSUE 20100124А OF 
10 NOVEMBER 1993) AND WITH A NOMINAL VALUE OF RUB 0.0025 EACH.

Holders of 2 % or more of the Company's share capital or ordinary (voting) shares of the 
Company (including nominee shareholders)

Structure of the Company's Shareholders by categories

1 The shares wholly or partially are accounted on nominee accounts.
2 Controlled by Vnesheconombank.

The Rostelecom Share Structure

As of 31 December 2014 As of 31 December 2015

Share in share capital Share in 
ordinary 

shares

Share in 
preferred 

shares

Share in share capital Share in 
ordinary 

shares

Share in 
preferred 

shares

RUB % % % RUB % % %

Shareholders

Russian Federation (through 
Rosimushchestvo)

3,135,473.910 43.07 46.99 0.00 3,135,473.910 45.04 48.71 0.00

LLC MOBITEL 1 1,094,840.855 15.04 13.99 26.57 1,130,565.285 16.24 15.06 30.79

Vnesheconombank 1 275,901.895 3.79 4.13 0.00 275,901.895 3.96 4.29 0.00

PJSC Rostelecom (treasury 
shares)

492,768.160 6.77 6.14 13.69 241.818 0.003 0.003 0.005 

LLC Russian Direct 
Investment Fund  1, 2

75,666.338 1.04 1.13 0.00 - - - -

Nominee shareholders

National Set tlement 
Depository

3,033,437.018 41.67 39.80 62.14 3,217,114.785 46.21 44.08 72.40

As of 31 December 2014 As of 31 December  2015

Number 
of entities 
registered 
in register

Share in share 
capital, 

%

Share in ordinary 
shares, 

%

Share in 
preferred shares, 

%

Number 
of entities 

registered in 
register

Share in 
share capital, 

%

Share in 
ordinary shares, 

%

Share in 
preferred shares, 

%

Legal entities: 728 93.83 94.64 84.93 713 93.70 94.57 82.95

Nominee shareholders 39 41.80 39.95 62.14 38 46.35 44.23 72.40

Resident 593 52.00 54.66 22.77 580 47.31 50.30 10.54

Non-resident 96 0.03 0.03 0.01 95 0.03 0.03 0.02

Individuals: 155,613 6.17 5.36 15.07 154,411 6.30 5.43 17.05

Resident 155,366 6.16 5.35 15.03 154,165 6.28 5.41 16.99

Non-resident 247 0.02 0.02 0.05 246 0.02 0.02 0.06
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Company Shares
Rostelecom’s ordinary and preferred shares (tickers 
RTKMP and RTKM) are listed on the Moscow Stock 
Exchange’s first level of the quotation list (hereafter 
- the first level). The inclusion of Rostelecom shares 
on the first level, as well as the inclusion of the 
Company's securities in stock exchange indices 
evidence a high level of trading liquidity in the 
Company’s shares. Since June 2014, the ordinary 
shares of Rostelecom have been included in the 
non-quoted part of the PJSC Saint Petersburg Stock 
Exchange.
The Company's shares are included in indices that 
serve as benchmarks for number of large institutional 
investors. These benchmarks include MSCI Russia, 
FTSE Emerging Markets, Market Vectors Russia Index, 
MICEX index.

The positive dynamic of the MICEX 
index was mostly driven by the 
growth of quoted companies 

exporting raw materials, the ruble 
revenue of which was impacted by 

the devaluation of the Ruble.

139138

Basic Trade Indicators of the Company's ordinary shares on 
Moscow Stock Exchange

Rostelecom Share Price Comparison versus the MICEX index, %

Rostelecom Share Price Comparison versus the MICEX Telecom index, %

First Trading Day Price, RUB 87.01

Minimum, RUB 76.00

Maximum, RUB 97.10

Last Trading Day Price, RUB 90.55

MICEX Telecom index Preferred Shares Ordinary Shares
Source: Bloomberg

Rostelecom Share Price Comparison versus the MSCI Russia Index, %

Shares

MICEX index Preferred Shares Ordinary Shares
Source: Bloomberg
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Source: Bloomberg

Rostelecom Share Price Comparison versus MSCI Europe / Telecommunication Services Index, % Comparable share price performance for ordinary and preferred shares on the Moscow Stock Exchange (RUB) 
and ADRs on the London Stock Exchange (USD)

Comparable share price performance for ordinary and preferred shares on the Moscow Stock Exchange and ADRs 
on the London Stock Exchange, %

Depositary Receipt Program
Rostelecom launched an American Depositary 
Receipt (ADR) programme for its ordinary shares 
in February 1998. Each ADR represents six 
ordinary shares (ratio 1:6). JPMorgan Chase Bank 
has served as the Depositary Bank responsible for 
administering the sponsored ADRs, with Sberbank 
of Russia acting as Custodian. 
In May 2011, the Company received approval 
from the Federal Service for the Financial Markets 
(FSFM) to trade 735,800,000 ordinary shares, 
which represents 122,633,333 ADRs outside the 
Russian Federation.

Currently the ADRs are traded on the OTCQX 
marketplace in the highest category of the over-
the-counter trading system OTC Markets Group 
– the International Premier. The Company's ADRs 
are traded in London, Frankfurt and other foreign 
stock exchanges. As of 31 December 2015, 2.7 %
of the Company's ordinary shares were traded as 
ADRs outside the Russian Federation. In 2015, 
the ADR trade volume reached USD 126 mln on 
London Stock Exchange, and USD 5 mln on the 
OTCQX marketplace.

6
ordinary shares 
are represented 

by 1 ADR

Despite the challenging macroeconomic 
environment, the Company's shares on the 
Moscow Stock Exchange have traded positively. 

The decrease in price of the ADRs on the London 
Stock Exchange was primarily driven by the 
weakening of the Russian ruble. 

MSCI European Telecommunications Index ADR (USD)

ADR (USD)

Preferred Shares Preferred Shares (RUB)

Preferred Shares (RUB)

Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares (RUB)

Ordinary Shares (RUB)

Source: Bloomberg

Source: Bloomberg
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The Board of Directors of Rostelecom approved 
two new exchange-traded bonds programmes 
that represent a total value of RUB 300 bln on 
28 October 2015. Placing separate bond issues as 
part of Rostelecom’s approved bond programmes 
affords the Company maximum flexibility in 
terms of attracting financing at optimal terms as 
far as the volume, term and costs of borrowing 
are concerned. The Company places significant 
importance to such flexibility in the current 
environment, so that each debt issue is tailored to 
the changing market situation. 

The approved exchange-traded bond programmes 
have the following specifics:
• Bond programmes of a value up to RUB 100 bln

and maximum period of circulation of 
individual issues up to 30 years from the date 
of their placement, includes incorporated call 
and put options, individual issues shall be 
included in the Bank of Russia’s Lombard List 
on general conditions (after placement).

• Bond programmes of a value up to RUB 200 bln 
and maximum period of circulation of individual 
issues up to 10 years from the date of their place-
ment has the simple characteristics structure, does 
not include incorporated call and put options and 
meets the inclusion criteria for the Bank of Russia’s 
Lombard List before issue placement.

Bonds
IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL DEBT 
ISSUES WITHIN THE CURRENT BOND 
PROGRAMMES SHALL BE USED 
PRIMARILY TO REFINANCE THE COMPANY 
DEBTS. 

143142

As part of its financing activities, Rostelecom has an 
active bond programme. As of 31 December 2015, 
the total value of the Company's outstanding bonds 

amounted to RUB 35,447,970,000, representing 
19 % of the Company’s debt portfolio. 

Type Issue № Date of 
issuance

Nominal 
value, 

RUB

Volume of 
issuance

Volume of 
issuance in 
circulation, 

RUB

Circulation 
period, 

years

Redemption 
date

series 15 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralized 
deposit with a custodian 

4-67-00124-А 30.01.2013 1,000 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 5 

series 16 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralized 
deposit with a custodian

4-68-00124-А 13.06.2013 1,000 5,000,000,000 152,309,000 5

series 17 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralized 
deposit with a custodian

4-64-00124-А 08.11.2012 1,000 10,000,000,00 295,661,000 5

series 18 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralized 
deposit with a custodian

4-65-00124-А 30.01.2013 1,000 10,000,000,00 10,000,000,000 5

series 19 certificated interest-
bearing non-convertible bearer 
bonds subject to centralized 
deposit with a custodian 

4-66-00124-А 12.03.2013 1,000 10,000,000,00 10,000,000,000 5 15.03.2016

series БO 01 certificated 
interest-bearing non-convertible 
exchange bearer bonds subject 
to centralized deposit with a 
custodian

4BO2-01-00124-А 29.05.2015 1,000 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 10 27.05.2017

series БO 02 certificated 
interest-bearing non-convertible 
exchange bearer bonds subject 
to centralized deposit with a 
custodian 

4BO2-02-00124-А 02.06.2015 1,000 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 10 31.05.2017

BBB-
Fitch Ratings

BB+
Standard & 

Poor's

As of 31 December 2015, the Company has the 
following bonds in circulation: 
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IR achievements

IR Events Calendar

Participation in External Events

IR Activities – Some Key Statistics

Shareholders and Investors 
Relations

THE COMPANY STRIVES TO STRENGTHEN ITS RELATIONS WITH THE INVESTMENT 
COMMUNITY. ROSTELECOM'S REPRESENTATIVES MAINTAIN CONSTANT CONTACT WITH 
ANALYSTS AT INVESTMENT BANKS AND REGULARLY HOLD MEETINGS WITH INVESTORS 
AND EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS.

This information is also available on the website www.rostelecom.ru/ir/calendar/

Last year Rostelecom took steps to improve 
the Company's investment case. In December, 
at the Company Investor Day held in London, 
the Executive Management team presented the 
Company’s achievements and development plans 
to 2020. 

The Company switched to a new, progressive and 
ambitious dividend policy, providing shareholders 
with a dividend of no less than 75 % of Free Cash 
Flow, but not less than RUB 45 bln cumulatively 
for three years.

The Company participated in six investment 
conferences in 2015, it held an Investor Day 
in London on 7th December and a Non-Deal 
Roadshow (NDR) in Europe in December 2015.

The Company held group meeting with sell-
sideanalysts involving top management in 
May 2015, on which the priority lines of 
development, prospects for network Infrastructure 
modernization and switch to SDN were discussed.

Through the involvement of Rostelecom’s senior 
management and its IRteam, the Company 
held close to one hundred personal meetings 
and conference calls with nearly two hundred 
investment community representatives in 2015.

Dates Events Format

21–23.01.2015 dbAccess CEEMEA Conference, London, UK One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

16.03.2015 Announcement of 4Q15 and FY15 IFRS results Publication of a press release, presentation, statements and 
other materials showing the results of the reporting period. 
Holding of press conference and conference call to investors 
and analysts. 

17–19.03.2015 Citi's 2015 European & Emerging Markets 
Telecoms Conference, London, UK

One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

21.05.2015 Announcement of 1Q15 IFRS results Publication of a press release, presentation, statements and 
other materials showing the results of the reporting period. 
Holding of press conference and conference call to investors.

02.06.2015 BAML 2015 Global Telecom & Media Conference, 
London, UK

One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

15.06.2015 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders Reports of the Company heads before the shareholders

23.06.2015 Renaissance Capital 19th Annual Russia Investor 
Conference, Moscow, Russia

One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

19.08.2015 Announcement of 2Q15 IFRS results Publication of a press release, presentation, statements and 
other materials showing the results of the reporting period. 
Holding of press conference and conference call to investors.

27.08.2015 UBS Russia Corporate Day, Moscow, Russia One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

14–15.10.2015 VTB Capital «RUSSIA CALLING!» Investment 
Forum 2015

One-on-ones  and small group meetings with management

11.11.2015 Announcement of 3Q15 IFRS results Publication of a press release, presentation, statements and 
other materials showing the results of the reporting period. 
Holding of press conference and conference call to investors.

07.12.2015 Investor Day, London, UK Management's presentation to investors' community on main 
achievements of the Company in terms of strategy realization 
and prospects of the Company developments up to 2020. Live 
video webcast.

100
meetings 

200
investors
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Consensus Forecast
Comparative share price performance of actual ordinary shares  price versus Analyst target prices

Analysts' recommendations for ordinary shares of PJSC Rostelecom, %

Average Median RTKM RM Equity

Note: Target Price Consensus excludes brokers' estimates that are under review (Sberbank, Credit Suisse).

Sell/Underweight HOLD/NEUTRAL
REVIEWBuy/Overweight

 Note: Recommendations Analysis excludes brokers' estimates that are under review (Sberbank, Credit Suisse).

146

Analysts
Broker Name, Surname Note

Share capital

BCS Igor Goncharov

Citi Dilya Ibragimova

Deutsche Bank Igor Semenov

Gazprombank Sergey Vasin

Goldman Sachs Stanislav Kondratev

HSBC Herve Drouet 

JPMorgan Alexei Gogolev

Morgan Stanley Polina Ugryumova

Otkrytie Alexander Vengranovich

Renaissance Capital Alex Kazbegi

Raiffeisen Bank Sergey Libin

Sberbank CIB Svetlana Sukhanova Recommendation is under review 

UBS Roman Arbuzov

Uralsib Konstantin Chernyshov

VTB Capital Ivan Kim

Bank of America-Merrill Lynch Haim Israel 

UFS IC Team

Credit Suisse Olga Bystrova Coverage is temporarily suspended

Debt Instruments

Gazprombank Yakov Yakovlev

VTB Capital Anastasiya Grigoreva

Sberbank CIB Sergey Goncharov

Rating Agencies

Fitch Ratings Vyacheslav Bunkov

Standard & Poor’s Svetlana Oshchepkova

In 2015, Barclays cancelled coverage of emerging markets, as well as shares of PJSC Rostelecom.
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Answers to Frequently Asked Questions

148

Question 1
What makes Rostelecom attractive for investors? 

The following points underpin Rostelecom’s investment 
attractiveness: 
• leading positions in markets with significant growth 

potential (broadband Internet access, Pay TV, services 
of data processing centres, and other digital services), 
as well as participating in the growth of the mobile data 
segment through its 45 % share in the joint venture 
with Tele2 Russia; 

• a unique network infrastructure (in terms of coverage 
and capacity) with fibre optic access serving more than 
30 mln households;

• a potential to further improve operating efficiency (real 
estate, personnel, etc.), which will provide substantial 
cost savings;

• incentivized management (professional management 
team committed to achieving strategic goals through 
their participation in a share option plan);

• a progressive dividend policy (at least 75 % of the free 
cash flow, and at least RUB 45 bln in aggregate for 
three years).

Question 2 
The 2020 Strategy states that you expect further 
growth in revenues, notwithstanding the gradual 
saturation of the markets of your presence. What will 
be the basis of such growth?  

Revenue Growth is going to be driven by:
1. A growing market share in the broadband internet access 

and Pay TV segments and growing ARPU per household. 
2. Expanding presence in new markets with higher growth 

potential. In addition to its substantial expertise, the Com-
pany has the necessary infrastructure and client base to 
realise the growth potential of these market segments.  
The key growth points in the segment of new services are: 
• Data centres; 
• Cloud services; 
• OTT video; 
• Industrial Internet of Things; 
• Geodata.

Question 3
How is the management team being incentivised to 
implement the adopted strategy?

In March 2014, Rostelecom’s Board of Directors approved the 
Company’s long-term incentive plan for  management.

The programme provides for the launch of a share option 
plan for ordinary shares, which can be purchased by the 
programme’s participants through an annual bonus payments 
system. Annual bonuses are paid in accordance with 
performance.

The programme will last for three years (starting from 2014) 
and approximately 200 senior and mid-ranking managers will 
participate in the programme, including the heads of regional 
branches.

The long-term key performance indicators (KPIs) used to 
determine awards within this programme are as follows: 
free cash flow (FCF), net profit and return on invested 
capital (ROIC).The long-term incentive scheme adopted 
by the Board of Directors is aimed at attracting talented 
professional managers, it is also designed to make managers 
more interested in raising the Company’s fundamental 
value and capitalisation and this brings the expectations of 
shareholders and potential investors in line with the interests 
of Rostelecom’s key employees.

Moreover, Sergey Kalugin, Rostelecom’s President, has 
additionally invested RUB 1 bln in shares in Rostelecom.  

Comparative share price performance of actual preferred shares price versus Analyst target prices

Analysts' recommendations for preferred shares of PJSC Rostelecom 

SELL/Underweight HOLD/NEUTRAL
REVIEWBUY/Overweight

Note: Recommendations Analysis excludes brokers' estimates that are under review (Sberbank, Credit Suisse).

Average Median RTKM RM Equity

Note: Target Price Consensus excludes brokers' estimates that are under review (Sberbank, Credit Suisse).
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Question 4
What is your M&A strategy? Are you considering deals in 
the broadband internet and Pay TV segments?

Concerning M&A deals, the Company’s strategy is as follows:
• Rostelecom may acquire or strengthen positions/expertise 

in promising and fast-growing market segments. The ac-
quisitions of SafeData or IQMen are an example of this. 

• Rostelecom may strengthen its positions in certain re-
gional markets, mainly in the broadband internet and TV 
segments. One example is the acquisition of the telecom-
munications business of Morton Group.

Question 5
Why were the mobile assets in the joint venture with Tele2 
Russia transferred? What are the Company’s plans with 
respect to the share in the joint venture (JV)?  

By establishing the joint venture with Tele2 Russia, the Company 
gained an opportunity to concentrate its resources, both 
management and financial, on the core business – the fixed 
line segment. 

The viability of pooling Rostelecom’s assets with Tele2 Russia 
was based on the following strategic considerations:
• The mobile assets of Rostelecom and Tele2 Russia ideally 

complement each other, both in terms of geographical 
coverage and the existing experience of Tele2 Russia, re-
lated to the introduction of innovative solutions, with the 
extensive range of licences and new-generation frequency 
bands of the Company.  

• As a result of the deal, the joint venture expanded its 
geographical presence to the federal level, and gained 
sufficient coverage to successfully compete with the exist-
ing federal operators.

• Rostelecom also benefitted by significantly reducing its 
direct investments in the mobile communication segment, 
as well as by transferring the debt associated with mobile 
operations to the joint venture.

• The joint venture is managed by a separate and com-
petent management team and possesses the best cost 
control system on the market.  

• Upon the MVNO agreement, the joint venture will be able 
to offer convergent fixed and mobile communication ser-
vices nationwide. 

The decision to create the joint venture will ensure the Company’s 
contribution to the growth of the mobile data market through 
a share in the standalone business, representing a strategic 
investment for Rostelecom.

Question 6
What about the future of the quasi-treasury block of 
shares held by your subsidiary Mobitel? Are you planning 
a SPO or cancellation?

There are several possible scenarios in respect of this block 
of shares, including the allocation of shares among investors 
or using them in M&A deals. Currently, no decision has been 
taken.  

Question 7
What are your long-term objectives  with regards to the key 
financial indicators?

It is expected that the implementation of initiatives under the 
Company’s strategy for the period to 2020 will permit it to 
achieve:
• the average annual rate of growth in revenues of 1-2 %;
• the average annual rate of growth in OIBDA of 3 %;
• the share of the digital segment in revenues of 60 % by 

2020;
• the improvement of the CAPEX/revenues ratio by 3 to 4 

percentage points by 2020.

Question 8
What are the prospects for the fixed telephony segment?

The fixed telephony market has been shrinking for the last 
few years. This is a worldwide trend experienced by traditional 
operators in many countries. At the same time, a certain 
level of demand for fixed line telephony services still exists, 

particularly in rural areas and not easily accessible settlements 
where the development of alternative communication 
technology involves significant costs and is not economically 
attractive.  

We strive to retain as much as possible the fixed telephony 
subscriber base by implementing the following initiatives:
• Promotion of packaged offerings;
• Improvements in the quality of client services and the 

modernisation of our network infrastructure;
• A special programme including measures for retention of 

clients using voice services. 

Question 9
What influence does exchange rate fluctuation have on 
your business?

Our revenues and operating expenses are originated 
and incurred in Russia and are not hugely dependent on 
fluctuations in the exchange rate of the national currency. Our 
currency exposure on income and expense items are minimal. 
The presence of a foreign currency component both in income 
and in expense permits the Company to hedge fluctuations of 
the exchange rate, to  balance out the positive and negative 
effects on the financial statement.

The income in the foreign currency items in particular, includes 
payments from international operators for interconnect and 
traffic transit services. 

The Company’s operating expenses also include costs in 
foreign currency, associated with the interaction between 
operators and acquisition of content from international 
producers.

As for the Company’s capital costs, the foreign currency 
component is equal to about one third of total costs. The 
Company strives to reduce this component as much as 
possible by purchasing domestic replacements of imported 
equipment, as well as fixing the price of the contracts with 
vendors in roubles or linking it to a fixed exchange rate of the 
foreign currency.   

Question 10
Mobile Internet versus fixed Internet? What are the 
prospects for fixed Internet access, given the growing 
speeds of mobile data transmission?  

Despite the active development of data transmission in cellular 
networks, mobile access cannot match the quality, reliability 
and speed of a fixed line connection. Furthermore, mobile 
networks do still require the availability of a fixed component 
connecting the base stations with the transport infrastructure. 
The Company expects continuing development of fixed and 
mobile networks that will complement each other and ensure 
seamless connection for the client.

A competitive advantage of Rostelecom is that the Company is 
the only operator with the opportunity to provide nationwide 
quad-play services.  

Question 11
Are any additional contributions to the authorised capital 
of the joint venture with Tele2 Russia planned for financing 
its current operations?

The joint venture finances its investment programme 
independently, and it possesses the necessary reserves of 
financial resources to do so. Currently, Rostelecom has no 
plans to spend its own funds to finance the current operations 
of the joint venture.

The Company expects 
continuing development of fixed 
and mobile networks that will 

complement each other and ensure
seamless connection for 

the client
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Directions for the development Examples

The creation of partnerships with leading content 
producers.

In 2014, Digital TV, a joint venture with VGTRK, was created, which 
is currently a developing business. Digital TV is the largest Russian 
producer and distributor of thematic channels, and has a market share 
of 28 %1.

Creation of partnerships to gain expertise for 
the purpose of additional monetisation of media 
opportunities.

One example of such partnerships is the creation, jointly with the 
Korean corporation GS Home Shopping Inc., of a large teleshopping 
channel. The creation of the joint venture will provide an opportunity 
to pool resources and expertise to offer a new level of quality of 
organisation of TV commerce.

Participation in producing content production projects. In 2015, Rostelecom co-financed the production of its first motion 
picture called “The Route is Created” which was released in March 2016.
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Question 12
What are the Company’s plans for the development of the media business?

The Company maintains the following approach to the development of the media business:   

Question 13
What are the Company’s plans for the further 
modernisation of its network? Are there any plans to switch 
to SDN/NFV?  
Rostelecom possesses the largest fixed telecommunication 
infrastructure in Russia, based on which the Company provides 
services to hundreds of thou.s of corporate and federal clients,
as well as to mlns of Russian households. During the last few 
years, the has Company invested in increasing the capacity of 
its transport network to more than 12 Tb/s and modernised 
the "last-mile" infrastructure, covering up to 31 mln households
with fibre optic technology. 

The further development of the network infrastructure of the 
Company is connected with its virtualisation and transition to 
SDN (Software-Defined Network) / NFV (Network Functions 
Virtualization) technology. On such networks, the control level 
is separated from data transmission units and is realised by 
software means. 

This approach has the following advantages:
• simplified network architecture; 
• reduced dependence on solutions from foreign vendors;
• faster and flexible introduction of new innovative services 

on the market. 

Therefore, the Company has the opportunity to save both on 
capital costs and on network maintenance costs. As a result 
of transforming the network, the Company expects to reduce 
operating expenses related to the maintenance of the network 
infrastructure by 25 % and reduce the level of capital costs by 
3 to 4 percentage points by 2020.

The Company plans to complete the majority of work related to 
the transition to the network infrastructure based on the SDN/
NFV technology in 2019.

Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders

Dividend Policy

As outlined by the Company’s Charter, the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting represents the highest 
governing entity of Rostelecom. The Rostelecom 
AGM was held on 15 June 2015 (Minutes № 1, 
dated 17 June 2015), and approved:

• the Company’s annual report and annual finan-
cial statements for the reporting fiscal year of 
2014;

• the distribution of the Company's profit for the 
reporting year of 2014, fixed the amount of 
dividends for 2014 and the date on which the 
entities entitled for the dividends should be de-
termined;

• the new composition of the Board of Directors 
and the Audit Commission;

• appointment of Ernst&Young LLC as the Com-
pany's Auditor for 2015;

• annual remunerations for the previous mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Commission;

• new versions of the Charter, Regulations on the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting, on the Board of 
Directors, on the President and the Audit Com-
mission;

• a reduction in the charter capital of Rostelecom;
• related party transactions (loan agreements) 

that might be concluded between the Company 
and OJSC VTB Bank in the future in the course 
of ordinary business of the Company;

• the Company’s membership of the Association 
for Electronic Communications Not-for-Profit 
Partnership and the Association of organizations 
for innovative development and the National As-
sociation of Contact Centres;

• D&O Liability Insurance Agreement between the 
Company and OJSC SOGAZ. 

The Company's Board of Directors approved 
a new version (№3) of the Company Dividend 
Policy on 4 December 2015. According to the 
new version the Company should aim to allocate 
to dividend payments (payable on ordinary and 
preference shares in total) in 2016, 2017 and 2018 
(i.e. for 2015, 2016 and 2017) at least 75 % of 
Free Cash Flow for each fiscal year but not less 
than RUB 45 bln cumulatively for the three years 
in question. As per clause 10.3 of the Charter and 

clause 5.6 of the Dividend Policy version №.3, 
the minimum total amount payable for preferred 
shares remains unchanged at ten percent (10 %) 
of the Company's net profit determined under 
Russian laws (Russian Accounting Standards 
- RSA) for the last fiscal year and divided by 
the number of shares which account for twenty 
five percent (25 %) of the share capital of the 
Company. 

2Free Cash Flow” (the “FCF”) shall mean the net cash from operating activities, (1) net of cash paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, 
(2) plus proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The FCF shall be determined according to the Cash Flow Statement of the Company 
consolidated financial statements pursuant to requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)1 Share of thematic channels in viewing all thematic channels, March 2016, Russia 4+

Dividend Policy and History
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As of the end of 2015, Joint Stock Company 
Obyedinennaya Registratsionnaya Kompaniya 
(JSC ORK) served as the registrar maintaining the 
register of PJSC Rostelecom registered securities.
JSC ORK location: Moscow, ul. Buzheninova, 30, 
bld. 1

JSC ORK postal address: 107996, Moscow,
ul. Buzheninova, 30, bld. 1
Phone: +7 (495) 775-18-20; 
fax: +7 (495) 964-06-28 
E-mail: ork@ork-reestr.ru 

JSC ORK has been operating as securities holders 
registrar since 1996 (license № 045-13952-
000001 issued by the Federal Financial Markets 
Service on 30 March 2004) and is a member of 
the Professional Association of Registrars, Transfer 
Agents and Depositories (PARTAD).

JSC ORK professional liability coverage was 
provided by IPJSC Ingosstrakh. The insurance 
coverage (insurance limit) amounted to 
RUB 100 mln

JSC ORK was one of the biggest specialized 
registrars in Russia, rendering services to more 
than 1500 issuers in 35 regions of the Russian 
Federation and having 10 branches – in Samara, 
Penza, Volgograd, Rostov-on-Don, Perm, 
St. Petersburg, Tambov, Voronezh, Omsk, Krasnodar.

In February 2016, JSC ORK and JSC Noviy 
Registrator, being the largest shareholder of 

JSC ORK, passed the resolution on a merger to 
JSC Noviy Registrator that shall be completed 
in May 2016. JSC Noviy Registrator location: 
Moscow, ul. Buzheninova, 30, bld. 1.

JSC Noviy Registrator postal address: 
107996, Moscow, ul. Buzheninova, 30, bld. 1
Phone: +7 (495) 980-11-00
E-mail: newreg@newreg.ru 

JSC Noviy Registrator has been acting as 
securities holders registrar since 2003 (license 
№ 04513951000001 issued by the Federal 
Financial Markets Service on 30 March 2006), its 
operations are insured by IPJSC Ingosstrakh for 
RUB 100 mln.

After the merger, the number of JSC Noviy 
Registrator contracted issuers will exceed 6,400, 
and the number of branches will increase to 28.
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A dividend policy that ties payments to Free Cash Flow is a 
matter of importance for improvement of the Rostelecom 
investment case. Historically, Rostelecom’s shares offered 
significantly lower dividend yield compared to its publicly 
traded peers. However, the new policy will bring the yield to 
a comparable level, and further improve Rostelecom’s equity 
story.
As per the Company Dividend Policy version 2, that had been 
applicable up until 4 December 2015, the Company allocated 
to dividend payments for ordinary shares not less than twenty 
percent (20%) of net profit determined under international 
financial reporting standards (IFRS).

Rostelecom rigorously complies with the requirements of the 
Charter and Dividend Policy when announcing and paying 
dividends. 

In accordance with the resolution of the General Shareholders' 
Meeting held on 15 June 2015 dividends for 2014 amounted to:

• for Class A preferred shares – RUB 4.050033904632 per 
share;

• for ordinary shares – RUB 3.34108279423228 per share.

Thus, the total sum of dividends for Class A preferred shares 
amounted to 2.9 % of net profit as per RSA and 2.2 % of 
net profit for IFRS for 2014. Dividends for ordinary shares 
amounted to 29.2 % of net profit as per RSA and 22.8 % of net 
profit for IFRS for 2014. 
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Dividend Payment Report

In 2015, RUB 4,190,351 thou. of net profit generated in 2014 
was paid to the federal budget. There is no indebtedness for 
dividends payments to federal budget. The Company allocated 
RUB 728 thou. to its reserve fund, the Company did not allocate 
money to any other funds. 

RUB 62,726 mln was allocated to investment projects, equal to 
213 % of net profit as per RSA and 166 % of net profit for IFRS 
for  2014. The Report on implementation of investment projects 
is included in Section Operating review of this Annual Report.

Dividends for Category (type) 
of shares

Amount of dividend per 
share,

RUB

Total amount 
accrued,

RUB thou.

Total amount 
paid during 

2015, 
RUB thou.

Total amount 
paid during 

previous years,
 RUB thou.

Total amount 
paid as of 

31 December 
2015,

%

2014
Ordinary 3.341082794232 8,602,904 8,531.082 0 99.2 %

Preferred 4.050033904632 848,730 836,173 0 98.5 %

2013
Ordinary 3.115959860078 7,808,157 8,648 7 742,939 99.3 %

Preferred 4.848555414552 1,016,323 2,041 1,001,955 98.8 %

2012
Ordinary 2,4369 7,172,426 4,714 7,127,209 99.4 %

Preferred 4,1022 996,143 1,059 985,606 99.0 %

2011
Ordinary 4,6959 13,821,247 4,180 13,742,330 99.5 %

Preferred 4,6959 1,140,312 437 1,129,699 99.1 %

Registrar
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Appendix 1

Consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2015  prepared in accordance with  
International financial reporting standards (IFRS) and Auditors’ report
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Ernst & Young LLC
Sadovnicheskaya Nab., 77, bld. 1 
Moscow, 115035, Russia
Tel: +7 (495) 705 9700

+7 (495) 755 9700
Fax: +7 (495) 755 9701
www.ey.com/ru

ООО «Эрнст энд Янг»
Россия, 115035, Москва 
Садовническая наб., 77, стр. 1
Тел.: +7 (495) 705 9700

+7 (495) 755 9700
Факс: +7 (495) 755 9701
ОКПО: 59002827

Independent auditors’ report 
 
 
To the Shareholders and Board of directors  
Рublic Joint Stock Company  
Long-Distance and International Telecommunications “Rostelecom”  
(PJSC Rostelecom) 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PJSC Rostelecom and 
its subsidiaries (further jointly, the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.  
 
Important facts 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements which describes that in June 2015 PJSC Rostelecom changed its legal form from 
OJSC to Public Joint Stock Company.  
 
Other matter 
 
The consolidated financial statements of OJSC Rostelecom and its subsidiaries for the year 
ended 31 December 2014 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion 
on those statements on 11 March 2015. 
 
 

 
 
11 March 2016 
 
Moscow, Russia 
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PJSC Rostelecom

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

(In millions of Russian roubles)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
4

Year ended 31 December 
Notes 2015 2014

Continuing operations
Revenue 23 297,355 298,937
Operating expenses
Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 24 (91,081) (89,929)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 7,8 (60,599) (60,623)
Interconnection charges (49,825) (47,429)
Materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 25 (25,125) (25,828)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 2,133 1,475
Bad debt expense 14 (882) (2,006)
Other operating income 26 14,630 12,950
Other operating expenses 27 (48,020) (47,553)
Total operating expenses, net (258,769) (258,943)

Operating profit 38,586 39,994
Loss from associates and joint ventures 10 (3,583) (517)
Finance costs 28 (16,311) (15,519)
Other investing and financial loss, net 29 (434) (3,793)
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net (1,431) 228
Profit before income tax 16,827 20,393
Income tax expense 22 (2,436) (7,211)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 14,391 13,182

Discontinued operations
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations 36 – 24,625
Profit for the year 14,391 37,807
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 584 853
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified – –

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss:
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans (412) 3,789
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 82 (758)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 254 3,884
Total comprehensive income for the year from continuing operations 14,645 17,066
Total comprehensive income for the year from discontinued operations 36 – 24,625
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,645 41,691

Profit from continuing operations attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 13,944 37,520
Non-controlling interests 447 287
Total comprehensive income from continuing attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 14,182 41,413
Non-controlling interests 463 278

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group – basic 
(in RUB) 32 6.20 16.47

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group – diluted 
(in RUB) 32 6.11 16.37

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group – basic for 
continuing operations (in RUB) 32 6.20 5.66

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Group –diluted for 
continuing operations (in RUB) 32 6.11 5.63
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PJSC Rostelecom

Consolidated statement of cash flows

(In millions of Russian roubles)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
5

Year ended 31 December
Notes 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations 16,827 20,393
Profit before tax from discontinued operations – 27,361
Profit before tax 16,827 47,754
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to cash generated from operations:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 7,8,36 60,599 60,635
(Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 36 (2,133) (1,452)
Bad debt expense 14,36 882 2,182
Loss from associates 3,583 517
Finance costs excluding finance costs on pension and other long-term social 

liabilities 28 15,560 14,939
Other investing and financial loss / (gain), net 29,36 434 (20,919)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net 36 1,431 (183)
Share-based payment expenses 31 1,251 1,850

Changes in net working capital:
Decrease /(Increase) in accounts receivable 1,629 (5,303)
Decrease in employee benefits (1,356) (3,808)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 892 (907)
Increase in accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 268 5,877
(Increase) in other assets and liabilities (25) (2,115)

Cash generated from operations 99,842 99,067
Interest paid (17,082) (15,881)
Income tax refund 2,559 –
Income tax paid (4,469) (3,640)
Net cash provided by operating activities 80,850 79,546
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (62,726) (57,666)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3,838 5,433
Acquisition of financial assets (15,943) (2,115)
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets 10,442 25,925
Interest received 1,495 689
Special dividends from disposed former mobile subsidiaries – 7,003
Dividends received 7 14
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 6 (1,145) (29)
Proceeds from equity accounted investees 322 –
Proceeds from disposal of equity accounted investees 240 –
Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed – (112)
Acquisition of equity accounted investees 10 (2,098) (250)
Net cash used in investing activities (65,568) (21,108)
Cash flows from financing activities
Sale of treasury shares – 815
Acquisition of treasury shares (2,867) (14,485)
Proceeds from bank and corporate loans 546,080 470,559
Repayment of bank and corporate loans (550,410) (496,482)
Proceeds from bonds 10,000 –
Repayment of bonds (12,112) (2,440)
Proceeds from promissory notes – 12
Repayment of promissory notes – (12)
Repayment of vendor financing payable (48) (9)
Repayment of other non-current financing liabilities (4) (7)
Options settlement repayments (5,361) –
Repayment of finance lease liabilities (57) (2)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 9 (2,349) (14)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Group 17 (7,676) (7,294)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries (308) (306)
Net cash used in by financing activities (25,112) (49,665)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 50 212
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9,780) 8,985

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 16,945 7,960
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7,165 16,945

PJSC Rostelecom

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

(In millions of Russian roubles)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
6

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total
equity

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Unrealized 
gain/(loss) 

on
available-
for-sale 

investments

Translation 
of foreign 
operations

Treasury 
shares

Share 
option 
reserve

Remeasure
ments of 
defined 
benefit 

pension 
plans

Stock 
redemption 

reserve
Retained
earnings

Total 
equity 

attributable 
to share-

holders of 
the Group

Balances at 1 January 2015 97 819 (10) 817 (82,023) 1,850 6,483 – 313,118 241,151 4,076 245,227
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 13,944 13,944 447 14,391

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating 

foreign operations – – – 568 – – – – – 568 16 584
Actuarial losses (Note 21) – – – – – – (412) – – (412) – (412)
Income tax in respect of other 

comprehensive income items – – – – – – 82 – – 82 – 82
Total other comprehensive 

income/(loss), net of tax – – – 568 – – (330) – – 238 16 254
Total comprehensive income/(loss) – – – 568 – – (330) – 13,944 14,182 463 14,645

Transactions with shareholders, 
recorded directly in equity:

Dividends to equity holders of the 
Group (Note 17) – – – – – – – – (7,676) (7,676) – (7,676)

Dividends to non-controlling 
shareholders of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – (308) (308)

Acquisition of treasury shares – – – – (2,867) – – – (2,867) – (2,867)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

(Note 9) – – – – – – – – 312 312 (2,661) (2,349)
Non-controlling interest in acquired 

subsidiaries (Note 6) 1,538 1,538
Redemption of treasury shares (4) – – – 15,306 – – – (15,302) – – –
Employee benefits within share-based

employee motivation program – – – – 915 657 – – (321) 1,251 – 1,251
Other changes in equity – (732) – – – (387) – – 514 (605) 808 203
Total transactions with shareholders (4) (732) – – 13,354 270 – – (22,473) (9,585) (623) (10,208)
Balances at 31 December 2015 93 87 (10) 1,385 (68,669) 2,120 6,153 – 304,589 245,748 3,916 249,664



BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT
164 165

PJSC Rostelecom

Notes to consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2015 

(In millions of Russian roubles)

8

Reporting entity1.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are of PJSC Rostelecom (“Rostelecom” or 
the “Company”), and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which are incorporated in the Russian 
Federation (“Russia”).

The registered address of the Company is Russian Federation, St. Petersburg, Dostoevsky street, 15. 
Since February 2016 the headquarters are located in the Russian Federation, Moscow at 
Goncharnaya Street, 30 (on 31 December 2015: Moscow at 1st Tverskaya-Yamskaya Street, 14).

Rostelecom was established as an open joint stock company on 23 September 1993 in accordance 
with the Directive of the State Committee on the Management of State Property of Russia No. 1507-r,
dated 27 August 1993. As at 31 December 2015, the Russian Federation, represented by the 
Federal Property Management Agency together with Vnesheconombank, controls the Company by 
holding of 53% of the Company’s voting ordinary shares.

On 1 September 2014 Federal Law No. 99-FZ which introduced amendments to the Civil Code of 
the Russian Federation, including changes to the forms of legal entities, came into force. According 
to this Law the Company has changed its legal form to a public joint stock company (PJSC). On 
24 June 2015, an entry was made to the Uniform State Register of Legal Entities for the official 
registration of changes to Rostelecom’s legal incorporation documents.

The Group provides communication services (including local, intra-zone, long-distance domestic 
and international fixed-line telephone services, mobile services), data transmission, Internet, 
Pay TV, VPN and data centres services, rent of communication channels and radio communication 
services in the territory of Russian Federation. The Group operates the main intercity network and 
the international telecommunications gateways of the Russian Federation, carrying voice and data 
traffic that originates in its own network and other national and international operators’ networks to 
other national and international operators for termination.

The Company operates socially important Government programs, including “E-Government”, 
“Unified communication service” and other.

Basis of preparation2.

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
measurement of available-for-sale investments at fair value and certain other items when IFRS 
requires accounting treatment other than historical cost accounting (refer to Note 4).
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PJSC Rostelecom

Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
7

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total
equity

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital

Unrealized 
gain/(loss) 

on
available-
for-sale 

investments

Translation 
of foreign 
operations

Treasury 
shares

Share 
option 
reserve

Remeasure
ments of 
defined 
benefit 

pension 
plans

Stock 
redemption 

reserve
Retained
earnings

Total 
equity 

attributable 
to share-

holders of 
the Group

Balances at 1 January 2014 97 1,658 (10) (45) (68,325) – 3,452 (23,239) 282,809 196,397 3,359 199,756
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 37,520 37,520 287 37,807

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating 

foreign operations – – – 862 – – – – – 862 (9) 853
Actuarial gains (Note 21) – – – – – – 3,789 – – 3,789 – 3,789
Income tax in respect of other 

comprehensive loss items – – – – – – (758) – – (758) – (758)
Total other comprehensive

income/(loss), net of tax – – – 862 – – 3,031 – – 3,893 (9) 3,884
Total comprehensive income/(loss) – – – 862 – – 3,031 – 37,520 41,413 278 41,691

Transactions with shareholders, 
recorded directly in equity:

Dividends to equity holders of the 
Group (Note 17) – – – – – – – – (7,294) (7,294) – (7,294)

Dividends to non-controlling 
shareholders of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – (306) (306)

Acquisition of treasury shares – – – – (14,485) – – 23,239 – 8,754 – 8,754
Sale of treasury shares – 28 – – 787 – – – – 815 – 815
Disposal of non-controlling interest in 

disposed subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – (37) (37)
Employee benefits within share-based

employee motivation program – – – – – 1,850 – – – 1,850 – 1,850
Other changes in equity – (867) – – – – – – 83 (784) 782 (2)
Total transactions with shareholders – (839) – – (13,698) 1,850 – 23,239 (7,211) 3,341 439 3,780
Balances at 31 December 2014 97 819 (10) 817 (82,023) 1,850 6,483 – 313,118 241,151 4,076 245,227
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The national currency of the Russian Federation is the Russian rouble (“RUB”), which is the 
functional currency of Group entities and the currency in which these consolidated financial 
statements are presented. The Group entities with other functional currency are: GNC-Alfa, 
incorporated in Armenia, the functional currency of this entity is Armenian dram (“AMD”), 
Rostelecom International, incorporated in Cyprus, the functional currency of this entity is United 
States dollars (“USD”). All financial information presented in RUB has been rounded to the nearest 
million, unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Changes in estimate of useful lives

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least 
at each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are 
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Fair values of associates

The Group is required to recognize the fair value of associates at the acquisition date, which 
involves estimates. Such estimates are based on valuation techniques, which require considerable 
judgement in forecasting future cash flows and developing other assumptions.

Share-based employee benefits

The Group measures cost of share-based employee benefit by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments granted. This requires judgment in estimating future volatility of basis asset which is 
determined using historical data on market price of the shares. Future volatility may differ 
significantly from that estimated.

Employee benefits

The Group uses actuarial valuation methods for measurement of the present value of defined 
employee benefit obligations and related current service cost. This involves the use of 
demographic assumptions about the future characteristics of current employees who are eligible 
for benefits (mortality, both during and after employment, rates of employee turnover, etc.) as well 
as financial assumptions (discount rate, future salary and benefit levels, etc.).
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 

Allowances

The Group makes allowances for doubtful accounts receivable. Significant judgment is used to 
estimate doubtful accounts. In estimating doubtful accounts historical and anticipated customer 
performance are considered. Changes in the economy, industry, or specific customer conditions 
may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Impairment of non-current assets

Each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated at the end of every reporting period to determine 
whether there are any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, a formal estimate of 
the recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss recognised to the extent that carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite 
lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units. Estimating of value in 
use requires the Group to make significant judgement concerning expected future cash flows and 
discount rates applicable. Expected future cash flows of cash-generating unit are typically based 
on approved budgets for next financial years and strategic plan for the period from second till fifth 
years. Cash flows beyond five-year periods are extrapolated using industry growth rate. Discount 
rates are determined based on historical information of cost of debt and equity of a respective 
cash-generating unit. Any future changes in the aforementioned assumptions could have 
significant impact on value in use.

Litigation

The Group exercises considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing provisions and the 
exposure to contingent liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to 
negotiated settlement, mediation, arbitration or government regulation, as well as other contingent 
liabilities. Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a 
liability will arise, and to quantify the possible range of the final settlement. Because of the inherent 
uncertainties in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated 
provision. These estimates are subject to change as new information becomes available. 
Revisions to the estimates may significantly affect future operating results.

Operating environment of the Group 3.

The Group’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, the Group 
is exposed to the economic and financial markets of the Russian Federation which display 
characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue 
development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with 
other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the 
Russian Federation. 
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3. Operating environment of the Group (continued) 

The recent conflict in Ukraine and related events has increased the perceived risks of doing 
business in the Russian Federation. The imposition of economic sanctions on Russian individuals 
and legal entities by the European Union, the United States of America, Japan, Canada, Australia 
and others, as well as retaliatory sanctions imposed by the Russian government, has resulted in 
increased economic uncertainty including more volatile equity markets, a depreciation of the 
Russian ruble, a reduction in both local and foreign direct investment inflows and a significant 
tightening in the availability of credit. In particular, some Russian entities may be experiencing 
difficulties in accessing international equity and debt markets and may become increasingly 
dependent on Russian state banks to finance their operations. The longer term effects of recently 
implemented sanctions, as well as the threat of additional future sanctions, are difficult to 
determine. 

The consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the 
Russian business environment on the operations and the financial position of the Group. The 
future business environment may differ from management’s assessment.

Significant accounting policies4.

The accounting policies and methods of computation applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are consistent with those disclosed in the annual consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014, except for the adoption of 
new standards and interpretations effective from 1 January 2015.

(a) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the companies 
comprising the Group and its subsidiaries.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
► The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
► The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
► If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity 

interest in the acquire; less
► The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Principles of consolidation (continued) 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 
are recognised in profit or loss.

Combination of entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the 
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control 
was established; for this purpose comparatives are revised. The assets and liabilities acquired are 
recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group’s controlling shareholder’s 
consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to 
the same components within Group equity except that any share capital of the acquired entities is 
recognised as part of share premium. Any cash paid for the acquisition is recognised directly in 
equity.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Acquisitions of non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Group. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group, using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 

Losses are allocated to the parent and to non-controlling interest based on their respective 
interests.

Investments in associates (equity accounted investees)

Associates in which the Group has significant influence but not a controlling interest are accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is usually demonstrated by the 
Group owning, directly or indirectly, between 20% and 50% of the voting ownership interest or by 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of associates. The Group’s 
share of the net income or losses of associates is included in profit or loss, the Group’s share of 
movement in reserves is recognized in equity and the Group's share of the net assets of 
associates is included in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Principles of consolidation (continued) 

An assessment of investments in associates for possible impairment or reversal of impairment 
recognized previously is performed when there is an indication that the asset has been impaired or 
the impairment losses recognized in prior years no longer exist. When the Group’s share of losses 
exceeds the carrying amount of the investment, the investment is reported at nil value and 
recognition of losses is discontinued except to the extent of the Group’s commitment to fund future 
losses. Unrealized profits and losses that arise from transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated in the proportion to the Group’s share in such associates.

Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest includes that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of 
subsidiaries attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 
by the Group. Non-controlling interest at the reporting date represents the non-controlling 
shareholders’ portion of the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at the 
acquisition date, and their portion of movements in net assets since the date of the combination.

The losses applicable to non-controlling interest, including negative other comprehensive income, 
are charged to non-controlling interest even if it causes non-controlling interest to have a deficit 
balance. 

(b) Goodwill 

Goodwill on an acquisition of a subsidiary is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on an 
acquisition of an associate is included in the investment in associates.

The acquirer recognizes goodwill as of the acquisition date measured as the excess of (a) over (b) 
below:

(a) the aggregate of: 
► the acquisition-date fair value of consideration transferred; 
► non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets; and 
► in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s 

previously held equity interest in the acquiree. 

(b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed measured in accordance with IFRS 3. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Impairment losses for goodwill may not be reversed. If the impairment loss recognized for the 
cash-generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of the allocated goodwill, the additional amount 
of the impairment loss is recognized by allocating to other assets on pro rata basis, but not below 
their fair value.

Goodwill is not amortized. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. 
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Goodwill (continued) 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operations within that unit are 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill 
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of cash-generating unit retained.

In case of excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost of business combination the Group:
► reassesses the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination;
► recognizes in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment immediately.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for their intended use, 
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, 
and capitalised borrowing costs.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Items of property, plant and equipment that are retired or otherwise disposed of are eliminated
from the statement of financial position along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation. 
Any difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the item is reported as a 
gain or loss on derecognition. The gain or loss resulting from such retirement or disposal is 
included in the determination of net income.

Depreciation is calculated on property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis from the time 
the assets are available for use, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Number of years
Buildings and site services 10-50
Cable and transmission devices:
► Cable 10-40
► Radio and fixed link transmission equipment 8-20
► Telephone exchanges 15
► Other 5-10

The useful life of assets encompasses the entire time they are available for use, regardless of 
whether during that time they are in use or idle. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a 
change is necessary and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are 
accounted for prospectively. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date the asset is 
classified as held for sale and the date the asset is derecognized.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost. This 
includes cost of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated 
until the constructed or installed asset is ready for its intended use.

Advances given to suppliers of property, plant and equipment are included in other non-current 
assets.

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are 
capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use. 

Cost of machinery and plant and other items of property, plant and equipment related to core 
activities of the Group, which have been gratuitously transferred to the Group beyond the 
privatisation framework, is capitalised in property, plant and equipment at fair value at the date of 
such transfer. Such transfers of property, plant and equipment primarily relate to future provision of 
services by the Group to entities, which have transferred property, plant and equipment. In such 
instances, the Group records deferred income in the amount of the fair value of the received 
property, plant and equipment and recognises income in the profit or loss on the same basis that 
the equipment is depreciated.

(d) Leases

Service contracts that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey rights to the Group to use 
an asset or a group of assets in return for a payment or a series of fixed payments are accounted 
for as leases. Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease is determined based on the 
facts and circumstances of each arrangement to determine whether fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a right 
to use that asset. Contracts meeting these criteria are then evaluated to determine whether they 
are either an operating lease or finance lease.

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease term at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged directly to profit or loss. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term unless 
there is a reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, in 
which case the assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Indefeasible Rights of Use (IRU) leases represent the right to use a portion of asset granted for a 
fixed period. IRUs are recognized as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to 
use an identified portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibers or dedicated wavelength 
bandwidth, and the duration of the right is for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic life. 
Such assets are included in property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. They are depreciated over the shorter of the expected period of use and the life 
of the contract.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Leases (continued) 

Leases, including IRU leases, where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are 
recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(e) Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs. The Group applies cost model to its investments properties and 
subsequent to initial recognition investment properties are measured in accordance with IAS 16’s 
requirements for that model.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 
period in which the property is derecognised.

(f) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Development expenditures are capitalised if they meet criteria for an assets recognition. 
Expenditure on research phase are expensed as incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment when there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Useful lives of 
intangible assets with finite lives are determined on individual basis.

Amortization periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least 
at each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are 
accounted for as changes in accounting estimates. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted 
for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The Group assesses whether there is any indication that a finite lived 
intangible asset may be impaired at each reporting date. The Group also performs annual 
impairment tests for finite lived assets not yet placed in use. The amortization expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is included in depreciation and amortization expenses in profit or 
loss.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Intangible assets (continued) 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but tested for impairment annually 
or more frequently when indicators of impairment exist, either individually or at the cash-generating 
unit level. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the 
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

(g) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that the Group’s assets may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, an assessment is made to establish whether the 
recoverable amount of the assets has declined below the carrying amount of those assets as 
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, annual impairment test is carried out for 
intangible assets with indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use and goodwill. When 
such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount of the assets is reduced to the recoverable 
amount. The amount of any such reduction is recognized immediately as a loss. Any subsequent 
increase in the recoverable amount of the assets, except for goodwill, is reversed when the 
circumstances that led to the write-down or write-off cease to exist and there is persuasive 
evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future. Increase of 
the recoverable amount is limited to the lower of its recoverable amount and carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the assets’ fair value less cost to sell, or 
value in use. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the 
Group determines the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (further – CGU) to which the 
assets belong. The value in use of the asset is estimated based on forecast of future cash inflows 
and outflows to be derived from continued use of the asset and from the estimated net proceeds 
on disposal, discounted to present value using an appropriate discount rate. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the CGUs or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the 
combination’s synergies, irrespective of whether other assets and liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or group of units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is so allocated:
► represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purposes; and
► is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating 

Segments.

(h) Inventory

Inventory principally consists of cable, spare parts for the network and other supplies. Inventory is 
stated at the lower of cost incurred in bringing each item to its present location and condition and 
its net realizable value. Cost is calculated using weighted average cost formula, and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs 
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Items used in the construction of 
new plant and equipment are capitalized as part of the related asset. Net realizable value is 
determined with respect to current market prices less expected costs to dispose. Inventory used in 
the maintenance of equipment is charged to operating costs as utilized and included in repair and 
maintenance and other costs in profit or loss.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Accounts receivable

Trade and other accounts receivable are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. The allowance is 
created based on the historical pattern of collections of accounts receivable and specific analysis 
of recoverability of significant accounts.

Bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified.

(j) Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried in the consolidated statement of financial position include cash and 
cash equivalents, investments (other than in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method 
investees), non-hedge derivatives, accounts receivable, accounts payable and borrowings. The 
particular recognition methods adopted for financial instruments are disclosed in the individual 
policy statements associated with each item. The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities 
into the following categories: loans and receivables, financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, financial 
liabilities at amortized cost.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and not originated with the intent to be sold immediately. Such 
assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for 
impairment. The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and 
includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognized or 
impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets or liabilities, 
which are either classified as held for trading or derivatives or are designated by the Group as at 
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purposes of selling in the near term. Gains and losses on 
investments held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
Held-to-maturity investments are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

All other investments not classified in any of the three preceding categories are classified as 
available-for-sale. After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value 
with gains and losses being recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is 
derecognized at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in 
the determination of profit or loss.

All financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for 
derivative financial liabilities which are carried at their fair values. 

Transactions with financial instruments are recognized using settlement date accounting. Assets 
are recognized on the day they are transferred to the Group and derecognized on the day that they 
are transferred by the Group.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(j) Financial instruments (continued) 

At each reporting date or more frequently if events occur that suggest a change is necessary, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that the Group’s investments may be 
impaired. 

Investing and financial gains comprise interest income on funds invested (including available-for-
sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, 
fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and gains on the 
remeasurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, 
which in the case of quoted securities is normally the ex-dividend date. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (other than capitalised into the cost of 
qualifying assets), unwinding of the discount on provisions and contingent consideration, losses on 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, dividends on preference shares classified as 
liabilities, fair value losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and 
impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables). 

(k) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, and have 
not been designated ‘as at fair value through profit or loss’. In subsequent periods, borrowings are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization process.

Borrowing costs are expensed, except for those that would have been avoided if the expenditure to 
acquire the qualifying asset had not been made. To the extent that funds are borrowed generally 
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization is determined by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The 
capitalization rate is the weighted average rate of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings 
of the enterprise that are outstanding during the period, unless borrowings were made specifically 
for the purpose of obtaining the qualifying asset wherein that rate is used. Qualifying borrowing 
costs are capitalized with the relevant qualifying asset from the date the activities to prepare the 
asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred until the related 
asset is substantially ready for its intended use. Capitalized borrowing costs are subsequently 
charged to profit or loss in the period over which the asset is depreciated.

(l) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into roubles at the exchange rate as 
of the transaction date. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into roubles 
at the exchange rate as of the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, or on reporting the Group's monetary items at rates different from those at which 
they were initially recorded in the period, or reported in previous financial statements, are recorded 
as foreign currency exchange gains or losses in the period in which they arise. Foreign currency 
gains and losses are reported on a net basis depending on whether foreign currency movements 
are in a net gain or net loss position.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Foreign currency transactions (continued)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the rates of exchange used for translating foreign currency 
balances were (in Russian roubles for one unit of foreign currency):

2015 2014
US dollar (USD) 72.88 56.26
Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 101.24 81.50
Euro (EUR) 79.70 68.34
Source: the Central Bank of Russia

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks, and highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, with insignificant risks of diminution in 
value.

(n) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences:
► except where the deferred income tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

► in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized:
► except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

► in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Any such previously recognized reduction is 
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(n) Deferred income taxes (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset will be realized or the liability settled. Tax rates are based on laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

In accordance with the tax legislation of the Russian Federation, tax losses and current tax assets 
of a company in the Group may not be set off against taxable profits and current tax liabilities of 
other Group companies except for cases when two or more entities form the Consolidated Group 
of Taxpayers for the purposes of unified income tax declaration submission. In addition, the tax 
base is determined separately for each of the Group’s main activities and, therefore, tax losses and 
taxable profits related to different activities cannot be offset except for the abovementioned 
Consolidated Group of Taxpayers formation.

(o) Revenue and operating costs recognition

Revenue and operating costs for all services supplied and received are recognized at the time the 
services are rendered. Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenues and expenses are reported net of respective value added tax.

Revenues from directly billed subscribers are recognized in the period where the services were 
provided based on the Group’s billing system’s data. Revenue from time calls and data transfer is 
measured primarily by the volume of traffic processed for the period. Revenues from subscribers 
billed via agents are recognized in the period where the services were provided based on agent 
reports.

The Group charges its subscribers throughout Russia for certain communication services based on 
pre-set tariffs regulated by the Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications and Federal Tariff 
Service. 

The Group charges amounts to interconnected operators for incoming traffic and is charged by 
operators for termination. These revenues and costs are shown gross in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Amounts payable to and receivable from the same operators are shown net in the consolidated 
statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle liability 
simultaneously.

Revenues from the sale of transmission capacity on terrestrial and submarine cables, which relates 
to IRU (indefeasible right of use of the capacity of an international cable) under operating leases 
where the Group is a lessor, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The expense relating to any provision is charged in profit or loss or capitalized in an 
asset if it is required by IFRS.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

(q) Government grants

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions 
associated with the grant, and are then recognised in profit or loss as other income on systematic 
basis over the useful life of the asset.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as other 
income on systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised.

(r) Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme which requires one-off contributions, 
representing the net present value of future monthly payments to employees, to be made by the 
Group to a separately administered pension fund upon employees’ dismissal. The pension fund is 
liable for payments to the retired employees. 

The Group uses the Project Unit Credit Method to determine the present value of its defined 
benefit obligations and the related current service cost and, where applicable, past service cost.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as other comprehensive income or expense immediately. 

The Group also participates in a defined contribution plan. Contributions made by the Group on 
defined contribution plans are charged to expenses when incurred. 

The Group accrues for the employees’ compensated absences (vacations) as the additional 
amount that the Group expects to pay as a result of the unused vacation that has accumulated at 
the reporting date. 

(s) Share-based payments 

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the Group
receives services from employees as consideration for options for shares of the Company. The fair 
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as 
an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(s) Share-based payments (continued) 

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the entity 
revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market 
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

(t) Dividends

Dividends are recognized when the shareholder's right to receive the payment is established. 
Dividends in respect of the period covered by the financial statements that are proposed or 
declared after the reporting date but before approval of the financial statements are not recognized 
as a liability at the reporting date in accordance with IAS 10 Events After the Reporting Period.

(u) Treasury shares

The cost of treasury shares purchased is debited to a separate category of equity. When treasury 
shares are sold or re-issued, the amount received for the instruments is credited to this category, 
and any surpluses or deficits on sales of treasury shares are shown as an adjustment to additional 
paid-in capital. The average cost method is used to determine the cost of treasury shares sold. 
However, if the entity is able to identify the specific items sold and their costs, the specific cost is 
applied.

(v) Earnings per share

IAS 33 requires the application of the “two-class method” to determine earnings applicable to 
ordinary shareholders, the amount of which is used as a numerator to calculate earnings per 
ordinary share. The application of the “two-class method” requires that the profit or loss after 
deducting preferred dividends is allocated to ordinary shares and other participating equity 
instruments to the extent that each instrument shares in earnings as if all of the profit or loss for the 
period had been distributed. The total profit or loss allocated to each class of equity instrument is 
determined by adding together the amount allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a 
participation feature.

(w) Segment information

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, Management Board, to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Management Board include items directly attributable to a 
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets other than goodwill.
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New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group5.

New and amended standards and interpretations 

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The Group has not early adopted any other 
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below. Although these new standards 
and amendments applied for the first time in 2015, they did not have a material impact on the 
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact of each new 
standard or amendment is described below:

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

IAS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees or third parties when 
accounting for defined benefit plans. Where the contributions are linked to service, they should be 
attributed to periods of service as a negative benefit. These amendments clarify that, if the amount 
of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is permitted to 
recognise such contributions as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which the service is 
rendered, instead of allocating the contributions to the periods of service. This amendment is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. This amendment is relevant to the 
Group, but did not have a material impact on the annual consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

With the exception of the improvement relating to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment applied to share-
based payment transactions with a grant date on or after 1 July 2014, all other improvements are 
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. The Group has applied these 
improvements for the first time in these consolidated financial statements. They include:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of 
performance and service conditions which are vesting conditions. The clarifications are consistent 
with how the Group has identified any performance and service conditions which are vesting 
conditions in previous periods. In addition, the Group had not granted any awards during the 
second half of 2014 and 2015. Thus, these amendments did not impact the Group’s financial 
statements or accounting policies.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that all contingent consideration 
arrangements classified as liabilities (or assets) arising from a business combination should be 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not they fall within the scope 
of IAS 39. This is consistent with the Group’s current accounting policy and, thus, this amendment 
did not impact the Group’s accounting policy.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle (continued) 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarify that:
► An entity must disclose the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation 

criteria in paragraph 12 of IFRS 8, including a brief description of operating segments that 
have been aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales and gross margins) 
used to assess whether the segments are ‘similar’

► The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the 
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required 
disclosure for segment liabilities.

The Group has not applied the aggregation criteria in IFRS 8.12. 

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be 
revalued by reference to observable data by either adjusting the gross carrying amount of the 
asset to market value or by determining the market value of the carrying value and adjusting the 
gross carrying amount proportionately so that the resulting carrying amount equals the market 
value. In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortisation is the difference between the 
gross and carrying amounts of the asset. This amendment did not have any impact to the 
revaluation adjustments recorded by the Group during the current period.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity (an entity that 
provides key management personnel services) is a related party subject to the related party 
disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management entity is required to disclose the 
expenses incurred for management services. This amendment is not relevant for the Group as it 
does not receive any management services from other entities.

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and the Group has applied these amendments 
for the first time in these consolidated financial statements. They include:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies for the scope exceptions within IFRS 3 that:
► Joint arrangements, not just joint ventures, are outside the scope of IFRS 3
► This scope exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint 

arrangement itself.

PJSC Rostelecom is not a joint arrangement, and thus this amendment is not relevant for the 
Group and its subsidiaries.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle (continued) 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be 
applied not only to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the 
scope of IAS 39. The Group does not apply the portfolio exception in IFRS 13.

IAS 40 Investment Property

The description of ancillary services in IAS 40 differentiates between investment property and 
owner-occupied property (i.e., property, plant and equipment). The amendment is applied 
prospectively and clarifies that IFRS 3, and not the description of ancillary services in IAS 40, is 
used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or a business combination. In 
previous periods, the Group has relied on IFRS 3, not IAS 40, in determining whether an 
acquisition is of an asset or is a business acquisition. Thus, this amendment did not impact the 
accounting policy of the Group.

New standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these 
standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Except for hedge 
accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is not 
compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with 
some limited exceptions. 

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. During 2015, the Group 
has performed a high-level impact assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9 (Classification and 
measurement, Impairment, Hedge accounting). This preliminary assessment is based on currently 
available information and may be subject to changes arising from further detailed analyses or 
additional reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Group in the future. 
Overall, the Group expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity except for the 
effect of applying the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group expects a higher loss 
allowance resulting in a negative impact on equity and will perform a detailed assessment in the 
future to determine the extent. 
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

New standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective (continued) 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate-
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral 
account balances upon its first-time adoption of IFRS. Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the 
regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial position and 
present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. The standard requires disclosure of the nature of, and risks 
associated with, the entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial 
statements.

IFRS 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Since the Group is an 
existing IFRS preparer, this standard would not apply.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new revenue standard establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how 
much and when revenue is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, 
including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes. The core principle of the new standard is that an entity recognises revenue to depict 
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
The new standard results in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provides guidance for 
transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively and improves guidance for 
multiple-element arrangements. 

To recognise revenue, a company would apply the following five steps:
► Identify the contract(s) with the customer; 
► Identify the performance obligations in the contract; 
► Determine the transaction price; 
► Allocate the transaction price; 
► Recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. 

IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early 
adoption permitted. The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date 
using the full retrospective method. Furthermore, the Group is considering the clarifications issued 
by the IASB in an exposure draft in July 2015 and will monitor any further developments. The 
Group expect a significant impact as a result of applying IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 is effective from 1 January 2019. A company can choose to apply IFRS 16 before that 
date but only if it also applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

New standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective (continued) 

IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a 
lessee. Instead all leases are treated in a similar way to finance leases applying IAS 17. Leases 
are capitalised by recognising the present value of the lease payments and showing them either as 
lease assets (right-of-use assets) or together with property, plant and equipment. If lease 
payments are made over time, a company also recognises a financial liability representing its 
obligation to make future lease payments. The most significant effect of the new requirements in 
IFRS 16 will be an increase in lease assets and financial liabilities. 

Lessees 

All leases result in a company (the lessee) obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the 
lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by 
IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model. Applying that model, a lessee is 
required to recognise: (a) assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value; and (b) depreciation of lease assets separately from 
interest on lease liabilities in the income statement.

Lessors 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a 
lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for 
those two types of leases differently.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator accounting for the acquisition of an 
interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, must 
apply the relevant IFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. The amendments also 
clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an 
additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope 
exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the 
parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same 
ultimate controlling party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and the 
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather 
than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-
based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used 
in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are effective 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption 
permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact to the Group given that the 
Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

New standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective (continued) 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the definition of 
bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will 
no longer be within the scope of IAS 41. Instead, IAS 16 will apply. After initial recognition, bearer 
plants will be measured under IAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost 
model or revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments also require that produce that grows on 
bearer plants will remain in the scope of IAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For 
government grants related to bearer plants, IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are retrospectively effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not 
expected to have any impact to the Group as the Group does not have any bearer plants.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already 
applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will 
have to apply that change retrospectively.

For first-time adopters of IFRS electing to use the equity method in its separate financial statements, 
they will be required to apply this method from the date of transition to IFRS. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. 
These amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of 
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments 
clarify that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a 
business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture, is 
recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not 
constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in 
the associate or joint venture. These amendments must be applied prospectively and are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These 
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. They 
include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to owners. 
The amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not 
be considered a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, 
therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment must 
be applied prospectively.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group (continued) 

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle (continued) 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are 
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any 
impact on the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception 
under IFRS 10.

The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated financial 
statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when the 
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity 
that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is 
consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The 
amendments to IAS 28 allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value 
measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.

Business combinations6.

2015 transactions

Acquisition of subsidiaries

SafeData Group

On 17 February 2015 the Group acquired a control over LLC Data Storage Centre (DSC) and its 
subsidiaries (jointly referred to as SafeData Group), Russia’s largest provider of commercial data 
centres, traffic exchange service and content delivery operating under the SafeData brand.

The acquisition will enable the Group to accelerate the development of its national content storage 
and distribution network. This includes a geographically distributed federal network of data centres, 
which combines communication channels, traffic exchange points, content delivery systems, as 
well as network attack and traffic monitoring protection systems.

The deal was contemplated as a single transaction completed in several stages: during the first 
stage, the Group acquired 5.4% share capital of DSC with nominal value of 10.152 from Brennan 
Investments Limited in exchange for cash consideration of 104. Following a completion of the 
second stage, the Group increased its stake up to 50.1% by contributing 1,728.9 of cash into 
DSC’s share capital (the Share capital contribution) out of which 423 was used to purchase 
controlling stakes in DSC’s associates SC Interaction Computer Network Center “MCK-IХ” and 
LLC Advanced Network Technology. Thus, the total cash consideration transferred in a business 
combination amounted to 527. 

Back to p. 162
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

Subsequent to the acquisition of control over SafeData the residual part of the Share capital 
contribution that remained within the Group was used to settle DSC’s liabilities as well as for other 
operating purposes of SafeData Group. 

The structure of SafeData Group at the acquisition date (immediately after the acquisition) was as 
follows:

LLC Data Storage Centre held the following interests in: 
► LLC RTK - DC – 100%
► LLC Center Technology Virtualization – 66.44%
► LLC Interaction Network Center – 100%, holding interests in the following entities: 

► SC Interaction Computer Network Center “MCK-IХ” – 51%
► LLC Advanced Network Technology – 50.1%

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of SafeData Group as at the date of 
acquisition were:

SafeData 
Group

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:
 Property, plant and equipment 1,788

Intangible assets 593
Deferred tax assets 12
Other non-current assets 4
Trade and other accounts receivable 218
Cash and cash equivalents 335
Inventories 20
Other current assets 110
Non-current loans and borrowings (36)
Current loans and borrowings (111)
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (1,581)
Deferred tax liabilities (242)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,110
Goodwill arising on acquisition 886
Non-controlling interest 1,469
Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 527

Net cash acquired with the SafeData Group (included in cash flows from investing 
activities) 335

Cash paid (527)
Net cash flow on acquisition (192)

The goodwill of 886 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining 
the assets and activities of SafeData Group with those of the Group. None of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

The fair value of the trade and other accounts receivable amounts to 218, which is approximately 
equal to the gross amounts of corresponding receivables as of the acquisition date. None of the 
trade and other accounts receivable have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual 
amounts can be collected.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest as a proportionate share in the 
recognised amounts of the SafeData Group’s identifiable net assets. The amount of the non-
controlling interest assumes a portion of the cash contribution by the Group to the capital of DSC 
that remained within the SafeData Group as of the acquisition date after the payment of 423 out of 
this contribution to obtain controlling interest in the DSC’s associates. 

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, SafeData Group has contributed 223 to net 
profit from continuing operations of the Group and 1,359 to revenue. If the combination had taken 
place at the beginning of 2015, net profit from continuing operations of the Group would have been 
14,377 and revenue would have been 297,525. In determining these amounts, management has 
assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the 
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

Transaction costs of 40 were expensed and are included in other investing and financial loss in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and are part of operating 
cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

SC Vostoktelecom

On 6 February 2015 a subsidiary of the Company, OJSC RTComm.RU increased its stake in 
SC Vostoktelecom from 25% to 100% by purchasing an additional 75% of shares from 
KDDI Overseas Holdings B.V. and Sojitz Corporation in exchange for cash consideration of 203.

The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method. These consolidated financial 
statements includes the results of SC Vostoktelecom for the ten months period from the acquisition 
date.

The remeasurement to the acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s previously held 25% interest in 
CS Vostoktelecom resulted in a loss of 18 which has been recognised in other investing and 
financial gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
the period ended 31 December 2015.
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of SC Vostoktelecom as at the date of 
acquisition were:

 

SC 
Vostoktelecom

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:
 Property, plant and equipment 162

Intangible assets 35
Deferred tax assets 15
Trade and other accounts receivable 89
Cash and cash equivalents 14
Other current assets 6
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (57)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 264
Goodwill arising on acquisition 6
Acquisition-date fair value of the previously held interest 67
Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 203

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 14
Cash paid (203)

Net cash flow on acquisition (189)

The goodwill of 6 comprises the value of expected synergies and other benefits from combining the 
assets and activities of SC Vostoktelecom with those of the Group. None of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, SC Vostoktelecom has contributed 17 to
decrease of net profit from continuing operations of the Group and 502 to increase of revenue. If 
the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2015, net profit from continuing operations of 
the Group would have been 14,367 and revenue would have been 297,449. In determining these 
amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of 
acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.

Transaction costs of 1 were expensed and included in other investing and financial loss in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and are part of operating 
cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

CJSC Globalstar – Space Telecommunications

In 2013 Arbitration Court of Moscow initiated a bankruptcy administration and established an 
external management over CJSC Globalstar-Space Telecommunications (hereinafter 
CJSC Global-Tel) as part of its bankruptcy procedures. As a result the Group has lost control over 
CJSC Global-Tel from 1 July 2013 and deconsolidated CJSC Global-Tel. 

During the bankruptcy procedure over CJSC Global-Tel on 16 January 2015 the Arbitration Court 
of Moscow approved the Settlement agreement dated 14 November 2014 between CJSC Global-
Tel (Debtor) and bankruptcy creditors whose claims were included in the register of creditors of 
CJSC Global-Tel.
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

According to the Settlement agreement the obligations of CJSC Global-Tel to the Company were 
ceased at 27 January 2015 by the debtor’s issuance of the promissory note maturing on demand 
but not earlier than 30 November 2021 with the principal amount 1,042.9 and interest rate 13% per 
annum. 

Also on 27 January 2015, the Company purchased two promissory notes for 108 from 
Loral Space & Communications Inc. with the total principal amount 2,501.2, which were received 
by Loral Space & Communications Inc. from CJSC Global-Tel as repayment obligations under 
the Settlement agreement on the case A40-27560/2012.

On 16 February 2015 the decision of the Arbitration court of Moscow to approve the Settlement 
agreement went into force that stopped the external management procedure over CJSC Global-Tel.
As a result, the Group regained a control over CJSC Global-Tel. These consolidated financial 
statements includes results of CJSC Global-Tel for ten months period from 1 March 2015. 

The amount for which the Company purchased two promissory notes from Loral Space & 
Communications Inc. is treated as cash consideration paid for acquisition of CJSC Global-Tel since 
this payment effectively settled the dispute between CJSC Global-Tel and its creditors and 
resolved the bankruptcy claim. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of CJSC Global-Tel as at the date of 
acquisition were:

 

CJSC 
Global-Tel

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:
 Property, plant and equipment 3

Intangible assets 4
Cash and cash equivalents 60
Inventories 70
Deferred tax liability (7)
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (464)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value (334)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 442

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 108

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 60
Cash paid (108)

Net cash flow on acquisition (48)

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to the expected synergies from the acquisition. 
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, CJSC Global-Tel has contributed 40 to net 
profit from continuing operations of the Group and 163 of revenue. If the combination had taken 
place at the beginning of 2015, net profit from continuing operations of the Group would have been 
14,374 and revenue would have been 297,393. In determining these amounts, management has 
assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the 
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2015.
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

FreshTel Group

In April 2015 the Company obtained control over FreshTel Group, which includes 100% stakes in 
LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa, for a cash consideration of 210 from 
Comenetti Investments Limited. Cash consideration was equally divided and 100% share in each 
LLC was acquired for 52.5.

FreshTel Group provides services to over 14,000 subscribers in more than 38 Russian towns. It 
has a large frequency resource to provide wireless internet access in the 3.4GHz and 3.5GHz 
bands via WiMax technology.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial 
statements includes results of LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and LLC Stolitsa for eight 
months period from 1 May 2015.

The agreements for acquisition of 100 % share in LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress and 
LLC Stolitsa includes the special condition which determines that cash consideration will be paid 
only after the restructuring of the debt payable to Vnesheconombank, by each of the acquired 
company. The restructuring of the debt was completed in February 2016 (Note 37).

As a result of acquisition the Group obtained the right to use the favourable terms of credit line to
be available from Vnesheconombank. The right to use the favourable terms of credit line is 
recognised as other current asset in consolidated statement of financial position.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination as at the 
date of acquisition were:

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of FreshTel Group:
 Property, plant and equipment 246

Intangible assets 379
Deferred tax assets 71
Trade and other accounts receivable 34
Cash and cash equivalents 4
Current investments 9
Inventories 31
Other current assets 61
Loans and borrowings (1,739)
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (485)
Deferred tax liabilities (7)
Total identifiable net assets of FreshTel Group at fair value (1,396)
Fair value of rights to use the favourable terms of credit line 1,330
Deferred tax liability (266)
Goodwill arising on acquisition 542

Purchase consideration to be transferred 210

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 4
Cash paid –

Net cash flow on acquisition 4
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition. None 
of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2015, LLC Interproekt, LLC Orion, LLC Progress 
and LLC Stolitsa has contributed 842 to decrease of net profit from continuing operations of the 
Group and 31 to increase of revenue. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of 2015, 
net profit from continuing operations of the Group would have been 13,479 and revenue would 
have been 297,382. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value 
adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had 
occurred on 1 January 2015.

IQmen – Business Intelligence

On 1 December 2015 the Group acquired control over IQmen – Business Intelligence, a Russian 
Big Data platform developer. The Group acquired 75% stake in IQmen – Business Intelligence.

This acquisition is in line with Rostelecom’s strategy to enter new digital segments, including the 
fast-growing Big Data market.

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method. Present consolidated financial 
statements include results of IQmen – Business Intelligence for one month from 1 December 2015.

Provisional amounts of fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of IQmen – Business 
Intelligence as at the date of acquisition were:

 

IQmen –
Business 

Intelligence
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:

 Property, plant and equipment 1
Intangible assets 231
Trade and other accounts receivable 13
Cash and cash equivalents 53
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (21)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 277
Goodwill arising on acquisition 317

Non-controlling interest 69

Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 525

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 53
Cash paid (525)

Net cash flow on acquisition (472)

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition. None 
of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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6. Business combinations (continued) 

2015 transactions (continued) 

StartTelecom

On 18 August 2015 the Group completed an acquisition of telecommunication business of 
OJSC Start Telecom (“Start Telecom”) in Saransk and Dzershinsk cities. The deal was structured 
as acquisition of integrated set of telecommunication assets and activities including the respective 
telecommunication networks and customer lists assignments for a total consideration of 217. 

The respective customers of Start Telecom were offered to sign service contracts with the 
Company by 1 December 2015, whereas the Company agreed to accept all rights and obligations 
of Start Telecom to the customers accepting the offer. Settlements with the customers that did not 
accept the offer, as well as between Start Telecom and the Company, were completed by 
1 December 2015. 

The acquisition has been accounted using the acquisition method.

The following table represents fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities as of the acquisition 
date:

 
StartTelecom

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities:
 Property, plant and equipment 112

Intangible assets 105
Cash 8
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses (8)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 217
Purchase consideration transferred (paid in cash) 217

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) 8
Cash paid (217)

Net cash flow on acquisition (209)
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Property, plant and equipment7.

The net book value of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was as 
follows:

Buildings 
and site 
services

Cable and 
transmission 

devices Other
Construction 
in progress Total

Cost / deemed cost
At 1 January 2014* 118,813 497,731 105,060 33,407 755,011
Additions 183 1,437 2,419 49,098 53,137
Assets revaluation of acquired subsidiaries (5) 23 6 – 24
Reclassification from investment

property and assets held for sale 522 – 44 – 566
Reclassification to assets held for sale (1,069) 14 (338) (1,516) (2,909)
Reclassification to intangible assets – (31) (464) (488) (983)
Transfer 3,566 44,246 8,360 (56,172) –
Disposals (915) (10,526) (3,353) (1,235) (16,029)
Foreign exchange 1 469 30 48 548
Reclassification (16,986) 11,347 5,659 (13) 7
At 31 December 2014 104,110 544,710 117,423 23,129 789,372
At 1 January 2015 104,110 544,710 117,423 23,129 789,372
Additions 104 4,689 1,920 54,302 61,015
Assets of acquired subsidiaries 328 1,621 199 164 2,312
Reclassification from investment

property and assets held for sale 290 – – – 290
Reclassification to assets held for sale (3,499) (7) (394) (42) (3,942)
Transfer 2,913 37,192 6,541 (46,646) –
Disposals (1,356) (8,182) (4,024) (846) (14,408)
Foreign exchange 1 421 21 45 488
Other changes** 1,060 1,060
Reclassification (1,815) 2,024 (337) (4) (132)
At 31 December 2015 101,076 582,468 121,349 31,162 836,055

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2014* (65,735) (274,879) (78,297) (1,041) (419,952)
Depreciation expense (3,274) (38,858) (9,632) – (51,764)
Reclassification from investment property 

and assets held for sale (348) – (43) – (391)
Reclassification to assets held for sale 557 321 252 – 1,130
Accruals of impairment losses (23) (240) (24) (260) (547)
Disposals 528 6,615 3,283 99 10,525
Foreign exchange – (91) (9) – (100)
Reclassification 9,400 (4,994) (4,410) (3) (7)
At 31 December 2014 (58,895) (312,126) (88,880) (1,205) (461,106)
At 1 January 2015 (58,895) (312,126) (88,880) (1,205) (461,106)
Depreciation expense (3,032) (38,737) (9,924) – (51,693)
Reclassification from investment property 

and assets held for sale (163) – – – (163)
Reclassification to assets held for sale 2,541 6 373 42 2,962
Accruals of impairment losses (73) (289) (50) (122) (534)
Disposals 901 7,917 3,995 374 13,187
Foreign exchange – (129) (12) – (141)
Reclassification 417 (435) 151 (1) 132
At 31 December 2015 (58,304) (343,793) (94,347) (912) (497,356)

Net book value
At 31 December 2014 45,215 232,584 28,543 21,924 328,266

At 31 December 2015 42,772 238,675 27,002 30,250 338,699
* Includes reclassification between groups of Property, Plant and Equipment as at 1 January 2014. There is no net 

impact on the statement of financial position.
** Includes reclassification of inventories used for construction.

Back to p. 160, 161, 162
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7. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

On 6 August 2014 assets of mobile business were transferred to T2 RTK Holding for completion 
the second stage of the deal to create a new national mobile operator (refer to Note 10 and 36).

At 31 December 2015 and 2014 cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment was 
224,238 and 196,082 respectively.

Interest capitalization

Interest amounting to 1,809 and 1,126 was capitalized in property, plant and equipment for the 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively. The capitalization rate used to determine 
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was 8.87% and 8.25% for the years ended 
31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively.

Pledged property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of 42 and 427 was pledged under the loan 
agreements entered into by the Group as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the Group conducted impairment testing of its property, plant, 
equipment, to identify possible irrecoverability of the assets. The Group assessed the recoverable 
amount of the assets for which estimation on individual basis is impossible within respective CGU. 
The Group defines CGUs as regional branches (in case of Rostelecom), legal entities or group of 
legal entities (in case of subsidiaries). 

In 2014-2013 as a result of reorganization a number of legal entities were merged with the 
Company which caused the change in composition of CGUs. Assets including goodwill previously 
allocated to legal entities were reallocated to regional branches to which former entities have been 
merged. 

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by estimating its value in use. Value in use 
calculation uses cash-flow projections based on actual and budgeted financial information 
approved by management and discount rate which reflects time value of money and risks 
associated with each individual CGU. Key assumptions used by management for the reporting 
dates in the calculation of value in use are as follows: 
► discount rates are estimated in real terms as the weighted average cost of capital on pre tax 

basis. Nominal rates for discounting varies from 15.26% to 20.79% per CGU;
► OIBDA margin is based on historical actual results and varies from 8.05% to 65.09% per 

CGU;
► for CGU cash flow projections cover the period of five years, cash flows beyond five-year 

period are extrapolated using growth rate of 2% for each CGU.

Future cash flows were adjusted using consistent assumptions about price increases attributable to 
general inflation.

For individual items of construction in progress for which the Group has no intention to complete 
and use or sell them the impairment loss was recognised in the amount of their carrying value.
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7. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (continued) 

2015 impairment testing 

As a result of impairment testing of property, plant and equipment the Group recognized an 
impairment loss of 90 related to Sotovaya Svyaz Bashkortostana.

2014 impairment testing 

As a result of impairment testing no loss in respect of property, plant and equipment was recognised.

Goodwill and other intangible assets8.

The net book value of goodwill and other intangible assets as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was 
as follows:

Goodwill
Number
capacity

Trade-
marks

Computer 
software

Customer 
list Licences Other Total

Cost 
At 1 January 2014 25,368 1,085 773 39,622 15,050 671 5,168 87,737
Additions – – 6 5,253 – 368 225 5,852
Intangible assets of acquired 

subsidiaries – – – – 6 – – 6
Disposals (268) (357) (72) (1,955) (100) (493) (752) (3,997)
Reclassification to assets held for sale 

of mobile business (216) – – (4,004) – (100) – (4,320)
Reclassification to PPE – – – 983 – – – 983
Reclassification – – – 89 11 95 (195) –
Foreign exchange 322 – – 17 9 17 7 372
At 31 December 2014 25,206 728 707 40,005 14,976 558 4,453 86,633
At 1 January 2015 25,206 728 707 40,005 14,976 558 4,453 86,633
Additions – 5,494 – 588 951 7,033
Intangible assets of acquired 

subsidiaries 2,193 – 9 274 681 382 1 3,540
Disposals – (4) (749) (45) (310) (6) (1,114)
Reclassification – (18) (40) (7) (62) 127 –
Foreign exchange 119 – 16 6 14 4 159
At 31 December 2015 27,518 728 694 45,000 15,611 1,170 5,530 96,251

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2014 (1,914) (376) (606) (13,776) (3,483) (410) (2,826) (23,391)
Amortization expense – (3) (56) (4,735) (1,361) (333) (457) (6,945)
Disposals – 356 49 1,911 95 361 549 3,321
Impairment losses (1,307) – – (114) – (1) – (1,422)
Reversal of impairment losses – – – 86 – – – 86
Reclassification to assets held for sale 

of mobile business 6 – – 114 – 26 – 146
Reclassification – – (17) (28) (3) 69 (21) –
Foreign exchange – – – (2) (1) (4) (1) (8)
At 31 December 2014 (3,215) (23) (630) (16,544) (4,753) (292) (2,756) (28,213)
At 1 January 2015 (3,215) (23) (630) (16,544) (4,753) (292) (2,756) (28,213)
Amortization expense – – (55) (5,238) (1,188) (479) (771) (7,731)
Disposals – – 4 694 45 309 6 1,058
Impairment losses – – (638) – – – (638)
Reversal of impairment losses – – 38 – – – 38
Reclassification – – 11 (174) 339 44 (220) –
Foreign exchange – – – (3) (1) (5) (1) (10)
At 31 December 2015 (3,215) (23) (670) (21,865) (5,558) (423) (3,742) (35,496)

Net book value 
At 31 December 2014 21,991 705 77 23,461 10,223 266 1,697 58,420
At 31 December 2015 24,303 705 24 23,135 10,053 747 1,788 60,755

Back to p. 160, 161, 162
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8. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 

Interest amounting to 245 and 161 was capitalized in intangible assets for the years ended 
31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively.

Amortization expense includes the effect of revising customer list useful life as at 1 October 2015 
amounting to 65.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and goodwill

The owned number capacities with a carrying amount of 705 (2014: 706) are intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives and are not amortized. These assets have no legal restrictions on the term of 
their use and the Group can derive economic benefits from their use indefinitely. These assets are 
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if there is an indication that the intangible assets 
may be impaired.

No research and development expenditure was recognized in 2015 and 2014.

The Group, on an annual basis, performs testing for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite lives.

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of goodwill allocated to CGUs that 
were acquired upon business combinations. 

Carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are represented in the 
table below:

CGU

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Goodwill 

Intangible assets 
with indefinite 

useful lives Goodwill 

Intangible assets 
with indefinite 

useful lives
MRF Center* 11,696 228 11,696 228
MRF Severo-Zapad* 4,197 12 4,197 12
MRF Volga 1,785 – 1,785 –
Macomnet 646 50 646 50
MRF Dalniy Vostok 973 – 973 –
MRF Ural 637 – 637 –
Globus Telecom – 359 – 359
GNC Alfa 606 – 487 –
RTComm.RU 606 – 606 –
Severen telecom 432 – 432 –
MRF Sibir 182 – 182 –
SafeData Group 885 – – –
Global-Tel 442 – – –
FreshTel Group 542 – – –
IQ’Men 317 – – –
Other 357 56 350 57

Total 24,303 705 21,991 706
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8. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and goodwill (continued) 

Key assumptions used by management in impairment testing are as follows (disclosed only for 
material CGUs):
► discount rates are estimated in real terms as the weighted average cost of capital on pre tax 

basis is 18.96%;
► OIBDA margin is based on historical actual results and are 36.20% for MRF Center and

37.80% for MRF Severo-Zapad;
► Cash flow projections cover the period of five years, cash flows beyond five-year period are 

extrapolated using growth rate of 2%.

Future cash flows were adjusted using consistent assumptions about price increases attributable to 
general inflation. 

2015 impairment testing

As at 31 December 2015 no impairment loss in respect of goodwill were recognised.

2014 impairment testing

As a result of impairment testing of goodwill the Group recognized an impairment loss of 1,300
related to: Globus Telecom of 277, GNC Alfa of 459 and Macomnet of 564.

Impairment loss was recognized in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Discount rate and operating income before amortization and depreciation (OIBDA) margin are the 
key assumptions to which calculations of value in use of CGUs with goodwill and indefinite useful 
life intangible assets allocated to are the most sensitive. Management approach to OIBDA
projection is based on historical actual results and growth rate forecasts.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity analysis for impairment and the effect of a reasonably 
possible change in key assumptions as at 31 December 2015:

CGU

Decrease 
of OIBDA 
margin

Impairment 
loss

Decrease in
OIBDA margin 
which resulted 
in equality of 
recoverable 
and carrying 

amount
MTs NTT 5% (97) 4.46%
Tsentralny Telegraph 5% (71) 4.64%
Search Website Sputnik 5% (14) 4.85%
GlobusTelecom 5% (128) 2.85%

For CGUs listed above no possible change in discount rate would result in impairment.
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8. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 

Impairment testing of other intangible assets 

At each reporting date the Group performs impairment testing of intangible assets not yet available 
for use and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 

2015 impairment testing

As at 31 December 2015 no material impairment loss in respect of other intangible assets was
recognised.

2014 impairment testing

As at 31 December 2014 no impairment loss in respect of other intangible assets was recognised.

Subsidiaries9.

These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the 
following significant subsidiaries:

Effective share of the Group 
as at 31 December

Subsidiary Main activity 2015 2014
SC MTs NTT Communication services 100% 100%
CJSC Westelcom Leasing of equipment 100% 100%
OJSC Infoteks-Taganrog Telecom Communication services 99.99% 99.99%
CJSC Zebra Telecom Communication services 100% 100%
OJSC RTComm.RU Communication services (internet) 100% 100%
SC RTComm-Sibir Communication services (internet) 100% 100%
LLC RTComm-Volga-Ural Communication services (internet) 51% 51%
LLC RTComm-Ug Communication services (internet) 100% 100%
CJSC Globus-Telecom Communication services 94.92% 94.92%
CJSC Makomnet Communication services 51% 51%
LLC Televisionnaya kompaniya Novy Vybor Radio and TV 100% 100%
SC TKT-stroy R&D services 100% 100%
LLC Mobitel Investment company 100% 100%
SC RT Labs Communication services 100% 100%
CJSC AMT Investment company 100% 100%
LLC Intmashservis Repair services 100% 100%
OJSC Mobiltelecom Communication services 91.75% 91.75%
SC Regionalnie informatsionnie seti R&D services 100% 100%
CJSC NTC Komset R&D services 55.45% 55.45%
LLC Set Stolitsa Maintenance services 100% 100%
CJSC Sankt Peterburgskie taksofoni Communication services 100% 100%
SC Severen-Telecom Communication services 100% 100%
CJSC GNC Alfa Communication services 74.98% 74.98%
PJSC Tsentralny Telegraph Communication services (telegraph) 80% 80%
OJSC Giprosvyaz Engineering design 63.36% 60.00%
OJSC Chukotkasvyazinform Communication services 75.55% 75.55%
PJSC Bashinformsvyaz Communication services 96.33% 70.95%
LLС Bashtelecomservis Communication services 96.33% 70.95%
LLC Bashtelecomleasing Leasing 96.33% 70.95%
LLC Bashlelecominvest Investment company 96.33% 70.95%
OJSC Sotovaya svyaz Bashkortostana Communication services (mobile) 96.33% 70.95%
OJSC Ufimsky zavod promsvyaz Communication equipment manufacturing 96.27% 70.91%
CJSC Rosmedia Communication services 100% 100%
OJSC MMTS-9 Communication services 88.29% 88.29%
OJSC OK Orbita Recreational services 100% 100%
CJSC RPK Svyazist Recreational services 100% 100%
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9. Subsidiaries (continued) 
Effective share of the Group 

as at 31 December
Subsidiary Main activity 2015 2014
Rostelecom International Limited Communication services 100% 100%
LLC Sputnik IT consulting 74.99% 74.99%
OJSC Svyazintek IT consulting 100% 100%
SC Restrim (former CJSC Chita-Online) IT consulting 100% 100%
CJSC Incom Communication services 100% 100%
LLC Rostelecom Roznichnye sistemy Retail services 100% 100%
LLC Rostelecom Integraciya IT consulting 100% 100%
LLC Data Storage Centre Data storage services 50.1% –
LLC RTK - DC Data storage services 50.1% –
LLC Center Technology Virtualization Data storage services 33.29% –
LLC Interaction Network Center Data storage services 50.1% –
SC Interaction Computer Network Center 

“MCK-IХ” Data storage services 25.55% –
LLC Advanced Network Technology Data storage services 25.10% –
SC Vostoktelecom Communication services 100% 25%
CJSC Globaltel (Note 6) Communication services 100% 51%
LLC Search Website Sputnik IT consulting 100% –
LLC Interproekt Communication services 100% –
LLC Orion Communication services 100% –
LLC Progress Communication services 100% –
LLC Stolitsa Communication services 100% –
LLC BUM SP Investment company 80% –
LLC BUM TV Telecommunication services 80% –
LLC Magalyascom Communication services 100% 50%
IQmen – Business Intelligence Data services 75% –
LLC KommIT Capital Communication services 100% 100%

All the above entities have the same reporting date as the Company.

All significant subsidiaries, except for Rostelecom International Limited and GNC Alfa, are 
incorporated in Russia. Rostelecom International Limited is incorporated in Cyprus, GNC Alfa is 
incorporated in Armenia.

During the year 2015 the Group has completed the buyout of the outstanding ordinary shares from 
PJSC Bashinformsvyaz’s shareholders. By 31 December 2015 the Company completed the 
consolidation of 100% Bashinformsvyaz’s ordinary shares. After the buyback the effective share of 
Group in PJSC Bashinformsvyaz is 96.33%.

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling 
interests that are material to the group.

Summarised statements of financial position
SafeData 

Group
CJSC 

Makomnet
As at 31 December 2015

Current assets 660 564
Current liabilities (138) (176)
Total current net assets/(liabilities) 522 388
Non-current assets 2,662 1,402
Nob-current liabilities (274) (218)
Total non-current net assets 2,388 1,184
Net assets 2,910 1,572
NCI 1,619 770

Back to p. 162
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9. Subsidiaries (continued) 

Summarised statements of financial position (continued)
CJSC 

Makomnet
Bashinformsvyaz 

Group
As at 31 December 2014

Current assets 491 5,383
Current liabilities (79) (2,369)
Total current net assets/(liabilities) 412 3,014
Non-current assets 1,511 9,949
Nob-current liabilities (212) (3,109)
Total non-current net assets 1,299 6,840
Net assets 1,711 9,854
NCI 837 2,863

Summarised statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

SafeData 
Group

CJSC 
Makomnet

Year ended 31 December 2015
Revenue 1,640 1,262
Profit before income tax 391 272
Income tax (71) (54)
Total comprehensive income 320 218
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests 223 107
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 73 175

CJSC 
Makomnet

Bashinformsvyaz 
Group

Year ended 31 December 2014
Revenue 1,361 7,642
Profit before income tax 389 1,127
Income tax (82) (346)
Total comprehensive income 307 781
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests 151 254
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 189 71

Summarised cash flows
CJSC 

Makomnet Safedata Group
For the year ended 31 December

2015 2015
Cash generated from operations 527 307
Interest paid – –
Income tax paid (74) (93)
Net cash generated from operating activities 453 214
Net cash used in investing activities (103) (137)
Net cash used in financing activities (310) (101)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 40 (24)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 69 335
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents – 15

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 109 326
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Investments in associates and joint ventures10.

Investments in associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

Name Main activity Type

Voting share 
capital as at 
31 December 

2015,
%

Voting share 
capital as at 
31 December 

2014,
%

2015
Carrying 
amount

2014
Carrying 
amount

LLC T2 RTK Holding Communication 
services JV 45 45 69,320 72,848

SC Tsifrovoe 
televidenie TV services JV 41.29 25.33 3,380 1,319

OJSC KGTS Communication 
services Associate 37.29 37.29 364 342

SC Samara Telecom Communication 
services Associate – 27.78 – 158

SC WestBalt Telecom Communication 
services Associate – 38 – 140

SC Vostoktelecom
(Note 6)

Communication 
services Associate – 25 – 88

LLC IKC Express Communication 
services Associate 37.9 37.9 77 80

Other Various Various Various 1,333 73
Total investments in 

associates and 
joint ventures 74,474 75,048

In November 2015 the Group acquired additional issue of JV SC Tsifrovoe televidenie shares for 
the cash amount of 2,000. As a result of the deal the Group share in SC Tsifrovoe Televidenie 
increased from 25.33% to 41.29%. The determination of fair values of indentifiable assets and 
liabilities of SC Tsifrovoe Televidenie has not been completed as of 31 December 2015.

In December 2014 the Group transferred shares of its subsidiaries NKS Media LLC, NMA CJSC, 
ArtMediaMarkt LLC and 250 cash payment for the 25.33% share in SC Tsifrovoe televidenie. Fair 
value of the Group share in SC Tsifrovoe televidenie was 1,319 after the completion of transaction.

In 2015 the Group received dividends from its investments in equity accounted investees and joint 
ventures in the amount of 5 (2014: 11).

All associated companies and joint ventures are incorporated in Russia.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interest in the associates and the joint 
ventures.

Summarized financial information as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 and for the years then ended 
of associates and joint ventures is presented below:

Aggregate amounts 2015 2014
Assets 215,950 199,467
Liabilities 153,108 128,726
Revenue 99,683 73,388
Net income (7,805) (669)
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10. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

Summarized financial information for substantial associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 
2015 and 2014 and for the years then ended is presented below:

Associate/JV Year
Non-current 

assets
Current 
assets

Non-current 
liabilities

Current 
liabilities Revenue

Net income/
(loss)

OJSC KGTS 2015 947 181 60 91 736 72
2014 842 206 43 88 751 97

LLC IKC Express 2015 9 218 – 24 117 (9)
2014 12 217 – 18 55 (4)

T2 RTK Holding LLC 2015 194,923 12,287 83,043 65,043 94,812 (7,840)
2014* 175,515 15,959 76,623 47,887 71,529 (848)

OJSC Tsifrovoe 
televidenie

2015 2,118 3,235 20 2,554 3,296 248
2014 1,931 1,090 10 1,723 – –

CJSC Samara 
Telecom

2015 – – – – 104 (13)
2014 278 362 23 51 165 12

OJSC WestBalt 
Telecom

2015 – – – – 130 11
2014 125 280 – 38 142 8

SC Vostoktelecom 2015 – – – – – –
2014 285 124 5 55 502 30

* Revenue and net loss of T2 RTK Holding LLC are presented for the period from 1 April to 31 December 2014.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of the 
interest in associates and joint ventures:

Summarised financial information
LLC T2 RTK 

Holding
SC Tsifrovoe 
televidenie OJSC KGTS

LLC IKC 
Express

Net assets at 31 December 2015 59,124 2,779 977 203
Interest in associates and joint ventures, % 45.00 41.29 37.29 37.9
Goodwill 42,714 2,611 – –
Increase in ownership in existing JV effect – (378) – –

Carrying value at 31 December 2015 69,320 3,380 364 77

Fair value of net assets and notinal goodwill of SC Tsifrovoe televidenie is presented in the table 
above based on the provisional amounts.

Investment in T2 RTK Holding LLC

2015 2014
At 1 January 72,848 –
Acquisition – 73,339
Share of loss (3,528) (491)

At 31 December 69,320 72,848

Investment in T2 RTK Holding LLC was recognised as a result of the deal with the mobile operator 
Tele 2 Russia (Note 36). There is no quoted market price available for its shares.

The carrying value of the investment at the acquisition date in 2014 was determined with reference 
to the value of the assets transferred to T2 RTK Holding LLC based on the valuation report of an
independent appraiser. 

Summarised financial information for T2 RTK Holding LLC

Set out below is the summarised financial information for T2 RTK Holding LLC which is accounted 
for using the equity method.
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10. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

Summarised statement of financial position

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Current
Cash and cash equivalents 735 3,637
Other current assets (excluding cash) 11,552 12,322
Total current assets 12,287 15,959
Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 38,282 18,700
Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 26,761 29,187
Total current liabilities 65,043 47,887

Non-current
Assets 194,923 175,515
Financial liabilities 75,488 53,140
Other liabilities 7,555 23,483
Total non-current liabilities 83,043 76,623
Net assets 59,124 66,964

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2015

1 April –
31 December 

2014
Revenue 94,812 71,529
Depreciation and amortisation (21,042) (13,046)
Interest income 147 188
Interest expense (11,595) (5,612)
Pre-tax profit or loss from continuing operations (9,076) (278)
Income tax expense 1,609 (570)
Post-tax profit from continuing operations (7,467) (848)
Other changes in net assets (74) –
Total changes in net assets (7,541) (848)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information to the carrying value of the investment

Summarised financial information 2015 2014
Opening net assets 66,964 67,812
Profit/(loss) for the period (7,766) (848)
Other changes in net assets (74) –
Closing net assets 59,124 66,964
Interest 45% 26,606 30,134
Goodwill 42,714 42,714

Carrying value 69,320 72,848

Certain amounts shown in the disclosures of information related to the Company’s investment in 
T2 RTK Holding for the year 2014 do not correspond to the respective disclosures in the 2014 
financial statements and reflect adjustments made to correct presentation of notional goodwill 
arising from the acquisition of share in T2 RTK Holding in 2014 as well as presentation of the share 
in T2 RTK Holding net assets.
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Other financial assets11.

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Non-current financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 97 84
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 3
Loans and receivables 519 23
Total other non-current financial assets 621 110

Current financial assets
Loans and receivables 5,719 1,934
Total other current financial assets 5,719 1,934
Total other financial assets 6,340 2,044

The Group’s exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks and fair value information related 
to other financial assets is disclosed in Note 33.

Other non-current assets12.

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Non-current advances for investing activities 2,409 4,410
Non-current advances for operating activities 1,236 630
Non-current receivables 4,847 4,355
Other assets 7 –
Less: doubtful debt allowance (258) (121)

Total other non-current assets 8,241 9,274

Inventories13.

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Cable 501 922
Finished goods and goods for resale 2,156 1,646
Spare parts 363 757
Tools and accessories 116 136
Construction materials 70 75
Fuel 110 125
Other inventory 744 1,166

Total inventories 4,060 4,827
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Trade and other accounts receivable14.

Trade and other accounts receivable as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 comprised of the 
following:

Gross,
31 December 

2015
Doubtful debt 

allowance

Net, 
31 December 

2015
Amounts due from customers for operating 

activities 39,066 (5,044) 34,022
Amounts due from customers for non-operating 

activities 8,420 (1,458) 6,962
Amounts due from commissioners and agents 1,000 – 1,000
Amounts due from personnel 145 – 145
Amounts due from lessees for financial lease 378 – 378
Amounts due from other debtors 1,154 (509) 645

Total trade and other accounts receivable 50,163 (7,011) 43,152

Gross,
31 December 

2014
Doubtful debt 

allowance

Net, 
31 December 

2014
Amounts due from customers for operating 

activities 40,336 (5,114) 35,222
Amounts due from customers for non-operating 

activities 9,283 (2,158) 7,125
Amounts due from commissioners and agents 1,330 – 1,330
Amounts due from personnel 141 – 141
Amounts due from lessees for financial lease 666 – 666
Amounts due from other debtors 1,148 (576) 572

Total trade and other accounts receivable 52,904 (7,848) 45,056

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 settlements with customers for operating activities included 
settlements with the following counterparties:

31 December 
2015

31 December
2014

Residential customers 13,833 12,434
Corporate customers 6,274 5,654
Governmental customers (Note 34) 11,306 12,349
Interconnected operators – domestic 5,542 7,039
Interconnected operators – international 2,111 2,860
Less: doubtful debt allowance (5,044) (5,114)
Total accounts receivable due from customers for operating 

activities 34,022 35,222

Based on historic default rates and collection statistics, management believes that trade and other 
receivables are adequately provided.

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, 
advances and other assets for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Balance, beginning of year (8,055) (7,049)
Bad debt expense (882) (2,182)
Accounts receivable written-off 1,577 1,176

Balance, end of year (7,360) (8,055)
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14. Trade and other accounts receivable (continued) 

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 amounts due from other debtors include short-term portion of 
finance lease receivables of 378 and 666 respectively. Long-term portion of finance lease 
receivables of 2,258 and 2,517 as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively is included into 
non-current receivables (refer Note 12).

The finance lease receivables is included the transfer to companies of the group T2 RTK Holding
terrestrial optical fiber cables under finance lease in April 2014. The lease agreement is non-
cancellable for the period from 5 years till 18 years, which differs in each macroregional branches. 
Leasing period equals approximately the remaining useful life of the optical fibers. Effective interest 
rate of the lease is 13% p.a. Lease payments are denominated in Roubles. 

Finance income for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 amounted to 405 and 320
respectively, and is included in other investing and financial gain in these consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income (Note 29).

Future minimum lease payments together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

31 December 2015
Gross 

investments 
in lease

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
Current portion (less than 1 year) 650 377
More than 1 to 5 years 2,460 1,524
Over 5 years 1,136 734

Total 4,246 2,635

31 December 2014
Gross 

investments 
in lease

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
Current portion (less than 1 year) 1,046 666
More than 1 to 5 years 2,498 1,385
Over 5 years 1,724 1,132

Total 5,268 3,183

Cash and cash equivalents15.

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 included cash in banks, cash in-
hand, short-term deposits and bills of exchange with original maturities of less than three months 
as follows:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Cash in bank and in-hand 3,259 16,472
Short-term deposits and promissory notes up to 3 months 3,758 353
Other cash and cash equivalents 148 120

Total cash and cash equivalents 7,165 16,945
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Other current assets16.

31 December
2015

31 December 
2014

Input VAT 1,089 976
Other current assets 1,548 30
Less: doubtful debt allowance (37) (18)

Total other current assets 2,600 988

As of 31 December 2015 other current assets includes fair value of rights to use favourable terms 
of credit line of FreshTel Group in the amount of 1,495. Total result of revaluation from the date of 
acquisition is 165. The gain in the amount of 73 is recorded as Foreign exchange and gain in the 
amount of 92 is recorded as the Other investing and financial gains.

Equity17.

The nominal share capital of the Company recorded on its incorporation has been indexed, to 
account for the effects of hyperinflation from that date through 31 December 2002. The share 
capital of the Company in the Russian statutory accounts at 31 December 2015 amounted to 
6,961,200 nominal (uninflated) RUB (2014: 7,280,089).

The authorized share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015 comprised 5,188,850,705
ordinary shares and 209,565,678 non-redeemable preferred shares (2014: 5,283,140,052 ordinary 
shares and 242,832,000 non-redeemable preferred shares). The par value of both ordinary and 
preferred shares amounted to RUB 0.0025 per share.

In accordance with the decision of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in October 2015
the Group redeemed 94,289,347 ordinary shares and 33,266,322 preferred shares. As a result of 
redeemption of shares the Group's authorized capital at par value has decreased to 6.961.

As at 31 December 2015 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows:

Type of shares
Number of shares 

issued
Total

par value
Carrying

value
Ordinary shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 2,574,914,954 6.437 69
Preferred shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 209,565,147 0.524 24

Total 2,784,480,101 6.961 93

As at 31 December 2014 the issued share capital of the Company was as follows:

Type of shares
Number of shares 

issued
Total

par value
Carrying

value
Ordinary shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 2,669,204,301 6.673 72
Preferred shares, RUB 0.0025 par value 242,831,469 0.607 25

Total 2,912,035,770 7.280 97

Ordinary shares carry voting rights with no guarantee of dividends. Preferred shares have priority 
over ordinary shares in the event of liquidation but carry no voting rights except on resolutions 
regarding liquidation or reorganization, changes to dividend levels of preferred shares, or the 
issuance of additional preferred shares. Such resolutions require two-thirds approval of preferred 
shareholders. The preferred shares have no rights of redemption or conversion.
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17. Equity (continued) 

Owners of preferred shares have the right to participate in and vote on all issues within the 
competence of shareholders’ general meetings following the annual shareholders’ general meeting 
at which a decision not to pay (or to pay partly) dividends on preferred shares has been taken.

In case of liquidation, the residual assets remaining after settlement with creditors, payment of 
preferred dividends and redemption of the par value of preferred shares is distributed among 
preferred and ordinary shareholders proportionately to the number of owned shares.

Accordingly, the preferred shares of the Company are considered participating equity instruments 
for the purpose of earnings per share calculations (refer to Note 32).

Treasury shares

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 total number of treasury shares held by the Group was as 
follows:

Type of shares
31 December 

2015
31 December 

2014
Ordinary shares 485,386,400 554,322,609
Preferred shares 64,529,500 97,771,701

Total 549,915,900 652,094,310

In 2015 total number of ordinary shares realized as an exercise of the options under the 
management motivation program constituted 6,818,718 shares.

During 2015, 2014 the Group purchased 32,171,856 and 95,115,353 ordinary shares, for 2,865 
and 12,301 respectively. During 2014 the Group sold 6,549,901 ordinary treasury shares for 787. 

Dividends

According to the charter of the Company a preferred share carries dividend amounting to the 
higher of 10% of the net income after taxation of the Company as reported in the Russian statutory 
accounts divided by 25% of total number of shares and the dividend paid on one ordinary share.

On 4 December 2015 the Board of Directors approved a new dividend policy of the Company 
according to wich the Company pays dividends as a percentage of Free Cash Flow (hereinafter 
FCF, net cash from operating activities, reduced by the cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets 
and intangible assets, and increased by the proceeds from the sale of fixed assets and intangible 
assets). The payable dividend amount shall not be less than the level recommended by 
Rosimuschestvo for companies with state ownership interest.

In June 2015 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the dividends for the year ended 
31 December 2014 in the amount of 3.34108 roubles per ordinary share (2013: 3.11596 roubles 
per ordinary share) and 4.05003 roubles per preference share (2013: 4.84856 roubles per 
preference share).

Category of shares
Number
of shares

Dividends per 
share, roubles

Total sum of 
dividends, 

mln. roubles
Declared and approved for 2014
Preference shares 209,561,268 4.05003 849
Ordinary shares 2,574,884,900 3.34108 8,603

Total 2,784,446,168 9,452
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17. Equity (continued) 

Dividends (continued) 

Category of shares
Number
of shares

Dividends per 
share, roubles

Total sum of 
dividends, 

mln. roubles
Declared and approved for 2013
Preference shares 209,613,653 4.84856 1,016
Ordinary shares 2,505,859,384 3.11596 7,808

Total 2,715,473,037 8,824

The difference between the dividends declared and the dividends presented in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity is for the account of dividends on treasury shares held by the 
subsidiaries of the Company.

Borrowings18.

Borrowings as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Long-term borrowings
Non-current portion of long-term borrowings
Bank and corporate loans 100,888 112,697
Bonds 25,448 25,000
Promissory notes 9 10
Vendor financing 40 46
Finance lease liabilities 235 104
Interest payable – 14
Restructured customer payments – 1
Total non-current portion of long-term borrowings 126,620 137,872

Current portion of long-term borrowings
Bank and corporate loans 35,141 25,721
Bonds 10,000 12,560
Vendor financing 12 9
Finance lease liabilities 216 71
Restructured customer payments 91 91
Total current portion of long-term borrowings 45,460 38,452
Total long-term borrowings 172,080 176,324

Short-term borrowings
Bank and corporate loans 12,833 12,439
Finance lease liabilities 12 –
Interest payable 1,629 1,251
Total short-term borrowings 14,474 13,690

Current portion of long-term borrowings 45,460 38,452
Total current borrowings 59,934 52,142
Total borrowings 186,554 190,014
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18. Borrowings (continued) 

Management believes that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities approximates their 
carrying amounts except for the following borrowings:

31 December 2015
Fair value Book value Difference

Traded bonds 29,908 30,448 (540)
Bank loans 86,856 92,721 (5,865)

Total 116,764 123,169 (6,405)

The fair value of the Group’s quoted Ruble bonds was determined based on Moscow Exchange 
quotes. The fair value of the Group’s non-quoted bank loans was determined based on Central 
Bank’s interest rate statistics. The market value of the Group’s bank loans and non-traded bonds 
was determined based on the Central Bank rates.

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses19.

Accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses consisted of the following as at 31 December 
2015 and 2014:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Payables for purchases and construction of property, plant and 
equipment 21,049 16,936

Payable to personnel 11,637 10,716
Payable for operating activities 11,985 9,513
Other taxes payable 7,251 7,618
Payable to interconnected operators 2,515 2,813
Payable for purchases of software 2,696 2,449
Dividends payable 238 248
Current provisions 215 127
Other accounts payable 4,682 11,833
Current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 62,268 62,253
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Non-current payables 3,544 50
Non-current provisions 1 110
Non-current accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 3,545 160
Total accounts payable, provisions and accrued expenses 65,813 62,413

Other non-current and current liabilities20.

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following as at 31 December 2015, 2014:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Advances received 3,452 2,094
Government grants 1,172 1,174
Deferred revenue 919 1,692

Total other non-current liabilities 5,543 4,960
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20. Other non-current and current liabilities (continued) 

Other current liabilities consisted of the following as at 31 December 2015 and 2014:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Advances received from operating activities 6,602 7,047
Deferred revenue 667 1,050
Advances received from non-operating activities 448 380
Advances received from various debtors 379 216
Advances received for disposed PPE 170 64
Advances received for disposal of other assets 6 3

Total other current liabilities 8,272 8,760

Employee benefits21.

According to staff agreements, the Group contributes to pension plans and also provides additional 
benefits for its active and retired employees.

Defined contribution plans 

The non-state pension fund NPF Telecom-Soyuz maintains the defined contribution plan of Group. 
In 2015 the Group expensed 45 (2014: 14) in relation to defined contribution plans.

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits

To become eligible for benefits under the plan upon retirement the participant must achieve the 
statutory retirement age, which is currently 55 for women and 60 for men and fulfil certain minimum 
seniority requirements.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group employed 133,831 participants of defined benefit plan (2014: 
151,725) and supported 38,352 pensioners eligible for post-employment benefit (2014: 37,493).

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 net defined benefit plan liability comprised the following: 

2015 2014
Present value of obligations on defined benefit plans 5,028 5,975
Fair value of plan assets (7) (10)

Present value of unfunded obligations 5,021 5,965

Net expenses/gains for the defined benefit plan recognized in 2015 and 2014 were as follows: 

2015 2014
Current service cost 256 446
Interest cost 751 783
Expected return on plan assets (1) (1)
Past service cost (1,448) –
Curtailment effect – (169)

Net (income)/expense for the defined benefit plan (442) 1,059
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21. Employee benefits (continued) 

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits (continued) 

Net income/expense for the defined benefit plan, excluding interest cost and return on plan assets, 
is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the line “Wages, salaries, 
other benefits and payroll taxes”. Return on plan assets and interest cost are recognized 
respectively in “Other investing and finance gain” and “Finance costs” line items of these 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Curtailment effect occurred due to reduction of staff eligible for benefits under the plan in 2014.

The following table summarizes movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations for 
the above plan in 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 1 January 5,975 9,783
Curtailment of liabilities – (169)
Interest cost 751 783
Current service cost 256 446
Past service cost (1,448) –
Benefits paid (916) (1,079)
Remeasurement gains/(losses) in OCI: 410 (3,789)

actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic 
assumptions 290 (290)

actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions 701 (2,405)

Experience adjustments (581) (1,094)

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 5,028 5,975

The following table summarizes movements in the fair value of defined benefit plan assets in 2015
and 2014:

2015 2014
Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 10 9
Expected return on plan assets 1 1
Actuarial losses (2) –
Benefits paid (916) (1,082)
Contributions by the employer 914 1,082

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 7 10

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 the principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the 
amounts for the defined benefit plan were as follows: 

2015 2014
Discount rate 10.00% 13.00%
Future salary increases 8.12% 8.10%
Annuity rate 4.00% 4.00%
Increase in financial support benefits 6.00% 7.00%
Staff turnover 5% for aged 50 

and below; 0% for 
aged above 50

Probability 
distribution 

depends on age 
and gender 

Mortality tables (source of information) 1985/86 2010 with 40% 
adjustment
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21. Employee benefits (continued) 

Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits (continued) 

The sensitivity analyses below are based on a change in a significant assumption, keeping all 
other assumptions constant.

DBO sensitivity analyses Change, %
Discount rate 9% 5%
Real wages growth 3% 0%
Inflation 7% 2%
Mortality 10% less 3%
Disability 10% less 0%
Employee turnover 10% for all ages below 50 (3%)

The Group expects to contribute 864 to its non-state pension funds in 2016 in respect of defined 
benefit plans.

The following net pension liabilities were in consolidated statements of financial position in 2015
and 2014:

2015 2014
Net defined benefit obligations as at 1 January 5,965 9,774
Total defined benefit plan expenses, net (442) 1,062
Contributions by the employer (914) (1,082)
Remeasurement of pension liabilities 412 (3,789)

Net defined benefit obligations as at 31 December 5,021 5,965

Remeasurement of pension liabilities consists of:

2015 2014
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities 410 (3,789)
Actuarial losses on assets 2 –

Remeasurement of pension liabilities 412 (3,789)

Income taxes22.

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as 
follows:

2015 2014
Current income tax expense from continuing operations (4,014) (4,787)
Income tax for the year (4,094) (4,756)
Adjustments of the current income tax for previous years 80 (31)
Current income tax for the year from discontinued operations – (578)
Total current income tax for the year (4,014) (5,365)
Deferred tax expense from continuing operations 1,578 (2,424)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,582 (904)
Changes in unused tax losses (4) (1,520)
Deferred income tax for the year from discontinued operations – (2,158)
Total deferred income tax 1,578 (4,582)
Total income tax expense for the year from continuing operations (2,436) (7,211)
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22. Income taxes (continued) 

A reconciliation of the theoretical tax charge to the actual income tax charge is as follows: 

2015 2014
Profit before tax 16,827 20,393
Statutory income tax rate (20%) 20% 20%
Theoretical tax charge at statutory income tax rate (3,365) (4,079)
Adjustments of the current income tax for previous years 80 (31)
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income 1,326 (1,981)
Tax on intragroup dividend income (204) (123)
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets (273) 37
Effect of dividends tax rate change – (1,034)

Total actual income tax for the year from continuing operations (2,436) (7,211)

Effective tax rate, % 14.48% 35.36%

Effect of dividends tax rate change relates to the Group’s investments in associates asnd joint 
ventures as at 31 December 2014.

Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income comprised the following amounts for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Effect of other employee benefits (172) (288)
Effect of business combination achieved in several stages – (163)
Accrual of impairment loss (18) (260)
Non-hedge derivatives (476) (1,050)
Recalculation of deffered tax from joint venture 2,293 –
Effect of 13% dividend tax rate applied to investments in associates

and JVs (251) (36)
Other (50) (184)

Total non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income 1,326 (1,981)

Other non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income include income connected with 
depreciation of certain property, plant and equipment, promotional and sponsorship expenditures,
travel expenditures in excess of certain statutory allowances, other expenses and value added tax 
accrued on free-of-charge services.
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22. Income taxes (continued) 

The components of net deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014, and 
the respective movements during 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

Balance 
as at

1 January 
2015

Movement during 2015 recognized in

Balance 
as at 

31 December
2015

Aсquisition 
through 
business 
combina-

tions Equity

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Reclassifi-
cation to 

assets held 
for sale of 

mobile
Tax effects of future 

tax deductible 
items

Property, plant and 
equipment 137 16 – – (22) – 131

Intangible assets 9 – – – 26 – 35
Unused tax losses 17 1 – – (4) – 14
Trade and other 

accounts receivable 60 – – – (7) – 53
Inventories 289 – – – 219 – 508
Investments in 

associates and JVs 567 – – – (566) – 1
Employee benefits 1,176 – – 82 (270) – 988
Accounts payable, 

provisions and 
accrued expenses 4,000 – – – 121 – 4,121

Other 455 82 – – (352) – 185
Gross deferred tax 

asset 6,710 99 – 82 (855) – 6,036

Tax effects of future 
taxable items:

Property, plant and 
equipment (29,071) (122) – – (1,725) – (30,918)

Intangible assets (3,082) (98) – – 379 – (2,801)
Investments in 

associates and JVs (3,761) – – – 3,564 – (197)
Accounts payable, 

provisions and 
accrued expenses (23) – – – 21 – (2)

Trade and other 
accounts receivable (1,169) – – – (6) – (1,175)

Inventories (7) – – – 7 – –
Loans and borrowings (258) (7) – – 138 – (127)
Other (186) (296) – – 55 – (427)
Gross deferred tax 

liability (37,557) (523) – – 2,433 – (35,647)
Net deferred tax 

liability (30,847) (424) – 82 1,578 – (29,611)
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22. Income taxes (continued) 

Balance 
as at 

1 January 
2014

Movement during 2014 recognized in

Balance 
as at 

31 December
2014

Acquisition 
through 
business 
combina-

tions Equity

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Profit/(loss) 
for the year

Reclassifi-
cation to 

assets held 
for sale of 

mobile
Tax effects of future 

tax deductible 
items

Property, plant and 
equipment 9 (35) 1 – 137 25 137

Intangible assets 74 – – – (65) – 9
Unused tax losses 1,614 (58) – – (1,520) (19) 17
Trade and other 

accounts receivable 39 (4) – – 56 (31) 60
Inventories 807 – – – (518) – 289
Investments in 

associates and JVs 429 – – – 138 – 567
Employee benefits 1,945 – – (758) (11) – 1,176
Accounts payable, 

provisions and 
accrued expenses 4,451 (2) – – (325) (124) 4,000

Other 474 (9) 3 – (12) (1) 455
Gross deferred tax 

asset 9,842 (108) 4 (758) (2,120) (150) 6,710

Tax effects of future 
taxable items:

Property, plant and 
equipment (30,186) 5 – – (18) 1,128 (29,071)

Intangible assets (3,086) 45 – – (52) 11 (3,082)
Investments in 

associates and JVs (635) 9 – – (3,135) – (3,761)
Accounts payable, 

provisions and 
accrued expenses (18) – – – (5) – (23)

Trade and other 
accounts receivable (1,907) – – – 734 4 (1,169)

Inventories – – – – (7) (7)
Loans and borrowings (274) – – – 16 – (258)
Other (188) – (4) – 6 – (186)
Gross deferred tax 

liability (36,294) 59 (4) – (2,461) 1,143 (37,557)
Net deferred tax 

liability (26,452) (49) – (758) (4,581) 993 (30,847)

Taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred 
tax liabilities were recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2015 and 2014 amounted to 6,501 and 5,298 respectively. Deductible temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax assets were 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2015 and 2014 amounted to 8,337 and 6,205 respectively.

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were recognized in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2015 and 2014
amounted to 653 and 2,019, respectively, of which unused tax losses with expiry date from 2015 to
2022 amounted to 27 and 156 for 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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22. Income taxes (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and deferred 
income tax liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same fiscal authority on the same 
taxable entity.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2015 and 2014 includes tax expense in 
respect of following items of other comprehensive income: 

2015 2014
Actuarial gains and losses (Note 20) 82 (758)

Revenue23.

Revenue comprised the following for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Fixed Telephony 99,105 109,710
Broadband Internet 63,880 60,364
TV services 19,368 15,250
Wholesale Services 79,021 77,895
VAS & Clouds 13,468 11,384
Other telecommunication services* 14,499 16,554
Other non-telecommunication services 8,014 7,780

Total revenue 297,355 298,937

* Revenue from other telecommunication services includes sales of customer-premices equipment 4,164 and 5,110 for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 respectively.

In 2015 and 2014 the Group generated revenue by the following major customer groups:

Customer Groups 2015 2014
Residential customers 134,482 136,345
Corporate customers 54,598 55,696
Governmental customers (Note 34) 50,940 48,804
Interconnected operators 57,335 58,092

Total 297,355 298,937

Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes24.

2015 2014
Salary expenses 67,587 65,862
Share-based remuneration 1,437 1,682
Social taxes 19,042 17,869
(Income) loss from pension plans (1,148) 274
Other personnel costs 4,163 4,242

Total wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes 91,081 89,929
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Materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance25.

2015 2014
Utilities 10,645 10,129
Repairs and maintenance 8,198 9,720
Materials 6,282 5,979
Total materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance 25,125 25,828

Other operating income26.

2015 2014
Reimbursement of losses incurred from universal services fund 13,313 11,148
Fines and penalties 348 343
Reimbursement of other losses incurred 133 234
Gain on disposals of other assets 9 13
Other income 827 1,212

Total other operating income 14,630 12,950

Other operating expenses27.

2015 2014
Rent 6,610 5,289
Agency fees 6,104 5,147
Taxes, other than income tax 5,560 6,107
E-Government contract expenses 4,893 3,619
Advertising expenses 3,860 4,850
Fire and other security services 3,103 3,169
Cost of sales of customer-premices equipment 2,750 4,665
Contributions to universal service fund 2,656 2,674
Transportation and postal services 2,028 2,015
Support and maintenance of software and databases 1,797 1,929
Billing expenses 1,517 1,723
Third party services and expenses related to administration 1,314 1,704
Member fees, charity contribution, payments to labour units 854 791
Audit and consulting fees 585 623
Fines and penalties 175 118
Asset insurance 135 129
Other 4,079 3,001

Total other operating expenses 48,020 47,553

Finance costs28.

2015 2014
Interest expense of defined benefit plans 751 783
Interest expense on bank and corporate loans, bonds, promissory 

notes and vendor financing 15,379 14,674
Interest expense on finance lease liabilities 104 23
Borrowing servicing expense 77 39

Total finance costs 16,311 15,519
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Other investing and financial loss, net 29.
2015 2014

Interest income from finance assets 2,153 1,271
Dividend income 7 12
Income/(expenses) related to subsidiaries’ acquisition (110) 24
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 513
(Loss)/gain on disposal of other financial assets 125 (55)
Loss on change of fair value of financial assets/liabilities through profit 

and loss (2,445) (5,496)
Impairment of financial assets (304) (316)
Other gains/(losses) 140 254

Total other investing and financial loss, net (434) (3,793)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries for 2014 includes gain from disposal of media companies in 
SC Tsifrovoe televidenie (refer to the Note 10) in amount of 212 and deconsolidation of other 
subsidiaries in amount of 298.

Segment information30.

From 1 January 2015 Rostelecom Management Board which is the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”) started to analyse operating results of PJSC Rostelecom by macroregional branches on 
consolidated basis together with subsidiaries allocated to the branches. Consequently, the Group 
has determined its macroregional branches with subsidiaries as operating segments. 

Starting 2015 the Group has ten reportable segments, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. While differentiated geographically, the strategic business units offer mainly the same 
services to the customers. 

Comparative segment information is restated in these consolidated financial statements to conform 
the current year.

Management of the Group assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the 
IFRS data on consolidated basis. A measure of segment profit or loss reported to the management 
of the company is operating income before depreciation, amortization and long-term employee 
motivation program expenses (OIBDA). 

Total assets are not allocated to operating segments and are not analysed by the CODM. 

The tables below illustrate financial information of reportable segment reviewed by management 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and OIBDA for the 
year ended 31 December 2015:

2015
Corp. 

Center
North-
West Center South Volga Ural Sibir Far East Moscow

Other 
opera-

tions and 
reconci-
liation

Total 
seg-

ments
Revenue
Third party 

revenue 33,702 36,369 34,041 28,746 41,265 31,036 32,266 21,003 38,658 269 297,355
Inter-segment 

revenue 13,521 423 76 278 2,412 184 230 392 689 60 18,265

OIBDA (14,740) 17,387 13,618 12,528 17,255 12,685 14,680 9,051 18,343 32 100,839
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30. Segment information (continued)

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment OIBDA to profit before income 
tax for the year ended 31 December 2015: 

OIBDA of reportable segments 100,807
OIBDA of other segments 32
Adjustments
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (60,599)
Share of profit (loss) in equity accounted investees (3,583)
Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (16,745)
Foreign exchange loss, net (1,431)
Share-based remuneration (1,653)
Other adjustments (1)

Profit before income tax 16,827

The following table illustrates information about reportable segment revenue and OIBDA for the 
year ended 31 December 2014:

2014
Corp. 

Center
North-
West Center South Volga Ural Sibir Far East Moscow

Other 
opera-

tions and 
reconci-
liation

Total 
seg-

ments
Revenue
Third party 

revenue 32,106 37,155 35,301 30,152 41,101 33,106 32,199 21,682 35,879 256 298,937
Inter-segment 

revenue 7,412 560 231 409 2,090 930 600 280 1,434 – 13,946

OIBDA (11,943) 17,576 15,473 12,743 18,247 12,773 13,274 8,282 16,078 (36) 102,467

The following table illustrates reconciliation of reportable segment OIBDA to profit before income 
tax for the year ended 31 December 2014: 

OIBDA of reportable segments 102,503
OIBDA of other segments (36)
Adjustments
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (60,623)
Share of profit (loss) in equity accounted investees (517)
Finance costs and other investing and financial gain (19,312)
Foreign exchange loss, net 228
Share-based remuneration (1,850)

Profit before income tax 20,393

Share-based payments 31.

Share-based program started in 2014 (ordinary shares)

In March 2014 the Board of Directors approved the employee motivation program. The program 
established a plan under which the participants were granted a right to purchase at a fixed price 
ordinary shares of the Company using proceeds from the annual bonus, which is paid depending 
on achievement of the KPI’s, based on Free Cash Flow (FCF), net profit and Return on Invested 
Capital (ROIC). 
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31. Share-based payments (continued) 

Share-based program started in 2014 (ordinary shares) (continued) 

The duration of the program is three years, starting from 2014. About 200 individuals are expected 
to take part in the program – senior and middle managers, including directors of regional branches.

The total Target package for all participants of the program consists of ordinary shares equivalent 
to 1.5% of the share capital of the Company. The maximum size of the package depends on 
meeting the KPI requirements and is limited to the 200% of the target shares in the event of a 
significant overperformance of KPI’s. In the event of a significant non-compliance with the KPI’s in 
a particular year, the participants lose the right to receive remuneration under the program for that 
year. 

The rights to purchase shares were granted to participants in 2014 and have gradual vesting for 
the tranches as follows: 30% tranche is vesting by the end of 2014, the second 30% tranche is 
vesting by the end of 2015, the third 40% tranche is vesting by the end of 2016. For participants 
who take part in the program in 2015 gradual vesting for the tranches will be as follows: 40% 
tranche is vesting by the end of 2015 and 60% by the end of 2016.The Target package is subject 
to periodic adjustment to reflect achieved level of KPI’s in each year and to account for the 
anticipated changes of the KPI’s performance for the remaining years of the program. 

Vested and exercised rights under each tranche will be paid to the participant of the program in two 
stages: 50% within a two months period following the announcement of the particular year’s KPI’s 
and 50% within the 12 months thereafter. 

To facilitate the program, the Company established a closed unit shares investment fund 
(RTK-Razvitie) managed by a fund operator VTB-Capital AM. 

Total amounts of 1,653 and 1,850 (including related social and personal income taxes gross-up) 
related to the motivation program were recognized as an expense in wages, salaries, other 
benefits and payroll taxes in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 respectively.

The following table reconciles the share options on ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning 
and end of the year:

2015 2014

Number 
of options

Weighted average 
exercise price, 

RUB
Number 

of options

Weighted average 
exercise price, 

RUB
Balance at beginning of year 33,018,960 90.89 – –
Granted during the period 4,607,936 90.05 33,018,960 90.89
Forfeited during the period (752,109) 87.01 – –
Exercised during the year (6,818,718) 87.11 – –

Balance at end of year 30,056,068 87.42 33,018,960 90.89

During the year ended 31 December 2015 the program participants exercised their rights for
6,818,718 shares. The share prices at the date of exercise were:

Number of shares Exercise price, RUB
6,592,892 87.01

225,826 89.95
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Earnings per share32.

2015 2014
Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the 

Group 13,944 12,895
Profit (loss)from discontinued operations attributable to equity holders of 

the Group – 24,625
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Group 13,944 37,520
  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of 

basic earning per shares 2,253,647,362 2,278,305,337
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation of 

diluted earning per shares 2,283,703,431 2,292,220,390

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations 
attributable to equity holders of the Group during the year, in RUB

Basic earnings per share 6.20 16.47
From continuing operations 6.20 5.66
From discontinued operations – 10.81
Diluted earnings per share 6.11 16.37
From continuing operations 6.11 5.63
From discontinued operations – 10.74

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 
is adjusted for the weighted average number of treasury shares of the Group, which included to
538,840,710 (2014: 539,836,460) ordinary and 90,111,774 (2014: 93,893,973) preferred shares of 
the Company. 

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares used in calculation of basic and diluted 
earnings per shares:

2015 2014
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in calculation 

of basic earning per shares 2,253,647,362 2,278,305,337
Dilutive effect of employee motivation program vested shares 30,056,069 13,915,053
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in 

calculation of diluted earning per shares 2,283,703,431 2,292,220,390
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Financial instruments33.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, investments, 
bank loans, bonds and promissory notes issued and finance leases liabilities. These instruments 
serve to finance the Group’s operations and capital expenditures; its corporate financial 
transactions such as share repurchase and acquisition strategy; place available funds in course of 
cash management. Other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade 
payables arise directly from the Group’s operations. The following table presents the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014:

Classes Categories
31 December 

2015
31 December

2014
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables 7,165 16,945
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables 47,748 49,290
Available-for-sale financial assets at 

cost Available-for-sale 97 84
Loans Loans and receivables 6,238 1,957
Non-hedge derivative Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 5 3

Total financial assets 61,253 68,279

Bank and corporate loans Liabilities at amortized cost 148,862 150,857
Bonds Liabilities at amortized cost 35,448 37,560
Promissory notes Liabilities at amortized cost 9 10
Vendor financing Liabilities at amortized cost 52 55
Finance lease liabilities Liabilities at amortized cost 463 175
Interest payable Liabilities at amortized cost 1,629 1,265
Other borrowings Liabilities at amortized cost 91 92
Trade and other payables Liabilities at amortized cost 54,143 47,870
Non-hedge derivative Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit and loss 3,543 5,975

Total financial liabilities 244,240 243,859

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, current receivables, trade payables, other current 
financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term debt investments, long-term accounts receivable and non-current 
accounts payable correspond to the present values of the payments related to the assets and 
liabilities, taking into account the current interest rate parameters that reflect market-based 
changes to terms and conditions and expectations. Fair value of financial liabilities approximate 
their carrying amount. 

Available for sale investments accounted for at cost include unquoted equity investments whose 
value cannot be measured reliably. Quoted prices are not available for these investments due to 
the absence of an active market. It is also impracticable to derive fair value using the similar 
transaction method. The discounting cash flow method cannot be applied to such investments as 
there are no reliably determinable cash flows related to them.
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 
different levels have been defined as follows:
► Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
► Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)
► Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs)

2015 2014
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Non-hedge derivatives
Level 1 – –
Level 2 5 3
Level 3 – –

Total non-hedge derivatives 5 3

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Non-hedge derivatives
Level 1 – –
Level 2 3,543 5,975
Level 3 – –

Total non-hedge derivatives 3,543 5,975

Management of the Group believes that the fair values of accounts receivable and accounts 
payable shown in the balance sheet approximate their carrying amounts.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the period, 
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements during the twelve-month periods 
ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

In October 2013 the Group entered into agreement with Deutsche bank A.G. London branch and 
RDIF Investment management LLC for the purchase a call option оn 36,093,684 Company’s 
ordinary shares and sale a put option оn 72,187,366 Company’s ordinary shares. These options 
were classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, and included in Level 2 
of the fair value measurement hierarchy (refer to the above tables). Fair values of options were 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expected volatility is based on the 
historical average Company’s ordinary share price volatility.

The table below summarizes the most significant inputs to the options pricing models:

Data of the model 2015 2014
Grant date share price, USD 3.2842 3.2842
Exercise price, USD 3.2842 3.3934
Expected volatility 33.53% 36.59%
Remaining option life, years 1.92 0.94
Dividend yield 3.6% 3.0%
Risk-free interest rate 14.4% 14.3%
Fair value as at 31 December 2015 (asset/(liability)) (3,543) (5,975)

In August 2015 the Group extended agreement with Deutsche bank A.G. London branch to 
1 December 2017.

In October 2015 the Group finalized settlement with RDIF Investment management LLC in two 
stages: at the first stage the Group acquired 32,082,543 of the Company’s ordinary shares in the 
amount of 2,853 (the transfer of ownership was completed on 30 September 2015), during the 
second stage the Group made an additional payment in line with the option agreement in the 
amount of 73,332 thousand US dollars (4,812 at the US dollars to RUB exchange rate as of date of
payment).

During the year ended 31 December 2015 the Group recognised a net loss in the amount of 2,380 
due to the changes of fair value of the options in Other investing and financial (loss)/gain (year 
ended 31 December 2014: 5,097).
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

(a) Credit risk

Each class of financial assets represented in the Group’s statement of financial position to some 
extent is exposed to credit risk. Management develops and implements policies and procedures 
aiming to minimize the exposure and impact on the Group’s financial position in case of risk 
realization.

Financial instruments that could expose the Group to concentrations of credit risk are mainly trade 
and other receivables. The credit risk associated with these assets is limited due to the Group’s 
large customer base and on-going procedures to monitor the credit worthiness of customers and 
other debtors.

The Group’s accounts receivable are represented by receivables from the Government and other 
public organizations, businesses and individuals each of them bearing different credit risk. 
Collection of receivables from the Government and other public organizations is mainly influenced 
by political and economic factors and not always under full control of the Group. However, 
management undertakes all possible efforts to minimize the exposure to risk of receivable from this 
category of clients. In particular, creditworthiness of such subscribers is assessed based on 
financing limits set by the Government. Management believes there were no significant unprovided 
losses relating to these or other receivables as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

To reduce risk of exposure on receivables from businesses and individuals the Group implements 
a range of procedures. Credit risk is determined based on a summary of probabilities of 
occurrences and possible impact of events negatively influencing the customer’s ability to 
discharge its obligation. A credit rating is attributed to a customer on initial stage of cooperation 
and, then, reassessed periodically based on credit history. As a part of its credit risk management 
policy, the Group arranges preventive procedures which are represented by but not limited to 
advance payments, request for collaterals and banks and third parties guarantees. For collection of 
receivables, which are past due, the Group takes a variety of actions from suspension of rendering 
of services to taking legal action.

According to the financial policy of the Group, the Group deposits excess cash available with 
several largest Russian banks (with high credit ratings) . To manage the credit risk related to 
deposit of cash available with banks, management of the Group implements procedures to 
periodically assess the creditworthiness of the banks. To facilitate this assessment, deposits are 
mainly placed with banks where the Group has already had comparable credit obligations, current 
settlement account and can easily monitor activity of such banks.

Maximum exposures to credit risk are limited to the net carrying amounts of respective financial 
assets, except for guarantee (see Note 33 (e)). 
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds by preparing and monitoring compliance with
cash flow budgets. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding 
and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, bonds, etc. Cash flow budgets 
consider the maturity of both cash inflows and outflows from the Group’s operations. Based on 
projected cash flows the decision is taken on either investment of free cash or attracting financing 
required. Realization of liquidity risk management policy provides the Group with sufficient cash to 
discharge its obligation on a timely basis. Financing was provided within the Group introducing the 
need for certain companies to raise financing from the Group parent company (PJSC Rostelecom) 
via cash-pooling.

Issued guarantees are disclosed in Note 33(e).

Maturity analysis as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 represented below shows undiscounted cash 
flows, including estimated interest payments: 

2016 2017 2018 2019
2020

and later Total
31 December 2015
Bank and corporate loans 61,225 49,260 42,758 4,719 32,618 190,580
Bonds 13,487 19,346 7,619 – – 40,452
Promissory notes 11 – – – 9 20
Vendor financing 12 11 10 9 10 52
Finance lease liabilities 254 47 48 42 364 755
Other borrowings and hedge 

derivatives 94 – – – – 94
Trade and other payables and

non-hedge derivatives 50,599 3,544 1 – – 54,144

Total financial liabilities 125,682 72,208 50,436 4,770 33,001 286,097

2015 2016 2017 2018
2019

and later Total
31 December 2014
Bank and corporate loans 51,583 45,956 45,958 34,661 6,096 184,254
Bonds 18,603 11,396 1,230 15,081 – 46,310
Promissory notes 5 11 – – 9 25
Vendor financing 9 9 9 9 19 55
Finance lease liabilities 84 19 18 18 183 322
Other borrowings and hedge 

derivatives 92 1 – – – 93
Trade and other payables 47,870 – 1 – 1 47,872

Total financial liabilities 118,246 57,392 47,216 49,769 6,308 278,931

(c) Market risks

Significant market risk exposures are interest rate risk, exchange rate risk and other price risk. 
Exposure to other price risk arises from available for sale investments quoted on active markets. 
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Market risks (continued) 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk mainly relates to floating rate debt primary denominated in US dollars, Russian 
roubles and euros and financial instruments denominated in Russian roubles. Other borrowings do 
not materially influence the exposure to interest risk.

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 16,039 18,902
Financial liabilities (152,777) (178,890)

(136,738) (159,988)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 5 3
Financial liabilities (37,321) (17,100)

(37,316) (17,097)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments as fair value through profit or 
loss. 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The tables below demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

2015
MosPrime (+6%) (528)
MosPrime (-5%) 440
Federal loan bonds rate (+1%) 121
Federal loan bonds rate (-1%) (124)
CB rate (+1%) (1,542)
CB rate (-1%) 1,542

2014
MosPrime (+1%) (51)
MosPrime (-1%) 51
Federal loan bonds rate (+1%) 111
Federal loan bonds rate (-1%) (111)
CB refinancing (+1%) (1)
CB refinancing (-1%) 1
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Market risks (continued) 

Foreign exchange risk 

Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in exchange rates will adversely affect the Group’s cash 
flows. As a result, these fluctuations in exchange rates will be reflected in respective items of the 
Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and/or 
statement of cash flows. The Group is exposed to currency risk in relation to its assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, mostly from accounts receivable and payable from 
operations with international telecom operators, accounts payable for equipment, borrowings 
issued in foreign currencies. The Group does not have formal procedures to reduce its currency 
risks.

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group presented by currency as at 31 December 2015 and 
2014 were as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
USD EUR USD EUR

Cash and cash equivalents 739 236 487 192
Trade receivables 1,321 857 2,343 835
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 5 – 3 –
Bank and corporate loans (2,851) – (1,056) (20)
Trade and other payables and 

non-hedge derivatives (12,134) (167) (8,184) (245)

Net exposure (12,920) 926 (6,407) 762

The tables below demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, 
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax:

31 December 2015
USD EUR

Strengthening of the currency (USD+40%, EUR+43%) (6,342) 398
Weakening of the currency (USD-13%, EUR-15%) 2,041 (139)

31 December 2014
USD EUR

Strengthening of the currency (+20%) (2,476) 152
Weakening of the currency (-20%) 2,416 (152)

The analysis was applied to monetary items denominated in relevant currencies at the reporting 
date.

Other price risk

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s assets include investments in quoted securities subject to 
other price risk. To mitigate this risk, the Group regularly analyses market securities trends and 
makes a decision to sell a security, when necessary.
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33. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Market risks (continued) 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in market indexes 
for securities, with all other variables held constant, of the Group in terms of the result of fair value 
revaluation recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Increase/decrease 
in percentage 

point

Effect on 
revaluation result 

recognized in 
profit or loss

2015
MICEX + 30.0% 813
MICEX - 30.0% (881)
2014
MICEX + 30.0% 1,685
MICEX - 30.0% (1,804)

(d) Capital management policy 

Capital management policy of the companies comprising the Group is primarily focused on 
increasing credit ratings, improving financial independence and liquidity ratios, improving the 
structure of payables, and reducing cost of borrowings. Among the main methods of capital 
management are profit maximization, investment program management, sale of assets to reduce 
debt, debt portfolio management and restructuring, use of different classes of borrowings. In 
addition, the companies of the Group are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, which 
are used for capital monitoring. There were no changes in the objectives, policies and processes of 
capital management during 2014-2015.

The Boards of directors of the companies comprising the Group review their performance and 
establish a variety of key performance indicators which are based on Russian statutory accounts. 
The companies comprising the Group monitor and manage their debt using financial independence 
ratio and net debt/equity, net debt/OIBDA ratios.

(e) Guarantee

The Group guaranteed repayment of debts of Infrastruktunie investitsii-4 LLC at the amount of 
13,822 to its creditors. The Group received a loan from the company to finance elimination of 
digital divide.

Commitments and contingencies34.

(a) Legal proceedings

The Group is subject to a number of proceedings arising in the course of the normal conduct of its 
business (refer to (b) below). Management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters 
will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial position of the 
Group.
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34. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

(b) Taxation

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes 
occurring frequently. Further, the interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to the 
transactions and activity of the Group may not coincide with that of management. As a result, tax 
authorities may challenge transactions and the Group may be assessed additional taxes, penalties 
and interest, which can be significant. The Group’s tax returns are open for review by the tax and 
customs authorities with respect to tax liabilities for three calendar years preceding the year in 
which the decision on the conduct of the tax audit was adopted. Under certain circumstances, 
reviews may cover longer periods.

New transfer pricing legislation enacted in the Russian Federation starting from 1 January 2012 
provides for major modifications making local transfer pricing rules closer to OECD guidelines, but 
creating additional uncertainty in practical application of tax legislation in certain circumstances.

The new transfer pricing rules introduce an obligation for the taxpayers to prepare transfer pricing 
documentation with respect to controlled transactions and prescribe new basis and mechanisms 
for accruing additional taxes and interest in case prices in the controlled transactions differ from the 
market level. The new transfer pricing rules eliminated the 20-percent price safe harbour that 
existed under the previous transfer pricing rules applicable to transactions on or prior to 
31 December 2011.

The new transfer pricing rules primarily apply to cross-border transactions between related parties, 
as well as to certain cross-border transactions between independent parties, as determined under 
the Russian Tax Code. In addition, the rules apply to in-country transactions between related 
parties if the accumulated annual volume of the transactions between the same parties exceeds a 
particular threshold (RUB 2 billion in 2013, and RUB 1 billion in 2014 and thereon).

Since there is no practice of applying the new transfer pricing rules by the tax authorities and 
courts, it is difficult to predict the effect of the new transfer pricing rules on these consolidated 
financial statements.

Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that it is 
probable that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained upon examination. 
Management of the Group believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities in the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2015 and 2014. However, the 
general risk remains that relevant authorities could take different position with regard to 
interpretative issues and the effect could be significant.

(c) Licenses

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues are derived from operations conducted pursuant to 
licenses granted by the Russian Government. These licenses expire in various years from 2016 up
to 2022.

The Group has renewed all other licenses on a regular basis in the past, and believes that it will be 
able to renew licenses without additional cost in the normal course of business. Suspension or 
termination of the Group's main licenses or any failure to renew any or all of these main licenses 
could have a material adverse effect on the financial position and operations of the Group.
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34. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

(d) Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2015, contractual commitments of the Group for the acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment amounted to 18,254 (2014: 31,114).

(e) Operating leases

As at 31 December 2015, all lease contracts are legally cancellable. However, the Group was 
involved in a number of operating lease agreements for land, on which the Group constructed 
certain leasehold improvements. Since March 2015 the Group was involved in operating leasing 
agreement of office accomodations “Rumyantsevo” for 15 years, under which the Group should 
pay significant penalty for breaking agreement. 

Thus, it is reasonably certain that these leases would not be cancelled. Future minimum lease 
payments under these operating leases as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

As lessee
Current portion 998 228
Between one to five years 3,954 311
Over five years 9,959 1,180

Total minimum rental payables 14,911 1,719

Related party transactions35.

(a) The Government as a shareholder

As indicated in Note 1, the Government of the Russian Federation controls the Company by
indirect holding of 53% of the Company’s ordinary shares through Vnesheconombank and Federal 
Agency of State properties management. It is a matter of the Government policy to retain a
controlling stake in sectors of the economy, such as telecommunications, that it views as strategic.

(b) Interest of the Government in the telecommunications sector in the Russian 
Federation and the protection of that interest

Effective telecommunications and data transmission are of great importance to Russia for various 
reasons, including economic, social, strategic and national security considerations. The 
Government has exercised and may be expected to exercise significant influence over the 
operations of the telecommunications sector and consequently, the Group. The Government, 
acting through the Federal Tariff Service and the Federal Telecommunications Agency, has the 
general authority to regulate certain tariffs. In addition to the regulation of tariffs, the 
telecommunication legislation requires the Group and other operators to make certain revenue-
based payments to the Universal service fund, which is controlled by the Federal 
Telecommunications Agency. Moreover, the Ministry of Telecom and Mass Communications of the 
Russian Federation has control over the licensing of providers of telecommunications services.
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

(c) Associates and joint ventures

On 1 April 2014 the Group obtained significant influence over T2 RTK Holding as a result of the 
reorganization. Transactions with companies of T2 RTK Holding were as follows:

2015

Nine-month 
period ended
31 December 

2014
Revenue 8,830 9,293
Interest income 341 389
Purchase of telecommunication services (3,786) (2,203)
Purchase of other services (445) (2,301)

The amounts of receivables and payables due from companies of T2 RTK Holding were as follows:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Accounts receivable 4,375 6,953
Allowance for doubtful receivables (267) (293)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (428) (898)
Loans and borrowings (90) (9)

The Group is also involved in various telecommunication services with entities in which it has 
investments, including associates over which it exerts significant influence. A summary of these 
transactions is as follows:

2015 2014
Revenue 230 173
Interest income 51 1
Purchase of telecommunication services (254) (113)
Purchase of other services (95) (57)

The amounts of receivables and payables due from these entities were as follows:

2015 2014
Accounts receivable 126 150
Financial assets 248 1,566
Allowance for doubtful receivables (2) (13)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (7) (33)
Loans and borrowings – (3)

(d) Non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz”

The Group has centralized pension agreements with a non-state pension fund “Telecom-Soyuz” 
(refer to Note 21). In addition to the state pension, the Company provides the employees with a 
non-state pension and other employee benefits through defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans. 

The total amount of contributions to non-state pension fund paid by the Group in 2015 amounted to 
959 (2014: 1,096). 
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

(e) Transactions with other government-related entities

In January 2009, PJSC Rostelecom in partnership with mobile operator PJSC Megafon won a 
tender for sponsorship of the ХХII Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter Paralympic Games 
2014 in Sochi in a category “Telecommunications”. According to the agreement with the 
Organisation committee of ХХII Winter Olympic Games and the XI Winter Paralympic Games 2014
in Sochi the sponsorship contribution amounts to USD 260 million and should be contributed by 
each sponsor in the amount of USD 130 million. Half of this amount shall be paid in cash and the 
other half shall be contributed in free services. In return, each partner will obtain exclusive rights to 
use the Olympic logo in its advertising and other activity. There is a joint responsibility of the Group 
and Megafon in respect of non-cash contributions. The total charge of sponsorship contribution to 
profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to 310 (2014: 1,321).

The Group considers this transaction as a transaction with a related party because the Group 
treats the Organisation committee as a government-related entity. The reason for this is that the 
federal government was one of the founders of the Organisation committee and government 
executives are on the Oversight Board of this Organisation.

Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation № 453- dated 21 March 2011 
PJSC Rostelecom appointed sole executor of works as part of the state program of the Russian 
Federation “Information Society 2011-2018”. PJSC Rostelecom shall provide the following tasks:
a) Creation of a common infrastructure to support the decisions of state tasks, ensuring the 

provision of services for various branches of the public sector.
b) Create a national platform of distributed computing to provide solutions as services to 

federal, regional and municipal authorities.
This task the operator has already performed a significant amount by implementing standard 
solutions for e-government in the regions under Saas. Services based on cloud computing 
will enjoy both government agencies and commercial customers.

c) The development of institutions of electronic signature in Russia. The system of certification 
centers create a common space of trust, in which every citizen of Russia will be able to 
obtain an electronic signature and electronic signature can be identified in any region of 
Russia.

During 2015 the Group received revenue of individually essential project concluded with the 
Ministry of Communications and Mass Communications of the Russian Federation, under the 
contract to operate the infrastructure of e-government in the amount of 1,831 (2014: 1,750). For 
other individually immaterial contracts Group's revenue in 2015 amounted to 5,052 (2014: 3,804).

Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation № 437-r dated 26 March 2014 at 
PJSC Rostelecom has the responsibility for the provision of universal communication services 
starting from 1 April 2014. In May of 2014 between the Federal Communications Agency and 
PJSC Rostelecom signed a contract for the provision of universal communication services for 
10 years and the total amount of financial support RUB 163 billion.
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

(e) Transactions with other government-related entities (continued) 

In accordance with federal law On communication PJSC Rostelecom as a single universal service 
provider for the entire territory of the Russian Federation shell ensure the functioning of:
a) telephone services using payphones, multifunction devices, information kiosks (informants) 

and similar devices;
b) data services and provide access to the “Internet” information and telecommunication 

network using multiple access means;
c) before the end of 2018 it is planned to provide data services and provide access to the 

“Internet” information and telecommunications network with access points.

The total volume of income in respect of losses from universal telecommunication services in 2015 
amounted to: 13,316 (2014: 11,148).

Between PJSC Rostelecom and FSUE Mail of Russia signed agency agreements to ensure the 
provision of universal communication services – data services and provide access to information 
and telecommunication network Internet using multiple access without the use of user equipment. 
FSUE Mail of Russia is a budgetary organization, associated with the state, operations of which 
are individually significant for disclosure purposes. For 2015 the cost of agency contracts 
amounted to 2,113. During 2014 expenses amounted to 763.

The Group received loans from government-related banks PJSC Sberbank, PJSC Bank VTB, 
PJSC Sviaz-bank, PJSC Vnesheconombank, PJSC Russian regional development bank,
JSC Gazprombank and others. The outstanding balances from these banks amounted to 132,817
as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 133,719). Interest rate of these loans veries from 
7.6% to 15.8%. During year ended 31 December 2015 the Group obtained loans from these banks 
in amount of 404,282 (2014: 327,069), acquisition through business combinations amounted to 
2,265 (2014: nil), made repayments in amount of 418,831 (2014: 367,377). Interest expense 
accrued on those loans during year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to 11,383 (2014: 12,297).

In 2014, the Company received a loan from the state-related special project company, 
implementing investment project “Bridging the Digital Divide in the sparsely populated areas of 
Russia” LLC Infrastructure investment-4 for 4 years, the balance on 31 December 2015: 8,910 
(31 December 2014: 10,129), during year ended 31 December 2015 the Group obtained loans in 
amount of nil (2014: 10,125), made repayments in amount of 2,717 (2014: nil). Interest expense 
accrued on those loans during year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to 1,498 (2014: 4).

The Group has collectively but not individually significant transactions with other government-related 
entities including but not limited to providing telecommunication services, consuming services having 
both production and miscellaneous nature, depositing and borrowing money. All these transactions 
are carried out in the course of normal day-to-day business operations on the terms comparable to 
those with other entities which are not government-related. The financial result of these operations 
with the governmental customers is presented in Notes 14 and 23. Management assesses these 
transactions as individually insignificant, except government-related banking deposits.

The amount of funds placed on deposits with government-related banks for the year ended 
31 December 2015 is 13,866 (2014: 411) with related income recognised in profit and loss of 1,094 
(2014: 26) and amounts repaid back to the Company’s account of 9,345 (2014: 561).

The amount of of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents kept on the accounts opened with the 
government-related banks on 31 December 2015 is 5,896 (31 December 2014: 15,964).
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35. Related party transactions (continued) 

(f) Remuneration of key management personnel 

The key management personnel for the purpose of these consolidated financial statements 
comprises Management Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-Presidents.

Remuneration to the key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted 
to 747. Remuneration includes salaries, bonuses, payments for participation in the work of 
management bodies and other short-term benefits. 

Short-term benefits accrued to the key management personnel for the year ended 31 December 
2014 amounted to 872.

The remuneration amounts are stated exclusive of social taxes.

Also in 2014 the Company introduced a long-term motivation programme for executives and senior 
employees of the Company. The amount of employee benefits expense related to the programme 
and attributed to the Management Board’s members, the Board of Directors’ members and Vice-
Presidents for the year ended 31 December 2015 is 341 (2014: 875).

In 2015 the Group made a contribution of 4 to the non-state pension fund (2014: nil ) for its key 
management personnel. The plans provide for payment of retirement benefits starting date 
employee complies with terms of acting non-state pension program.

Held for sale assets and liabilities and discontinued operations36.

On 1 April 2014, the Company completed the first stage of the deal with mobile operator Tele 2
Russia to create a new national mobile operator. At the first stage the Company contributed its 
standalone mobile subsidiaries and the Company’s mobile fixed assets into the share capital of 
T2 RTK Holding. At the end of the first stage, the Group received a 26% voting interest in T2 RTK 
Holding. On 6 August 2014 the Company completed the second and final stage of the deal by 
spinning-off of its integrated mobile assets into its then subsidiary RT-Mobile and reassigning to is 
of certain of the Company’s licenses followed by the contribution of RT-Mobile to the capital of 
T2 RTK Holding. As a result at completion the Company increased its interest in T2 RTK Holding 
up to 45%. As a result of the transaction completion during 2014, the last-named operations were 
discontinued by the Group and the related assets and liabilities are not included in the statement of 
financial positions as of 31 December 2014.

The following table illustrates information on assets and liabilities held for sale for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and 2014.

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,351 579

Total assets held for sale 1,351 579
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36. Held for sale assets and liabilities and discontinued operations (continued) 

The following table illustrates information about consolidated statement of profit ot loss of
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Year ended 31 December 2014
Discontinued 

operations
Intragroup 

transactions Total
Revenue 16,450 (4,470) 11,980
Operating expenses
Wages, salaries, other benefits and payroll taxes (1,763) – (1,763)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (12) – (12)
Interconnection charges (6,513) 3,387 (3,126)
Materials, utilities, repairs and maintenance (757) 3 (754)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (23) – (23)
Doubtful debt allowance (176) – (176)
Other operating income 71 – 71
Other operating expenses (4,380) 1,080 (3,300)
Total operating expenses, net (13,553) 4,470 (9,083)
Operating profit 2,897 – 2,897
Finance costs (776) 573 (203)
Other investing and financial gains 32,258 (7,546) 24,712
Foreign exchange loss, net (45) – (45)
Profit before income tax 34,334 (6,973) 27,361
Income tax expense (2,736) – (2,736)

Profit for the year 31,598 (6,973) 24,625

The following table illustrates information about cash flows attributable to the operating, investing, 
and financing activities of discontinued operations for the years ended 31 December 2014.

2014
Operating cash flow 3,482
Investing cash flow (1,222)
Financing cash flow (1,462)
Total cash flows 798

Subsequent events37.

New loan agreement with Sberbank PJSC

In January-February 2016, the Group attract funds under the loan agreement with the 
PJSC “Sberbank” in the amount of RUB 10.0 billion. Non-revolving credit line granted for a period 
of 2 years. At the same time on other long-term loan agreements with PJSC “Sberbank” the Group
was repaid principal debt totaling RUB 11 billion. 

PJSC Rostelecom additional investments in “BUM” LLC

In January 2016 Company paid an additional contribution to share capital of Big Universal Mall LLC
(“BUM” LLC) in the amount of RUB 577.5. Share of PJSC Rostelecom in the “BUM” LLC has not 
changed and is 60% of its share capital.

Back to p. 160, 161, 162
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37. Subsequent events (continued) 

New loan agreement with Vnesheconombank

In February 2016, the Company entered into credit line facility agreement with Vnesheconombank, 
for the amount of RUB 5.2 billion and a maturity of 10 years for the implementation of capital 
investments.

Restructurisation of FreshTel’s loan agreement

In February 2016 FreshTel Group restructured its debt before Vnesheconombank by signing a
supplementary agreement (Note 6).

Glossary

Appendix 2

ARPU (average revenue per user) is average revenue 
per one user per month.

B2C (business-to-consumer) is commercial relationship 
between an organization and a private ‘end’ user.

B2B (business-to-business) is commercial relationship 
between an organization and other enterprises.

B2G (business-to-government) is commercial 
relationship between an organization and authorities and 
other state institutions.

B2O (business-to-operator) is commercial relationship 
between telecom operators.

CAGR is a compound annual growth rate.

CDN (content delivery network) is a content delivery 
network representing geographically distributed network 
infrastructure that enables serving and distributing 
content to end users on the Internet.

CRM (customer relationship management) is a system 
of client relations management representing application 
software to raise the level of sales, optimize marketing 
and improve client services through storing the 
information about clients and the history of relations with 
them, establishing and improving business processes and 
further analysis of results.

DDoS attack (distributed denial of service) is a hacker 
attack on a computer system in order to cause its failure: 
an attacked machine receives multiple requests, which it 
is not able to process.

DWDM (dense wavelength-division multiplexing) is 
a technology of dense wavelength-division multiplexing 
that enables to transmit a large number of channels via 
optical fibre.

FCF (free cash flow) is calculated based on cash flow 
statement as net cash provided by operating activities 
less CAPEX, plus proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets (according to IFRS).

FTTB (fibre to the building) is a technology of building 
the access network, when optical fibre cable is laid up to 
the building.

3G (third generation) means the technologies of mobile 
communication of the 3rd generation, which
combine both high-speed mobile access with Internet 
services, and the technology of radio communication, 
which creates a data transfer channel.

4G (fourth generation) means mobile communication of 
the 4th generation that enable data transfer with a speed 
exceeding 100 Mb/s and 1 Gb/s to mobile and fixed-line 
subscribers, respectively.

GPON (gigabit passive optical network) is a technology 
of passive optical networks providing a broadband access 
to the Internet at a speed up to 1 Gb/s.

IP/MPLS (multiprotocol label switching) is a technology 
of fast packet switching in multiprotocol networks while 
using labels.

IPTV (Internet Protocol Television) is a technology of 
digital television in data transfer networks using the IP 
protocol, i.e. delivery of TV channels to the viewer via the 
Internet (interactive television).

IaaS (Infrastructure as a Service) is a possibility to use 
cloud infrastructure for independent control of processing 
and storage resources, networks and other fundamental 
computer resources (for instance, a user can install and 
start random software, which can comprise operating 
systems, platform and application software).

PaaS (Platform as a Service) is a model to provide 
cloud computing, when a user is granted an access to 
use of the information technological platforms: operating 
systems, database management systems, connectivity 
software, design and test tools available from the cloud 
provider.

SaaS (Software as a Service) is one of forms of cloud 
computing, a service model, when subscribers are 
provided with ready application software fully served by 
the provider.

M&A (mergers and acquisitions) means transactions of 
companies’ merger or acquisition.

NFV (network functions virtualization) is a concept of 
network architecture offering usage of the technology 
of virtualization of network points’ functions as integral 
components, which can be connected together or linked 
into a chain to create telecommunication services.
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Full Company name
Public Joint Stock Company Long-Distance and 
International Telecommunications ‘Rostelecom’

Abbreviated Company name
PJSC Rostelecom

Number and date of issue of the state registration 
certificate
First state registration: certificate № 021.833 dated 23 
September 1993.
Legal entity registration: certificate of entering the legal 
entity (registered before 01 July 2002) in the Unified State 
Register of Legal Entities (OGRN (Primary State registration
Number) 1027700198767) series 77 № 004891969 dated 
09 September 2002.

Location
The Russian Federation, 19100215, Saint Petersburg, ul. 
Dostoevskogo, 15

Mailing address
The Russian Federation, 115127, Moscow, ul. Goncharnaya, 30

Core business
OKVED (Russian National Classifier of Economic Activities) 
64.20: telecommunications

Contact phone numbers
Head Office: 8 800 200-00-33 (toll free); 
+7 (499) 999-82-83; +7 (499) 999-82-22 (fax)

Hot line for shareholders: 8 800 100-16- 66 (toll free)

Internet website
www.rt.ru – description of products and services
www.rostelecom.ru – information disclosure

Company’s Profile
Inclusion in the list of strategic joint stock companies
Rostelecom is not included in the List of strategic joint stock 
companies approved by the Decree of the President of the 
Russian Federation № 1009 dated 4 August 2004, but the
Company is a business entity of strategic importance for 
national defence and state security as it conducts activities 
specified in clauses 11-14, 37 b), Article 6 of the Federal 
Law dated 29 April 2008:

• activities of developing, manufacturing of encryption 
(cryptographic) means, information systems and 
telecommunication systems protected with the help of 
encryption (cryptographic) means subject to licensing 
pursuant to legislation of the Russian Federation;

• activities of distributing encryption (cryptographic) 
means subject to licensing pursuant to legislation of the 
Russian Federation;

• activities of maintaining of encryption (cryptographic) 
means subject to licensing pursuant to legislation of the 
Russian Federation;

• provision of services in the area of information encryption;
• conducting activities by a business entity included in the 

register provided by Article 23 of the Federal Law ‘On 
Protection of Competition’ and prevailing in the territory 
pf fine and more members of the Russian Federation in 
the fixed-line telephony.

Appendix 3

OIBDA (operating income before depreciation and 
amortization) is operating income before depreciation 
and amortization.

OTN (optical transport network) is equipment of a 
transport network providing multiplexing, switching
and backing up of optical channels.

OTT (over the top) is delivery of video signal from a 
content provider to the user’s device via data transfer 
networks without direct contact with a communication 
operator.

VPN (virtual private network) is a technology that 
enables providing one or several network connection 
(a logical network) over another network (e.g. the 
Internet).

SDH (synchronous digital hierarchy) is a system of data 
transfer based on synchronizing time of a transmitter 
and a receiver.

SDN (software-defined network) is a network of data 
transfer, where the level of network control is separated 
from data transfer devices and is programmed.

SLA (service level agreement) is a formal agreement 
between an electronic service client and its provider 
containing service description, rights and obligations of 
the parties and the agreed level of quality of this service.

VAS (value added services) means services with an 
essential added value.

FOCL is a fibre optic communication line.
Web videoconferencing is videoconferencing via any 
browser without the installation of special
equipment and software.

Web audioconferencing is audioconferencing via any 
browser without the installation of special
equipment and software.

Geodata is a spatial database organized in the platform 
of special purpose software that enables storing, 
accumulating and processing (including dimensional 
analysis) all components of spatial data in
the form of logically uniform database.

S&A means subsidiaries and affiliates.

Industrial Internet (IIoT, Industrial Internet of Things) 
is a concept of commuter network of physical items 
(‘things’) equipped with built-in technologies for the 
interaction with each other or with external environment.

KPI means key performance indicators.

IFRS means the international standards of financial 
statements.

"Last mile" is a channel connecting end (client) 
equipment with the provider’s access point
(communication provider).

RAS means the Russian accounting standards.
Broadband Internet Access is a broadband access to the 
information and telecommunication Internet.

USE is Uniform State Exam.

FAS Russia is Federal Antimonopoly Service of the 
Russian Federation.

FTS Russia is Federal Tax Service of the Russian 
Federation.

DPC is a data processing centre.



Annual Report 2015 · Rostelecom PJSC / Appendix

BACK TO CONTENTBACK TO CONTENT
246 247

Branch Address

Moscow Macroregional 
Branch

115127, Moscow, 
ul. Goncharnaya, 30

Central Macroregional 
Branch

123298, Moscow, ul. Tretya
Khoroshevskaya, 17, bld. 1

North-West Macroregional 
Branch 

191186, Saint Petersburg, 
ul. Gorokhovaya, 14/26

Volga Macroregional Branch 603000, Nizhniy Novgorod, 
sq. Gorkogo, Dom Svyazi

South Macroregional 
Branch

350000, Krasnodar, 
ul. Krasnaya, 59

Ural Macroregional Branch 620014, Ekaterinburg, 
ul. Moskovskaya, 11

Siberia Macroregional 
Branch

630099, Novosibirsk, 
ul. Gorkogo, 53

Far East Macroregional 
Branch

690091, Vladivostok, 
ul. Svetlanovskaya, 57

Production and Training 
Centre

143380, Naro-Fomisk 
District, Moscow Region, 
Bekasovo

Representative Off ices

In Geneva 94, Rue de Lausanne, 
1202, Geneva, Switzerland 

Director of Public Relations Department
Kira E. Kiryukhina
Phone: +7 (499) 999-82-83
Fax: +7 (499) 999-82-22
E-mail: pr@rt.ru

Director of Investor Relations Department
Ekaterina N. Ustinova
Phone: +7 (499) 995-97-80
Fax: +7 (499) 999-82-22
E-mail: ir@rt.ru

Corporate Secretary
Ekaterina S. Mironova
Phone: +7 (499) 999-82-83
Fax: +7 (499) 999-82-22
E-mail: ekaterina.mironova@rt.ru

Director of Corporate Governance Department
Pavel A. Nezhutin
Phone: +7 (499) 995-98-40
Fax: +7 (499) 995-97-77
E-mail: rtkm@rt.ru

Additional Appendices to the Annual Report 
are provided in additional materials to the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the 
Company based on results 2015

Additional appendices to the annual report are 
available at the company’s website 
www.rostelecom.ru/ir/agm/events/detail/2015/ 

Appendix 4. Report of compliance with principles and 
recommendations of the Code of Corporate Governance 
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Rostelecom in commercial and non-commercial organizations
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Instructions of the President of the Russian Federation and 
Instructions of the Government of the Russian Federation
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in 2015
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